



Broadband, Equity, Access, and Deployment Program (BEAD)

Initial Proposal, Volume II

Arizona Commerce Authority November 2023

Table of Contents

2.1	Objectives (Requirement 1) 4			
	2.1.1	Objectives	5	
2.2	Local, T	ribal, & Regional Broadband Planning Processes (Requirement 2)	8	
	2.2.1	Alignment with Existing Planning Efforts	8	
2.3	Local C	pordination (Requirement 4)	13	
	2.3.1	Plan for Ongoing Coordination	13	
		2.3.1.1 Supporting Documentation for Local Coordination Tracker Tool	13	
	2.3.2	Federally Recognized Tribal Consultation	22	
		2.3.2.1 Supporting Documentation for Tribal Consultation	22	
2.4	Deployr	nent Subgrantee Selection (Requirement 8)	30	
	2.4.1	Plan for Fair, Open, and Competitive Process	30	
	2.4.2	Prioritization and Scoring Process	38	
		2.4.2.1 Supporting Documentation for Scoring Rubric	38	
	2.4.3	Prioritizing Unserved Service Projects	49	
	2.4.4	Prioritizing Eligible CAIs	50	
	2.4.5	Compliance with EHP and BABA Requirements	50	
	2.4.6	Definition of Eligible Project Areas	50	
	2.4.7	Ensuring Universal Coverage in Subsequent Funding Rounds	51	
	2.4.8	Tribal Government Consent	51	
	2.4.9	Identification of Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold	51	
	2.4.10	Use of Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold	52	
	2.4.11	Ensuring Minimum Financial Capability	53	
		2.4.11.1 Supporting Documentation for BEAD Subgrantee Selection Process	55	
	2.4.12	Ensuring Managerial Capability	55	
	2.4.13	Ensuring Technical Capability	56	
	2.4.14	Ensuring Compliance with Applicable Laws	57	
	2.4.15	Ensuring Operational Capabilities	58	
	2.4.16	Ensuring Ownership	60	
	2.4.17	Disclosure of Other Publicly Funded Projects	60	
2.5	Non-De	ployment Subgrantee Selection (Requirement 9)	62	
	2.5.1	Fair, Open and Competitive Non-Deployment Selection Process	62	
	2.5.2	Ensuring the Priority of Universal Coverage	62	
	2.5.3	Ensuring General Qualifications	63	
2.6	Eligible	Entity Implementation Activities (Requirement 10)	64	
	2.6.1	State Initiatives without Subgrants	64	
2.7	Labor S	tandards and Protection (Requirement 11)	66	
	2.7.1	Prospective Subgrantee Labor Requirements	66	
	2.7.2	Compliance with Federal Labor and Employment Laws	68	
2.8	Workfor	ce Readiness (Requirement 12)	72	
	2.8.1	Objectives for a Skilled and Diverse Workforce	72	
	2.8.2	Objectives for a Skilled and Credentialed Workforce	80	
2.9	MBE/ W	BE/ Labor Surplus Firms Inclusion (Requirement 13)	85	
	2.9.1	Data Tracking Methods for small business, DBE and WBE	85	

	2.9.2	Certification for Affirmative Action	89
2.10	Cost an	d Barrier Reduction (Requirement 14)	91
	2.10.1	Steps for Reducing Costs and Barriers	91
2.11	Climate	Assessment (Requirement 15)	95
	2.11.1	Assessment of Climate Threats and Proposed Mitigation Methods	95
	2.11.2	Supporting Documentation for Climate AssessmentSupporting Documentation for Climate Assessment	104
2.12	Low-Co	st Broadband Service Option (Requirement 16)	105
	2.12.1	Required Subgrantee Low-Cost Broadband Service Option	105
	2.12.2	Certification for Subgrantee Participation in ACP	107
2.13	Middle-0	Class Affordability Plans (Requirement 20)	108
	2.13.1	Plan for Middle-Class Affordability of High-Quality Broadband	108
2.14	Use of 2	20 Percent of Funding (Requirement 17)	111
	2.14.1	Planned Use of 20 Percent of Funding	111
	2.14.2	Initial Proposal Funding Request	113
	2.14.3	Certification to Adherence of BEAD Requirements	113
2.15	Eligible	Entity Regulatory Approach (Requirement 18)	114
	2.15.1	Waiver of Laws for Eligible Entities	114
		2.15.1.1 Supporting Documentation for Applicable Laws	114
2.16	Certifica	tion of Compliance with BEAD Requirements (Requirement 19)	115
	2.16.1	Certification for Intent to Comply with BEAD Program	115
	2.16.2	Certification for Intent to Comply with BEAD Program	115
	2.16.3	Certification for Subgrantee Civil Rights and Non-Discrimination	118
	2.16.4	Certification for Management of Cybersecurity and Supply Chain Risk	119
2.17	Volume	II Public Comment	122
	2.17.1	Public Comment Period Process	122
	2.17.2	Supplemental Materials to the Volume II Submission	122

THIS REPORT WAS PREPARED BY THE ARIZONA COMMERCE AUTHORITY USING FEDERAL FUNDS UNDER AWARD BEAD 03-20-B151 FROM THE NATIONAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND INFORMATION ADMINISTRATION, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE. THE STATEMENTS, FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS ARE THOSE OF THE AUTHOR(S) AND DO NOT NECESSARILY REFLECT THE VIEWS OF THE NTIA OR THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE.

2.1 Objectives (Requirement 1)

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has drafted the following document to meet the requirements for Volume II of the Broadband Equity, Access and Deployment (BEAD) Initial Proposal:

- Requirement 1 Long-term Objectives for Deployment of Broadband
- Requirement 2 Local, Tribal, and Regional Broadband Planning Processes
- Requirement 4 Local Coordination
- Requirement 8 Deployment Subgrantee Selection
- Requirement 9 Non-Deployment Subgrantee Selection
- Requirement 10 Eligible Entity Implementation Activities
- Requirement 11 Labor Standards and Protection
- Requirement 12 Workforce Readiness
- Requirement 13 Minority Business Enterprises / Women's Business Enterprises / Labor Surplus Area Firms Inclusion
- Requirement 14 Cost and Barrier Reduction
- Requirement 15 Climate Assessment
- Requirement 16 Low-Cost Broadband Service Option
- Requirement 20 Middle Class Affordability Plans
- Requirement 17 Use of 20 Percent of Funding
- Requirement 18 Eligible Entity Regulatory Approach
- Requirement 19 Certification of Compliance with BEAD Requirements

This document represents the current draft of Arizona's BEAD Initial Proposal Volume II. The State Broadband Office is sharing this working draft to gather early public input as we further refine our approach to the program. Over the coming weeks, the State Broadband Office will work to improve this draft, taking into account feedback from various stakeholders. Public input is a crucial aspect of developing a successful broadband infrastructure program that meets the needs of Arizona's communities and businesses.

Following a 30-day public comment period, and review and consideration of received comments, the State Broadband Office plans to submit this document to the National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA), in partial fulfillment of the BEAD Initial Proposal Volume II requirements.



The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will incorporate any guidance received from NTIA on this BEAD Initial Proposal Volume II draft to ensure compliance with the BEAD requirements, as enabled by existing provisions.

2.1.1 Objectives

Outline the long-term objectives for deploying broadband; closing the digital divide; addressing access, affordability, equity, and adoption issues; and enhancing economic growth and job creation. Eligible Entities may directly copy objectives included in their Five-Year Action Plans.

In the 21st century, reliable high-speed internet is a necessity for individuals and industry alike including business owners, medical practitioners, first responders, teachers, students, farmers, and consumers. The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the importance of affordable and reliable broadband service and the negative consequences that insufficient access to high-speed internet has on daily life. Communities without access to high-speed broadband services are at a competitive disadvantage and lack of access disproportionately impacts low-income households, unserved and underserved communities, putting them at a greater risk of falling behind.

According to the <u>FCC National Broadband Map</u>¹, approximately 12.2 percent of households in Arizona do not have access to a wireline or licensed fixed wireless connection capable of achieving 100 Megabits per second (Mbps) download and 20 Mbps upload speed (100/20 Mbps). The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office and Governor Hobbs are committed to working diligently to advance the development of broadband infrastructure across the state to provide high-speed, affordable, and reliable broadband services to every resident in Arizona.

Arizona has set a clear vision of delivering dependable and affordable high-speed internet services to every community, along with access to essential digital skills for every resident to fully participate in the digital world.

To achieve this vision, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has established precise objectives in line with the BEAD requirements to guide the implementation of broadband infrastructure development, making the provision of universal coverage to all unserved and underserved areas a top priority. In cases where resources permit, the objective will extend to providing 1 gigabit symmetrical service to eligible community anchor institutions (CAIs) as determined by the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office. The objectives are designed to harness existing infrastructure and programs, effectively maximize the state's investment and enhance access to high-speed internet services. Furthermore, this approach aligns alignment with our Digital Equity Plan.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has established the following objectives for Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment (BEAD) Program deployment.

¹ FCC's Broadband Serviceable Location Fabric (Fabric) dataset from June 2023

Table 1: Objectives

#	Торіс	Objectives
1	Broadband Deployment	 Provide universal connectivity to unserved and underserved areas and ensure high-speed internet access is available to every household, business, eligible CAI, Tribal Nation, and community in Arizona. Identify areas in the state where high-speed internet access does not meet the minimum broadband requirement of 100/20 Mbps. Identify and mitigate obstacles and barriers preventing broadband expansion and adoption. Coordinate with all levels of government and utility providers to streamline permitting and right of way processes. Develop and execute a data driven grant program that invests in new broadband infrastructure to meet minimum broadband standards.
2	Closing the Digital Divide	 Promote digital equity and inclusion through increased digital skills and access to devices for all Arizona residents including Tribal Nations and their members. Collaborate and strengthen partnerships with local and national stakeholders to enhance current and planned digital equity programs. Develop and implement programs to promote digital inclusion and digital skills. Ensure Arizonans have the resources and support necessary to obtain and utilize affordable devices. Create and maintain a publicly available Digital Equity Asset Inventory. Integrate broadband infrastructure investments with healthcare, education, public safety, workforce, and economic development initiatives, both statewide and within tribal lands. Leverage the Statewide Middle-Mile program and other federal and state funded programs to ensure that all residents have access to 100/20 Mbps or higher speed internet. Enhance and coordinate with other investments in social programs, telehealth education, and economic equity and development to increase broadband deployment, affordability and adoption.
3	Addressing Access, Affordability, Equity, or Adoption Issues	 Promote broadband service pricing that is affordable to all Arizonans including Tribal Nations and their members. Encourage internet service providers to offer affordable plans for low-income households and create programs to make broadband services and affordability programs more accessible. Promote programs like the Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) and other programs that offer subsidies that reduce the cost of internet service to low-income households. Encourage competition in the market and provide incentives for service to high cost unserved and underserved locations.

#	Торіс	Objectives
4	Enhancing Economic Growth and Job Creation	Ensure a 21st century ready workforce where Arizonans and Tribal Nation members can succeed in the rapidly evolving job market where the state helps create, grow, and attracts high wage businesses to increase economic development.
		 Utilize the Arizona Commerce Authority's extensive business development expertise and the Office of Economic Opportunity to create workforce development programs focusing on technology to support the new digital economy.
		 Coordinate with Arizona institutions of higher education to develop and enhance programs with K-12, community colleges, universities and technology and vocational schools to provide real world opportunities for students to qualify for technology jobs.
		 Collaborate with agencies and organizations to create and improve programs that provide reskilling and upskilling opportunities for individuals who have been displaced or dislocated from the workforce.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has developed specific sections of the Initial Proposal in compliance with the requirements of the BEAD Program. These specific sections are represented as Volume II and comprise the second of two submissions that will make up Arizona's complete BEAD Initial Proposal to NTIA BEAD Program.

After receiving approval for Volume I and submission of Volume II, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will begin the Challenge Process to determine the eligible unserved and underserved locations and eligible CAIs for BEAD deployment projects. The twovolume submission process enables the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office to maintain an accelerated timeline for the approval and implementation of BEAD Program funds.

The Volume II responds to sixteen of twenty requirements for the Initial Proposal as per the BEAD <u>NOFO</u>. For more information about how the Initial Proposal, as well as other documents under the BEAD Program align with closing the digital divide, additional resources are available at the Arizona Commerce Authority's website: <u>https://www.azcommerce.com/broadband/arizonabroadband-equity-access-deployment-program/</u>.

2.2 Local, Tribal, & Regional Broadband Planning Processes (Requirement 2)

2.2.1 Alignment with Existing Planning Efforts

Identify and outline steps that the Eligible Entity will take to support local, Tribal, and regional broadband planning processes or ongoing efforts to deploy broadband or close the digital divide. In the description, include how the Eligible Entity will coordinate its own planning efforts with the broadband planning processes of local and Tribal Governments, and other local, Tribal, and regional entities. Eligible Entities may directly copy descriptions in their Five-Year Action Plans.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office coordinated across local, Tribal, and regional entities to ensure alignment with current and planned BEAD Program-related activities. Current efforts are described further in Section 2.3.1, and ensured that the office had a clear understanding of local and Tribal processes and priorities for broadband deployment and digital equity work.

Governor Hobbs recently announced the creation of the Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council to support strategic planning for broadband deployment in Arizona. This council includes state agencies, Tribal communities, local governments, labor representatives, industry and business representatives, and higher education institutions. The CEO and President of the Arizona Commerce Authority serves as the Chair of the council, which meets quarterly and divides into working groups that analyze and recommend suggestions for Arizona broadband policy. The working groups, including infrastructure and permitting, mapping, affordability, outreach, digital inclusion, and workforce, will focus on stakeholder engagements and will make recommendations to the Council for Arizona broadband deployment and digital inclusion in Arizona. The State Broadband Office will then present the ideas to stakeholders, including ISPs through the stakeholder meetings and presentations.

Local coordination and mobilization of resources are critical to ensuring that communities throughout the state can fully leverage the opportunity of the BEAD Program. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office, through local government roundtables and a survey of local governments, gathered information about policies, plans, and assets that support BEAD Program development and implementation. The survey asked local governments about priorities and barriers to infrastructure deployment. By engaging with local stakeholders and collecting information, we are working to ensure that the BEAD Program aligns with local needs and priorities.

Between July and October 2023, the Arizona Commerce Authority conducted an online survey of local government agencies across Arizona. The purpose of the survey was to gather insights about the Digital Divide as viewed by local government agencies in Arizona; steps that these agencies are taking to address these issues; and challenges that communities face when trying to improve broadband access, adoption, and usage among their residents.



During this time, 36 unique respondents provided information; of those, 35 respondents completed the survey and one respondent provided partial responses. These data represent all responses as of October 16, 2023.

The information presented in this report was gathered to assist and support the Arizona Commerce Authority's BEAD Program and Digital Equity planning. There are 22 federally recognized tribes across the state of Arizona, and the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office acknowledges and respects each Tribal Nation's sovereignty. The State Broadband Office adheres to the formal tribal consultation policy when interacting with the tribes, as described in Section 2.3.2.

Moreover, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has hosted interagency coordination roundtables amongst its internal and external partners. The State Broadband Office planned a series of workshops with two key partners, the League of Arizona Cities and Towns and the County Supervisors Association to introduce the BEAD Program and conduct policy discussions to inform the BEAD Program development. The State Broadband Office coordinated with the Digital Equity Institute to run community regional listening sessions to collect data to inform the Digital Equity plan.

The stakeholder engagement process for the BEAD Program in Arizona was developed to align with the requirements of the Digital Equity Plan Act and give a voice to communities with the greatest digital needs. The State Broadband Office recognizes the importance of ongoing community feedback to track the impact of execution strategies and planned activities, ensuring that the priorities identified in the plan are achieved. To further this effort, we will be hiring a community engagement and outreach specialist to coordinate with the stakeholder engagement activities.

Overall, the implementation plan for the BEAD Program is comprehensive and considers the unique needs of different regions and communities in Arizona. By leveraging stakeholder engagement and prioritizing key areas of focus, the Arizona Commerce Authority intends maximize the impact of the BEAD Program, ultimately achieving its goal of universal broadband access in a way that also advances digital equity across Arizona. This stakeholder engagement plan will only be possible with the combined efforts of the Arizona Commerce Authority, Governor Hobbs, local and tribal governments, subgrantees, community stakeholders and the NTIA.

The table below provides a comprehensive list of organizations that currently or will play a vital role in the deployment of the BEAD Program and efforts in closing the digital divide in Arizona. These agencies will assist the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office as existing or potential partners.



Table 2: State Broadband Office Partners

Partners	Description of Current or Planned Role in Broadband Deployment and Adoption
Arizona Commerce Authority	 Coordinator and administrator of all broadband infrastructure funding programs in Arizona Key administration stakeholder and Subject Matter Expert (SME) on digital inclusion
Executive Office of the Governor	 Designates the administering entity for program funds for broadband infrastructure development Guides state broadband policy and convenes stakeholders in coordination with ACA via the Governor's Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council Guides BEAD and Digital Equity strategy, engagement and requirements within administration
State Legislative and Federal Congressional Members	 Provide legislative support for regulatory changes Constituent input and services Guide federal policy on broadband and create and fund federal broadband programs
Arizona Corporation Commission – Utilities Division	Provides context on telecom/cable issuesWorks closely with FCC
Arizona Department of Agriculture	Coordinates with and advocates rural communities for development of broadband infrastructure
Arizona Department of Health Services	Engages directly with vulnerable and covered populationsAssists with Digital Equity program coordination
Arizona Department of Education	 Provides expertise in digital skills and training Coordinates with vulnerable populations via local schools Coordinates with the complementary E-rate program
Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT)	 Multimodal transportation agency involved in planning, building, and operating the highway system. ACA collaborates with ADOT to streamline broadband deployment opportunities and its Arizona's Middle Mile program Owns certain broadband assets that can be leveraged for middle mile backbone
Arizona Office of Economic Opportunity	 Assists in ensuring Arizonans have the necessary skills to succeed and meet industry needs
Arizona Department of Housing and Urban Development	 Engages with public housing entities, which are home to many people from Digital Equity Act (DEA) and BEAD covered populations, qualify as CAIs eligible for gigabit symmetric service under BEAD
Arizona Strategic Enterprise Technology (ASET) Office	 Responsible for the statewide IT strategy while also providing capabilities, services, and infrastructure to ensure the continuity of mission-critical and essential systems.

Partners	Description of Current or Planned Role in Broadband Deployment and Adoption
Arizona Department of Environmental Quality	Assists with environmental permitting
Arizona Department of Corrections	 Provides perspective on workforce development
Arizona Attorney General Civil Rights Division	 Provides context and outreach on issues of digital equity and inclusion
Arizona State Historic Preservation Office	 Assists with the identification, evaluation, protection, and enhancement of historic and archeological properties that have significance for local communities and the State of Arizona
Arizona Department of Economic Security	 Assists with promoting digital equity, developing the capacity of communities, and adoption of broadband services Engages directly with vulnerable and covered populations
Arizona Department of Administration (ADOA)	 Assists in creating new broadband sector related jobs Assists with administration and business operations of state government
Arizona State Land Department	 Assists in identifying and managing extensive state lands Assists in facilitation of broadband infrastructure deployment Manages state GIS mapping portal - AZGeo
Arizona Department of Public Safety	 Assists coordination with public safety broadband and telecommunication networks
University of Arizona, Arizona Telemedicine Program	 Fosters the use of broadband for telemedicine
Arizona Board of Regents	Promotes digital learning and skills
(ABOR), State Universities, Community Colleges and LEAs	 Supports broadband demand Serves as anchor tenants for internet exchange points and other backhaul assets
Libraries	 Publicly available resource specializing in providing access to knowledge and information with a grassroots presence throughout the state Provides internet access to area residents Supports digital equity activities
Covered Population Organizations	 Provides the ACA with information and context for addressing the needs of those they represent (i.e., Persons of Color, Indigenous and Native American persons, members of ethnic and religious minorities, women, LGBTQI+, persons adversely affected by persistent poverty or inequality)
Community Anchor Institutions	 Focuses on the needs of the state's many and varied community anchor institutions
Grassroots / Community Organizations	 Engages with residents, businesses, institutions, and NGOs at the local community level throughout the state

Partners	Description of Current or Planned Role in Broadband Deployment and Adoption
	 Provides guidance on local engagement for digital equity planning and how to engage community organizations for implementation
Deployment Supporting Organizations	 Advise on infrastructure planning, development, and implementation by providing insight to barriers and opportunities for coordination to rights-of-way, permitting, pole attachments, and other physical deployment needs of broadband networks Streamlining and coordinating permit processes
Economic Opportunity Supporting Organizations	 Provides guidance to the plan on how the business and economic development communities can leverage new broadband networks to create economic opportunity for Arizona residents and businesses
Tribal Communities	 Provide guidance and input to unique connectivity needs that can be addressed with BEAD Program support
Local Government	 Provides valuable insights into the connectivity needs of Arizona's many and varied communities Assists the Arizona Commerce Authority with broadband map development
Workforce Development Organizations	 Ensures that Arizona has a well-trained workforce (unions, educational entities, trade associations, etc.) that can use information and communications technology to support timely deployment of broadband infrastructure in the short-term and to grow Arizona's economy into the future
Digital Equity Organizations	 Non-profits and civic organizations bringing together partners from across the public, private, and academic sector to work alongside local organizations and school districts to deliver digital equity programs
League of Arizona Cities and Towns	 League of Arizona Cities and Towns is an association of a collective group of cities and towns across Arizona that provides regional leadership over critical policy areas
County Supervisors Association of Arizona	 County Supervisors Association of Arizona provides regional leadership over critical policy areas, including policies necessary to ensure safe communities, protect public health, promote economic development, and plan and manage land use for sustainable development by providing a mechanism to share information and to develop a proactive state and federal policy agenda
Electric Service Providers	 Electric service providers including electric cooperatives that can advance and expand the broadband access to underserved and rural communities in Arizona

2.3 Local Coordination (Requirement 4)

2.3.1 Plan for Ongoing Coordination

Describe the coordination conducted, summarize the impact such impact has on the content of the Initial Proposal, and detail ongoing coordination efforts. Set forth the plan for how the Eligible Entity will fulfil the coordination associated with its Final Proposal.

2.3.1.1 Supporting Documentation for Local Coordination Tracker Tool

Attachment: As a required attachment, submit the Local Coordination Tracker Tool to certify that the Eligible Entity has conducted coordination, including with Tribal Governments, local community organizations, unions and work organizations, and other groups.

The stakeholder engagement process for the BEAD Program in Arizona was developed in alignment with the requirements of the Digital Equity Plan Act. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes the importance of ongoing community feedback to track the impact of implementation strategies and planned activities to ensure that the priorities identified in the plan are achieved.

To ensure that the BEAD and Digital Equity Plans are well-coordinated, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has established regular working sessions and updates between the internal teams and stakeholders assigned to each plan. Additionally, the BEAD and Digital Equity planning teams have collaborated to foster comprehensive stakeholder engagement. This includes:

- Identifying key stakeholders;
- Developing engagement processes;
- Establishing timelines;
- Conducting outreach and communication;
- Hosting roundtable discussions;
- Administering surveys; and
- Sharing information.

These local coordination efforts supported the development of both plans.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes that engaging with stakeholders is not a one-time event but a continuous process. Therefore, stakeholders are encouraged to provide feedback on an ongoing basis to ensure that the BEAD and Digital Equity Plans remain relevant and impactful. By collaborating with stakeholders, we intend to increase access to high-quality broadband services across Arizona and ensure that no community is left behind in the digital age.

The model shown below allowed for robust engagement and provided opportunities for all Arizonans to participate in the planning process.

Figure 1: Local Coordination Framework



The deployment of broadband infrastructure is a multifaceted effort that involves numerous stakeholders. While the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has been designated as the primary entity for broadband in Arizona by the Office of the Governor, it is necessary to involve partners with unique areas of expertise and perspective for the Office to be successful.

Engagement Strategy

By working with a broad network of partners, the Arizona Commerce Authority plans to leverage unique perspectives and expertise to inform its strategy for broadband deployment in Arizona. These partnerships will help enable the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office to identify and address the diverse needs of Arizona communities and ensure that all voices are heard. Through these collaborative efforts, our goal is to create a more digitally inclusive Arizona for all.

A. Geographic Coverage

To gain insights into local organizations' and residents' internet access, affordability, and usage barriers, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office hosted meetings in numerous Arizona communities. Given Arizona's rural nature, with 80 percent of the population residing on

only 20 percent of the land and 64 percent living in one county (Maricopa), many parts of the state have very low population density. The State Broadband Office engaged with urban, suburban, and rural parts of the state and gained an understanding of regional broadband challenges. Furthermore, to integrate local broadband plans into the BEAD planning processes, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office conducted outreach to all local governments, collecting their broadband plans for analysis.

This insight allows Arizona to better address the specific challenges faced by local communities, and to devise tailored strategies that reflect the unique needs of different regions. By leveraging this knowledge, the BEAD Program can ensure that all regions of the state receive the maximum benefit of increased connectivity.

B. Outreach to Diverse Groups

To ensure diverse representation and universal connectivity in the BEAD Program, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is prioritizing community-based organizations' involvement and stakeholder engagement, with policymaker support. The virtual partnership roundtables invited broadband industry representatives, Tribal Nations, local governments, unions, CIAs, and nonprofits to offer invaluable feedback for the BEAD Program's development. The State Broadband Office has been holding sector roundtables since May 2023, fostering open dialogue and gathering input from key stakeholder groups, including voluntary broadband and telecom industry participants, Tribal Nations, and local government representatives.

- Arizona Broadband Workshops the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office partnered with the US Department of Commerce's NTIA, the US Department of Agriculture (USDA), and Economic Development Administration (EDA) to hold webinars for city officials, economic developers, and business leaders to provide updates regarding on-going broadband programs and initiatives. The objective was to create a roadmap for planning broadband infrastructure projects, including identifying funding opportunities and service providers.
- Industry & Telecom Roundtable to ensure fair competition and equal access while implementing the BEAD Program in Arizona, the State Broadband Office is collaborating with ISPs as external partners. These partners possess critical information required for program success, such as infrastructure costs, customer demand, and network sustainability. Two roundtable meetings were organized by the State Broadband Office and its advisors to engage with the broadband industry and glean insights into their attitudes and concerns regarding the BEAD Program. The first meeting provided policy context and decision point discussions, while the second meeting focused on program feedback. The graphic below displays the key takeaways of the main topics covered in discussion.

Extremely High-Cost Threshold

Key takeaway: Reassurance that more recent data will be used to accurately determine the appropriate threshold

BEAD Subgrantee Selection Scoring Rubric

Key takeaway: The State Broadband Office encourages participants to share their opinion on the future subgrantee scoring rubric to ensure a fair rubric and selection process

Geospatial Competition and Closing the Divide

Key takeaways:

- Suggestion for service providers to be clear to ensure the accuracy of coverage maps by participating in the BEAD challenge process as announced in the Initial Proposal
- Focus on serving unserved and underserved locations first
- Support for a low-cost option and ACP adoption

Middle Mile and Long Haul

Key takeaway: Prioritization for last mile reconfirmed

 Local Government Roundtables – To involve local governments in Arizona, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office launched outreach efforts such as local government surveys and roundtable meetings for county supervisors and municipal leaders. The BEAD County Supervisors Association (CSA) roundtable meetings played a vital role in gathering Arizona stakeholders to tackle the challenges of the BEAD Program. The State Broadband Office also conducted roundtable meetings with the League of Arizona Cities and Towns, whose members are public officials representing over ninety municipalities in Arizona. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office plans to continue gathering input from local governments to inform the development and implementation of the BEAD Program.

C. Engagement with Underrepresented Groups

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes the importance of community input especially from underrepresented groups and is committed to ensuring that all stakeholders have a voice in the BEAD Program development. Arizona strives to achieve

affordability, access, and digital literacy by expanding digital inclusion, enhancing adoption, and conducting comprehensive community engagement efforts to obtain feedback from underrepresented communities about their connectivity requirements. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office understands that stakeholder and community input is necessary for the BEAD Program's success, and it will maintain its engagement efforts throughout the program's planning and implementation phases.

Between June and August 2023, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office organized a series of statewide community forums and listening sessions for the Digital Equity Plan to discuss internet access, technology, and their impact on local communities. These sessions gave local communities an opportunity to discuss BEAD and digital equity priorities, raise concerns, and ask questions. These sessions also provided a platform for collecting feedback and data to guide the development and implementation of the BEAD Program and Digital Equity Plan. By adopting a community-centered approach, the State Broadband Office seeks to ensure that all Arizona residents, regardless of location or background, have equitable access to digital resources.

D. Multiple Awareness & Participatory Mechanisms

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office raised awareness of the BEAD Program by using various channels to disseminate information and solicit feedback. The Arizona Commerce Authority's website served as a hub for community forums, industry roundtables, local government meetings, and online resources such as video recordings of Broadband Workshops. The State Broadband Office will also send regular communications and updates to stakeholders via other communication channels, including social media platforms and local events. Arizonans had multiple channels to provide their feedback via virtual or in-person listening sessions, surveys, public meetings, or the State Broadband Office website.

E. Transparency

Maintaining transparency and communication with the community is a priority in Arizona's Five-Year Action Plan driving BEAD Program planning, spending, and deployment where it's needed the most. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to community engagement, regularly updating its website and sharing monthly call updates with key stakeholder groups, including community organizations, Tribal communities, local governments, and industry partners. The public can comment on the Initial Proposal, Volumes I and II, with feedback incorporated into final planning documents as appropriate.

F. Data Collection Activities

Data collection played a vital role in stakeholder engagement and local coordination for the BEAD Program. In addition to live roundtables, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office launched individual surveys for internet service providers, local governments, community anchor institutions, and residents. These surveys offered detailed and short response options to increase accessibility and participation. The State Broadband Office e-mailed the surveys to partners and stakeholder groups, encouraging active participation by soliciting prompt responses.

• ISP Survey – From May to July 2023, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office conducted a survey of the broadband industry in Arizona, using a confidential and comprehensive list of service providers in the state to elicit responses. Forty unique

respondents provided information, with 24 completing the survey and 16 providing partial responses. A diverse group of ISPs participated, with most serving fewer than 10,000 households in the state.

- Local Government Survey The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office administered the local government survey from June to October 2023 to collect information on local broadband needs, deployment barriers, ways local governments can support BEAD implementation, and infrastructure assets in local communities.
- Community Member Digital Equity Survey The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office offered a digital equity survey available to all Arizonans from May to August 2023 to collect data on internet access, device availability and use, and digital literacy. The survey was translated into multiple languages for accessibility, and the online version was also available in Navajo. Survey results were analyzed by geography and population to understand resources, challenges, and barriers to digital equity statewide, informing the Initial Proposal and Digital Equity Plan.

G. Impact of Local Coordination Efforts

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office's coordination and engagement with stakeholders and partnerships with other state and local agencies, including Tribal Nations, are crucial to achieving BEAD Program goals and advancing digital equity in Arizona. Local coordination efforts shaped the Initial Proposal and other program documents, reflecting Arizonans' perspectives in this essential funding program. Key program details described in the Initial Proposal Volume II were informed by the data collection and stakeholder outreach conducted by the State Broadband Office.

H. Ongoing Coordination Efforts

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office acknowledges the critical role of stakeholder engagement in achieving the BEAD Program goals and intends to continuously gather community feedback to deliver equitable and effective program implementation. The State Broadband Office will continue to maintain connections with stakeholder groups and local communities throughout BEAD Program implementation to aid in broadband-ready community development and effective grant program management.

The planned on-going coordination efforts of the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office include facilitating collaboration between local governments, Tribal Nations and service providers to promote effective broadband network deployment and expansion, investing in broadband workforce training and digital skills training programs in partnership with communities and higher education institutions, promoting investment in digital skills training for maintaining digital infrastructure, and ensuring that municipal, county, and tribal governments can review and advocate for changes to coverage maps to ensure accuracy.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will continue monthly community roundtable conversations to communicate updates, answer questions, and receive feedback from communities and stakeholders. Additionally, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will continue engagement with Tribal Nations, holding monthly roundtable discussions. By building and maintaining relationships with local communities, the Arizona Commerce Authority



State Broadband Office will continue to provide technical assistance and effective implementation of the BEAD Program.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has tracked every engagement meeting since the beginning of the BEAD Program. All stakeholder engagements are summarized in this section.

Table 3: BEAD and Digital Equity Planned Stakeholder Engagement Activities/Timeline

Internet for All Summit				
Frequency: Activity:	stakeholders industry, and as the state p Investment an Connecting a to our econor ways we can			
Statewide In-p	person Outreach	Tour		
Frequency: Activity:	Annual The State Broadband Director and the State Digital Equity Manager will engage with local government officials and community leaders in all 15 counties to gather direct input on the unique challenges facing these individual communities. These engagements are intended to be ongoing each year to ensure collaboration and feedback through the life of the BEAD Program.			
	Quarter 1:	North-East Region – Apache and Navajo County Northern Region – Coconino County		
	Quarter 2:	Eastern Region -Gila County, Graham County, Greenlee County South-East Region – Cochise County and Santa Cruz County		
	Quarter 3:	South-West Region – Pima County and Yuma County Central Region – Maricopa County		
	Quarter 4:	Western Region – La Paz and Mohave County		
Arizona Com	merce Authority	Community Roundtable Conversations		
Frequency: Activity:	Monthly The Arizona Commerce Authority will continue hosting virtual Community Roundtable Conversations bringing together community and non-profit organizations (faith-based, school, library, health, housing, etc.), industry leaders, local governments, and other key stakeholder groups from around the state. The Arizona Commerce Authority will identify specific content around covered populations to strategically engage with community members and organizations to discuss specific goals and objectives towards implementation of the Digital Equity strategy and BEAD Deployment. Dedicated Roundtable for each of the covered populations Dedicated Roundtable for Tribal members and tribal specific topics ISP Roundtables (include Tribal)			

Governor's Inter	ragency and Comm	unity Broadband Advisory Council
Frequency: Activity:	quarterly meetings ensure universal co communities across	ice in coordination with the State Broadband Office will hold to analyze and recommend strategies to advise the Governor to onnectivity to all household in rural, urban, suburban and tribal s Arizona. These groups will facilitate engagement on state ital inclusion, bringing together experts from the field.
Governor's Inter	ragency and Comm	unity Broadband Advisory Council Working Groups
Frequency: Activity:	 broadband and digi working group mem and contribute to ot Infrastructure and projects and pe Mapping: The negeospatial data Digital Inclusion resources and te Affordability: The more affordable Workforce: This workforce, foster Outreach: The organization 	ups have been established to facilitate engagement on state ital inclusion, bringing together experts from the field. The abers offer their expertise, assist with stakeholder engagement, ther tasks that support the Council's objectives. and Permitting: This group focus on streamlining infrastructure rmitting processes for increased efficiency. apping group is responsible for creating and maintaining to support informed decision-making. This group is committed to ensuring equitable access to digital echnologies for all community members. The affordability group seeks solutions to make essential services and accessible to residents. This group concentrates on strategies to enhance the local ering economic growth and prosperity. Thureach group will promote awareness and participation making engages with the community and stakeholders in our advisory es.
State Agencies	Interagency Coordi	nation Meetings
Frequency: Activity:	Quarterly Coordination of state agencies' activities related to infrastructure development, permitting, digital inclusion, use of broadband for improvement of health and education outcomes, workforce development and cybersecurity.	
Arizona Council	of Governments (C	COGS)
Frequency: Activity:	Annual The State Broadband Director and the State Digital Equity Program Manager will meet with each of Arizona's Council of Governments to provide updates on broadband activities and get feedback from their membership.	
	Quarter 1:	Northern Arizona Council of Governments (NACOG)
	Quarter 2:	Central Arizona Governments (CAG) Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG)
	Quarter 3:	South-Eastern Arizona Council of Government (SEAGO)
	Quarter 4:	Western Council of Governments – (WACOG)
Stakeholder Me	etings	
Frequency: Activity:	As requested	

	 The Arizona Commerce Authority will provide updates to various stakeholder groups. Arizona Broadband Stakeholder Network Arizona Telecommunications & Information Council Southwest Cable Communications Association Maricopa County Broadband Task Force County Supervisors Association League of Arizona Cities and Towns Workforce Arizona Council
Broadband Ne	wsletter
Frequency: Activity:	 Quarterly The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will publish a newsletter and widely distribute it to stakeholders and post it on their website. Update on broadband infrastructure deployment progress Digital Inclusion State and Federal Policy and Legislative updates Success stories Community Spotlight Tribal Corner Calendar of Events
Broadband We	ebsite
Frequency: Activity:	OngoingThe Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will redesign and build a public-facing website that engages and updates stakeholders across sectors on Broadband and Digital inclusion information on their webpage.• Infrastructure Deployment• Digital Equity and Inclusion• Affordability and Availability• Mapping and Data• Publications• Euroding – Awards and Opportunities• Local links to RFPs and Resources• FAQs• Calendar of Events• Contact Us and Feedback
Social Media	
Frequency: Activity:	Ongoing The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will develop a social media strategy and actively utilize various social media platforms to share timely and relevant information about the Broadband Office activities.

Table 4: Planned Tribal Stakeholder Engagement Activities

Regular Communication Channels				
Activity:	The tribal liaison for the Arizona Commerce Authority (Triable Liaison) will establish consistent communication channels such as newsletters, webinars, or regular community meetings to update tribes on progress, setbacks, and other relevant news. This includes any current efforts in the broadband website listed above, making sure that it includes tribal updates.			
Transparent Re	porting			
Activity:	Ensure that tribes have access to transparent reports on budgeting, progress, challenges, and other aspects of the broadband project.			
Capacity Buildi	ng and Training			
Activity:	 The Tribal Liaison will ensure that tribes interested in establishing or enhancing their own ISPs will be provided with: Workshops on the latest technologies, best practices, and sustainability. Training sessions for tribal members to manage and maintain infrastructure. 			
Feedback Mech	Feedback Mechanisms			
Activity:	The Tribal Liaison will create a robust feedback mechanism where tribes can voice concerns, suggest changes, or appreciate what's working. The Tribal Liaison will also conduct regular evaluations and adjustments based on the feedback.			
Cultural Sensitivity Training				
Activity:	For non-tribal stakeholders involved in the project, the Tribal Liaison will provide training on the cultural, historical, and socio-political backgrounds of each tribe to ensure respectful and productive interactions.			

2.3.2 Federally Recognized Tribal Consultation

Describe the formal tribal consultation process conducted with federally recognized Tribes, to the extent that the Eligible Entity encompasses federally recognized Tribes. If the Eligible Entity does not encompass federally recognized Tribes, note "Not applicable."

2.3.2.1 Supporting Documentation for Tribal Consultation

Optional Attachment: As a required attachment only if the Eligible Entity encompasses federally recognized Tribes, provide evidence that a formal tribal consultation process was conducted, such as meeting agendas and participation lists.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes that no entity can represent tribal communities better than the Tribal Nations themselves, so tribal applicants are best suited to serve tribal households. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office aims to achieve total representation and inclusion of tribal governments throughout the planning, development, and deployment of BEAD. In the past, tribes have been left out of important discussions and not included early enough to be fully informed and engaged stakeholders. Arizona is committed to ensuring that tribal leaders and their respective communities receive regular updates on key BEAD and Digital Equity programs and milestones.



The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office, in collaboration with the Governor's Office on Tribal Relations, issued formal notices of consultation by sending a "Dear Tribal Leader" letter to all 22 Tribal Nations in Arizona, offering direct support to discuss broadband concerns, needs, and opportunities on tribal lands. This included the May 2023 Tribal Consultation led by Governor Hobbs, demonstrating her administration's strong commitment to broadband and tribal relations. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes the need for broadband access in Arizona's tribal communities and has prioritized consulting with Tribal Nations across the state. On March 22, 2023, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office hosted an in-person working session with Tribal leaders to learn more about challenges specific to their communities. On July 11, 2023, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office hosted a Tribal Communities Roundtable meeting with key stakeholders interested in broadband on tribal lands. The roundtable provided an opportunity to hear directly from Tribal Nations, understand their challenges with high-speed internet access, and discuss important topics related to broadband infrastructure development.

During the National Tribal Telecommunications Association Broadband Summit held on August 28 – 30, 2023, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office hosted one-on-one consultations with tribal representatives. Additionally, the Governor's Office on Tribal Relations, the Inter-Tribal Council of Arizona, and the American Indian Policy Institute hold seats on the Governor's Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council to ensure that Arizona's broadband policy fully encompasses tribal perspectives. Prior to the roundtable, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office and the Governor's Office on Tribal Relations had many interactions and engagements with Tribal leaders across the state. The Arizona Commerce Authority will support tribal communities to develop their strategic plans towards deploying broadband infrastructure and digital equity in their respective areas. The Tribal Liaison will be visiting tribal communities to discuss options and opportunities, following up on general correspondence, working with tribal governments to establish tribal data-sharing agreements, and ensuring that perspectives and feedback are communicated back to the State Broadband Office.

Achieving comprehensive broadband access across Arizona's 22 Tribal Nations requires a nuanced and well-strategized stakeholder outreach plan. Each tribe presents unique challenges, with some even operating their own internet service providers (ISPs). Addressing this complexity mandates an approach that respects tribal sovereignty, acknowledges their distinct needs, and is collaborative in nature.

The goal of stakeholder outreach in this context is not merely broadband access but the establishment of enduring relationships based on mutual respect, collaboration, and the shared objective of digital inclusion. By understanding each tribe's unique situation and challenges, and by engaging them as equal partners in the journey, Arizona is working towards holistic digital empowerment for all its tribal communities with a robust, multi-pronged approach that includes:

- 1. Ongoing Assessment
- 2. Addition of a Tribal Liaison to the Arizona State Broadband Team
- 3. Statewide In-Person and Virtual Roundtable Discussions and Focused Consultations
- 4. Financial Partnership Opportunities
- 5. Long-term Partnership Commitment

1. Ongoing Assessment

Prior to initiating outreach, the Arizona State Broadband Team assessed the scope of work required to gather data on Arizona's 22 Tribal Sovereign Nations. This includes understanding the unique challenges into each tribe's geography, topography, demographics, economic landscape, and whether the tribe has an existing tribal ISP. The research and assessments are an ongoing collaborative process that continues to inform dialogue with Tribal Nations to understand where service gaps exist and what mapping data they currently share with the FCC. Furthermore, these initial conversations have helped identify challenges with respect to future projects, existing grant funds, infrastructure, permitting, and capacity building.

The Arizona State Broadband Team understands the significance of tribal sovereignty and takes the position that each tribal nation understands best how to serve their community. With respect to that understanding, Arizona has taken the stance that no BEAD infrastructure projects shall be constructed on tribal land without a written letter of tribal consent.

2. Addition of a dedicated Tribal Liaison to the Arizona State Broadband Team

In the summer of 2023, the Arizona Commerce Authority and the Arizona State Broadband Team hired a tribal liaison who has expertise in tribal affairs to serve as the primary point of contact. The primary responsibilities of this role include establishing relationships based on trust and respect, addressing concerns, and answering questions, and channeling communication between state agencies and tribal communities. Additionally, they serve as the face of Arizona Tribal Broadband and travel the state for in-person consultations with tribal leaders or their delegates, attend workshops and symposiums, and represent the Arizona Commerce Authority at public gatherings and events.

3. Statewide Virtual and In-Person Roundtable Discussions and Focused Consultations

Statewide Virtual and In-Person Roundtable Discussions:

The Arizona State Broadband Team introduced BEAD to tribes in winter and spring of 2023 to share the main objectives, scope, and expected outcomes of this broadband initiative. The workshop discussions started with a brief overview of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) and existing programs dedicated to middle mile, digital equity, and tribal connectivity. The presenters, which included members of the Arizona State Broadband Team also provided an overview of Arizona's overall goals with BEAD funds, allowing time for discussions on the following topics:

- Tribal Data Sovereignty and Privacy
- Broadband Access, Adoption, and Use
- Infrastructure Deployment
- Technical Assistance

The dates of those roundtables and tribes represented are listed below.

a. <u>First Tribal Roundtable Discussion</u>: December 16, 2022, at the Arizona Commerce Authority office, including representatives from 1) the Tohono O'odham Utility Authority, 2) Gila River Telecommunications, Inc., 3) Ak-Chin Indian Community, 4) the Havasupai Tribe, and 5) the Yavapai Apache Nation, alongside members of the Arizona State Broadband Team and NTIA.

- b. <u>Second Tribal Roundtable Discussion</u>: February 7, 2023, including representatives from 1) the Colorado River Indian Tribes, 2) Fort McDowell Yavapai Nation, 3) the American Indian Policy Institute, 4) the Hopi Telecomm, 5) the Yavapai Apache Nation, 6) Gila River Telecommunications, Inc., and 7) Ak-Chin Indian Community alongside members of the Arizona State Broadband Team and NTIA.
- c. Arizona Tribal Partners Broadband Meeting: March 22, 2023, an in-person meeting at the Gila River Casino during the spring National Tribal Telecommunications Association (NTTA) Broadband Summit, including representatives from 1) Hopi Telecomm, 2) the Indigenous Workgroup, 3) Yavapai-Apache Digital Inclusion Nation, 4) Navajo Nation Telecommunications Regulatory Commission (NNTRC), 5) Colorado River Indian Tribes, 6) American Indian Policy Institute, 7) Digital Equity Institute, 8) Tohono O'odham Utility Authority, and 9) Gila River Telecommunications, Inc., alongside members of the Arizona State Broadband Team, the Arizona Governor's Office, Arizona Office of Education, and NTIA.
- d. <u>First Tribal Roundtable and Consultation with Gov. Hobbs</u>: May 19, 2023, was the Arizona Tribal Consultation on BEAD and Digital Equity co-hosted by the Arizona Governor's Office, the Arizona State Broadband Team, and the Inter-Tribal Council of Arizona (ITCA). Tribal representatives from 1) Colorado River Indian Tribes, 2) Fort McDowell Yavapai Nation, 3) the Yavapai-Apache Nation, 4) Gila River Telecommunications, Inc., 5) Ak-Chin Indian Community, 6) NNTRC, 7) Tohono O'odham Nation, 8) Tohono O'odham Utility Authority, 9) San Juan Southern Paiute Tribe, 10) Yavapai-Prescott Tribe, 11) San Carlos Apache Tribe, and 12) Triplet Mountain Telecommunications, alongside members of the Arizona Governor's Office, Arizona State Broadband Team, ITCA, and NTIA. Notable guests included tribal leaders from the Colorado River Indian Tribes, Navajo Nation Council Delegate, the Tohono O'odham Nation and the Gila River Indian Community.

By organizing and participating in this workshop, the Arizona Governor's Office and the State Broadband Team hope to demonstrate their commitment to transparency and open dialogue. This type of stakeholder engagement helps in building trust and ensures that tribes have a voice in shaping the direction of the program from its inception and are consulted along every phase of planning, implementation, and deployment.

Specific questions from attendees regarding BEAD and Digital Equity programs included:

- "Is tribal consent required for the Five-Year Plan or the Initial Proposal?"
- "Can you clarify on 'Tribal Letters of Consent" for Digital Equity planning?"
- "Can nonprofits apply for IIJA funding and subgrant the funds to tribes?"
- "Where does the deduplication of federal funds come in?"
- "What resources are available and how can tribes get started in Digital Equity?"
- "What are the guidelines for supplemental funds associated with changing costs of Tribal Broadband Connectivity Program (TBCP) project materials?"
- "Geographies on tribal lands for project areas are based on inaccurate data, what is the impact to our potential 600 sites?"
- "Tribes have very little or no capacity for mapping and would need to partner with other organizations (e.g., ITCA). What is meant by high cost in BEAD and how does this get determined? Is there any set aside for tribes for either BEAD or Digital Equity?

Each tribal community represented expressed varying priorities for its members. Through discussions and interactions during engagements like this, it becomes easier to understand and catalog these priorities, ensuring they are addressed in the project's subsequent phases.

- e. <u>Third Tribal Roundtable on BEAD and Digital Equity</u>: July 11, 2023, a statewide webinar including representatives from 1) NNTRC, 2) American Indian Policy Institute, 3) Tohono O'odham Utility Authority, 4) Gila River Telecommunications, Inc., and 5) Havasupai Tribe alongside members of the Arizona State Broadband Team, the Arizona Governor's Office, and NTIA. Additional attendees included local nonprofit organizations, telehealth program providers, and other non-tribal consulting firms.
- f. <u>Fourth Tribal Roundtable at the NTTA Tribal Broadband Summit</u>: August 29 30, 2023, members of the Arizona Governor's Office and the Arizona State Broadband Team attended the National Tribal Telecommunications Association.

Broadband Summit hosted drop-in consultation hours. The informal sessions allowed tribal stakeholders to gather information at their leisure, collect printed materials from NTIA, meet members of the Arizona State Broadband Team and request formal consultations.

The net result of this event included two scheduled tribal consultations and one scheduled tribal engagement that happened in northern Arizona.

g. <u>Northern Arizona Tribal Broadband Roundtable</u>: October 18, 2023, an in-person and virtual meeting in Flagstaff, Ariz., including representatives from 1) Hopi Telecomm, 2) the Hualapai Tribe, 3) Navajo Nation Alliance for Broadband, 4) Colorado River Indian Tribes, 5) American Indian Policy Institute, 6) ITCA, 7) Gila River Telecommunications, Inc., 8) the Hopi Tribe, 9) St. Michaels Chapter House, 10) tribal consultants, 11) Navajo Nation Department of Information Technology, 12) Navajo County Supervisor proxy, 13) the USDA, 14) Havasupai Tribe, 15) Yavapai Apache Nation, and 16) the Indigenous Digital Inclusion Workgroup, alongside members of the Arizona State Broadband Team, the Arizona Governor's Office, and NTIA.

Registrants were given advance notice of the guiding questions that would facilitate the conversation with the option of pre-filling the answers to those questions or providing verbal comments during the roundtable. The discussions started with a brief overview of IIJA and existing programs dedicated to middle mile, digital equity, and tribal connectivity. The presenters, which included members of the Arizona State Broadband Team, also provided an overview of Arizona's overall goals with BEAD and Digital Equity funds.

A sample of the guided questions included:

- What is the attendee perspective on the current broadband environment?
- How aware are attendees of BEAD, Digital Equity, and TBCP objectives and timelines?
- What impacts are the tribal governments anticipating from these activities across the community?
- What concerns are being raised across tribal lands?

Participants were invited to weigh in with their thoughts as a member of the Broadband Team recorded their answers. The feedback was candid and passionate, some of the feedback captured the following sentiments on BEAD.

Key takeaways and topics included:

- Identifying extremely high-cost areas on tribal lands and plans to address funding issues as a result of additional expenses.
- Comfort levels with sharing information on homes in the tribal community that need service. Tribal community was not comfortable with providing address data, via shapefile but can show general areas that preserve privacy and area of need.
- Will the state work with tribal communities to identify CAIs that serve a purpose in tribal communities but that may not fall within the state's definition of a CAI?

A similar roundtable discussion is planned for early December of 2023 for southern Arizona tribes. Focused consultations with Tribal Nations, Tribal Delegates of Authority, and Tribal ISP providers are essential, especially in the context of broadband deployment or any other collaborative project that involves tribal lands and interests. Tribal own systems of governance and decision-making. Focused consultations and engagements acknowledge and respect this sovereignty, recognizing that tribes are distinct entities with their own rights and jurisdictions.

The dates of those focused consultations and engagements are listed below.

- i. <u>Gila River Telecommunications, Inc.</u>: On July 17, 2023 The consultation with the Gila River Telecommunications, Inc. included (GRTI) staff, NTIA staff, the Governor of Gila River Indian Community, the Arizona State Broadband Team, and staff from the Arizona Governor's Office. GRTI discussed their plans for BEAD and their desire to work in partnership with other tribal communities to expand broadband service. Additional topics included capacity building and tribal data sovereignty.
- ii. <u>San Carlos Apache Telecommunications, Inc.</u>: August 3, 2023 This engagement was a one-on-one stakeholder conversation with San Carlos Apache Telecommunications Utility, Inc. (SCATUI) management staff and a member of the Arizona State Broadband Team. SCATUI shared plans for their tribal ISP to serve their community, in addition to expanding service to identified surrounding communities. They also shared that they were happy to know there is someone that can work directly with them at the Arizona Commerce Authority.
- iii. <u>Hopi Telecommunications Inc.: August 22, 2023:</u> The <u>engagement</u> with Hopi Telecommunications Inc. included the (HTI) executive assistant, its general manager, and a member of the Arizona State Broadband Team. Items discussed included existing projects underway with federal dollars from USDA, TBCP funding, and updating/replacing copper wire with fiber. Some challenges they have identified include supply chain issues, expensive consultant fees, and questions associated with the challenge process. HTI also expressed a need for a qualified candidate pool to deploy the infrastructure associated with broadband projects and inflation costs exceeding original budget projections. Separately, HTI talked about the need to address cyber security concerns for the Hopi Tribe. The Arizona State Broadband Team followed up with HTI to check their availability for a tribal broadband consultation with the State Broadband Director.
- iv. <u>Colorado River Indian Tribal Broadband Team: August 31, 2023</u>: The tribal engagement with the Colorado River Indian Tribes (CRIT) included the CRIT Tribal Broadband Team, the Arizona State Broadband Team, and NTIA. Topics discussed during the meeting included unserved, underserved, and community anchor institutions. There were additional questions and concerns about "high-cost thresholds" especially regarding moving and unearthing new soil on tribal lands. There was also a shared concern about non-tribal ISPs overstating their capacity and making sure the Arizona Commerce Authority does not

continue to work with them providing a shoddy experience. The Arizona State Broadband Team assured CRIT and its legal counsel that no project would be built on tribal lands without that tribe's letter of consent.

- v. <u>Cocopah Indian Tribe: September 18, 2023</u>: This engagement with the Cocopah Tribe included the tribal emergency manager, the tribal planner, the tribal business development director, the Yuma County broadband consultant, and a representative of the USDA. A member of the Arizona State Broadband Team and Arizona's NTIA program manager joined the discussion to learn about the tribe's broadband plans and other projects in the pipeline. Due to the patchwork land parcels that make up their tribal community, the tribe expressed its need to work with county and city officials to obtain permits for the rights of way to deploy broadband infrastructure. They also requested more information on the TBCP round two funding and shared their desire to have their own tribal ISP. Upon returning to Phoenix, the Arizona State Broadband Team emailed the necessary links and information to TBCP round two funding.
- vi. <u>Havasupai Tribe: October 17, 2023</u>: The tribal consultation with the Havasupai Tribe included their tribal legal counsel, members of the Arizona State Broadband Team, and a representative from the Arizona Governor's office. Legal counsel expressed hesitation sharing tribal member addresses but offered to send a Shape file for mapping/challenge process purposes.

They also requested assistance with GIS capabilities and explained they are ready to take the next step of advising tribal council and getting approval to move forward in this collaborative process. The Arizona State Broadband Team explained the tribe's area is "unserved" – but every tribal household needs a unique ID number in order to connect to internet service. Additional topics discussed included financial studies, right of ways, collaboration with neighboring tribal communities, and existing projects with TBCP funding. The State Broadband Team advised if the tribe was planning to submit data to the FCC, to do so before March 2024 so those projects can be included in the proposal.

vii. <u>Navajo Nation Telecommunications Regulatory Commission: Ongoing Bi-Weekly</u> <u>Meetings:</u> The Navajo Nation is one of the largest tribes in the United States. It spans approximately 27,000 square miles, making it the largest tribal land area that extends into the states of Arizona, New Mexico, and Utah. The Navajo Nation has 110-chapter houses, with approximately 73 chapters located within the Arizona portion of the Navajo Nation. Due to the considerable number of tribal members and its expansive geography, the Arizona State Broadband Team meets bi-weekly with the Navajo Nation to stay apprised of its broadband plans and activities.

4. Financial Opportunities

The Tribal Liaison and the Arizona Commerce Authority are committed to fostering effective communication and collaboration with Tribal Nations in the state. One of the key aspects of this partnership is ensuring that tribal communities have access to critical financial opportunities.

To achieve this, the Tribal Liaison and the Arizona Commerce Authority will work closely to disseminate information about various financial programs, grants, and initiatives that can benefit Tribal Nations. The Tribal Liaison will also offer coordination services to assist Tribal Nations in navigating the complexities of the application and compliance processes. This hands-on approach aims to facilitate tribal access to financial resources and ensure that tribal projects align with state and federal goals for sustainable development and improved quality of life within tribal territories.



5. Long-term Partnership Commitment

Arizona is home to 22 federally recognized Native tribes, but historically, broadband initiatives have not always effectively served Tribal communities. To address this, the State Broadband Office and Governor Hobbs' Office on Tribal Relations will prioritize the coordination, involvement, and sharing of information with Tribal Nations throughout the development of the BEAD Program and deployment of BEAD funds. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office and Governor Hobbs are committed to working directly with tribal leaders, communities, and other stakeholders to ensure their voices are heard and their needs are considered throughout the broadband deployment process.

Recognizing that tribal communities are among the most unserved and underserved when it comes to broadband access, targeted efforts are being made to engage with these communities. The emphasis is on understanding each tribe's unique challenges and needs, and collaboratively working towards solutions that ensure they too can benefit from the digital transformation sweeping the state.

2.4 Deployment Subgrantee Selection (Requirement 8)

2.4.1 Plan for Fair, Open, and Competitive Process

Describe a detailed plan to competitively award subgrants to last-mile broadband deployment projects through a fair, open, and competitive process.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has developed a comprehensive and transparent subgrantee selection process aimed at selecting the most qualified applicants for broadband infrastructure deployment in Arizona. The approach outlined in this section is designed to achieve a fair, open, and competitive process for selection of subgrantees for the deployment program. To that end, the State Broadband Office plans to provide all potential grant applicants with access to the information, tools, and resources needed to participate fully in this opportunity.

To promote efficiency and streamline the selection process, the State Broadband Office will award deployment subgrants in phases. This phased approach intends to provide broadband infrastructure to all unserved and underserved locations, encourage timely submission of applications, conduct thorough evaluations, and make timely awards. The following section describes the phases of the subgrantee selection process. We are committed to ensuring that this process results in the deployment of effective broadband infrastructure in Arizona to achieve universal coverage. The estimated program timeline is as follows:

Figure 2: BEAD Deployment Subgrantee Selection Process



BEAD Deployment Program Structure/Timeline

*Timing is estimated and subject to NTIA review and approval of Initial proposal Volume II

Project Area

2.4.1.1 Defining Project Areas

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will define draft project areas throughout the state which will then be further refined and modified based on industry and stakeholder feedback as described later in the section. The selection of project areas has been made with the objective of improving competition, expediting administrative processes with efficient deconfliction, and ensuring all eligible unserved and underserved locations within the state are served through the BEAD program.

The following key considerations will govern the creation of the project areas:

- Census block groups and governmental unit boundaries such as county borders
- Expected project size
- Geography and terrain
- Current competitive landscape and available backbone infrastructure

Note that Tribal Nations are expected to constitute separate project areas.

2.4.1.2 Criteria Related to Project Areas

- Every eligible BSL covered: Applicants will be required to serve every eligible unserved and underserved Broadband Service Location (BSL) within the project area.
- Maximizing Eligible CAIs: Additionally, applications that maximize the number of eligible CAIs to be served with in a project area will be scored higher (see scoring rubric defined later in this section).
- Grouping of Project Areas: Applicants may group more than one project areas subject to the following criteria:
 - Project areas grouped in one application much be reasonably adjacent.
 - Applicants must provide a breakdown of key metrics including cost to build for each project area.
- Partnerships: Applicants are encouraged to identify partners as needed to ensure that every eligible BSL within the proposed project area will be served.

A public facing interactive mapping tool will be made available to all potential applicants through the State Broadband Office website. Geospatial files for project areas will also be made available to prospective applicants.

Pre-marketing and Qualification Phase

The pre-marketing and qualification phase is intended to expedite the application process for BEAD deployment projects. The phase will include a preregistration of applicants and initial data collection of proposed project areas.



2.4.1.3 Market Sounding

To ensure that the BEAD grant program is designed effectively and meets the needs of communities across Arizona, the State Broadband Office will gather feedback from prospective applicants and other market participants. We will conduct Market Sounding which involves listening sessions and gathering feedback through other means such as surveys or meetings to gather the input and feedback of prospective applicants. The feedback will be focused on key program elements, such as the predefined project areas and overall application process. This activity will involve open communication between the State Broadband Office and prospective applicants, resulting in a better understanding of how to best address connectivity needs and ensure a competitive grant process.

2.4.1.4 Applicant Preregistration

The BEAD subgrantee selection process will begin while NTIA is reviewing Arizona's Initial Proposal Volume II for approval and during the BEAD Challenge Process period. The State Broadband Office will require prospective applicants to provide preregistration information. This preregistration is mandatory for the prospective applicant's participation of the BEAD program. Guidelines for the preregistration process will be provided by the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office, along with informational webinars and Q&A sessions to support applicants.

The information collected during preregistration can apply to all future applications, including multiple project applications, as it is intended to collect information that applies at an applicant/organization level. Only the primary applicant will need to preregister. Preregistration is intended to streamline the application process, serving as a gating stage to ensure applicants meet the program's minimum and mandatory requirements.

Information that will be requested as part of preregistration includes, but not limited to:

- Financial Capability (Section IV, D, 2.a of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.4.11 below)
- Managerial Capability (Section IV, D, 2.b of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.4.12 below)
- Technical Capability (Section IV, D, 2.c of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.4.13 below)
- Compliance with applicable laws (Section IV, D, 2.d of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.4.14 below)
- Operational Capability (Section IV, D, 2.e of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.4.15 below)
- Ownership Information (Section IV, D, 2.f of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.416 below))
- Public Funding Information (Section IV, D, 2.g of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.4.17 below)
- Fair Labor Practices and Highly Skilled Workforce (Section IV, C, 1.e of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.2.1)
- Environmental and Historical Preservation "EHP" and Build America and Buy America Act "BABA" compliance: (Section VII, D, 4. and 6. Of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.4.5)

- Cybersecurity compliance and Supply chain risk management compliance: (Section IV, C, 2.c.vi. of the BEAD NOFO and requirement 2.16.4)
- History as a business servicing and working in the State of Arizona
- Current SAM.GOV registration and valid Unique Entity ID (UEI)

Any additional information required for preregistration will be communicated to the applicant as the documentation is reviewed by the State Broadband Office.

2.4.1.5 Mapping Information for Project Applications and Letter of Interest (LOI)

In addition to requesting applicants to preregister their organization for the BEAD program, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will provide additional information through a public facing mapping tool that include all project areas. The public facing mapping tool will assist in project application development and submission by providing applicants with additional information. The tool will allow applicants to select a project area or group of project areas and the tool will provide additional information used in scoring based on the selection. For instance, the match requirements will be scored against a variable scale based on the estimated profitability (known as net present value (NPV)) of the selected project.

The following additional information will be provided based on the selected project areas in the online interactive public facing mapping tool:

- The expected cost to deploy infrastructure to all unserved, underserved, and eligible CAI locations within the selected project area, based on a cost benchmark model and data;
- Applicable affordability benchmarks for middle class affordability plans, as described in Chapter 2.13 of this proposal;
- Applicable match scoring scale based on selected project area; and
- Other applicable benchmarks that will be used in scoring.

The public map will also allow for prospective applicants to identify select project areas that the applicant intends to propose in Round 1 as part of preregistration on a confidential basis. This will provide the State Broadband Office with valuable information in assessing market interest on the draft project areas. This will also improve transparency and assist with automating the deconfliction process. The predefined project areas selected as part of the preregistration will not be binding and will only be used as information by the State Broadband Office to refine the application and evaluation process, and to help ensure all eligible locations within the state are served.

In addition to submitting project areas of interest, applicants will have the option to submit a Letter of Interest (LOI). The LOI process provides an opportunity for market participants to communicate their needs and challenges to the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office, which will help the State Broadband Office further refine project area definition and tailor grant processes accordingly.

Factoring all the feedback during this phase, the State Broadband Office will then update its public facing mapping tool; the draft project areas will then be modified and refined into final project areas prior to start of Round 1.



Round 1 Project Applications

Round 1 for BEAD deployment projects will serve as the primary application. Applicants will be requested to submit applications using information provided in the interactive online public facing mapping tool as part of their application in the grant portal. The results of Round 1 will be tentative project allocations and initial negotiations.

2.4.1.6 Information to be Provided by the Applicant

During Round 1 of the BEAD deployment project application process, applicants will be required to submit key information collected and formatted by the online public facing mapping tool. This information will include:

- A defined project area.
- Fiber Preference and Outlier Definition: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has a strong preference towards end-to-end fiber solutions where it is financially feasible. If the cost to serve a location using an end-to-end fiber solution is higher than a predefined multiple of the average cost to serve for the rest of the BSLs in the selected project area, the applicant shall identify these locations as outliers ("Outliers"). The applicant shall provide a cost to serve each outlier location with fiber and by using alternative technologies. The identification of outliers should only occur based on the extreme impracticability of end-to-end fiber deployment because of geography, topography, or excessive cost. The State Broadband Office will evaluate outlier locations as part of the application project area and assess the use of alternative technologies or remove them from the project area to be served by a separate project as part of Round 2. Information collected from locations identified as outliers will help define the extremely high-cost per location threshold (EHCPLT). In the event that the State Broadband Office determines alternative technologies best serve an outlier location, the corresponding project will then be deemed as an "Other Last-Mile Project" non-priority project and will be evaluated using the corresponding scoring criteria.

Additional information that will be requested of applicants and used in the scoring process include:

- Total project area cost
- Project Deployment schedule
- Broadband technology of planned network
- Percentage of Match proposed for the project area
- Cost of service plans guaranteed to customers served by BEAD funded networks
- Evidence of local government support and community engagement conducted in the project area. If the project area is a Tribal Nation, the applicant must submit a letter of consent from the Tribe
- Information on pricing of service plans for middle class affordability
- Information on use technologies that exhibit greater ease of scalability with lower future investment
- Evidence of records and plans for compliance with Federal labor and employment laws

- If an applicant plans to provide open access to last-mile broadband service providers for the life of the subsidized networks
- Binding commitments with respect to advancing equitable workforce development and job quality objectives

These requirements will ensure that the BEAD deployment projects can be fairly and transparently evaluated. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will provide guidance and resources to assist applicants in completing the above requirements as part of the application process.

2.4.1.7 Information Provided to the Applicant

The State Broadband Office will provide all prospective applicants access to a public facing mapping tool. The mapping tool will provide the following information based on the applicants selected project area:

- Number of unserved and underserved BSL, including "high-cost" BSLs as defined by the NTIA
- Number of eligible CAIs
- The scoring rubric that will be used to evaluate "Grant to Project Cost" evaluation criteria and the minimum required match percentage. The scoring rubric will factor in the no match requirement for "high-cost" locations per designation by the NTIA.
- Affordability benchmarks used for scoring "Affordability" criteria, and
- Infrastructure deployment cost estimates based on a cost model which will be used for scoring "Cost Reasonableness."

This information will be used by the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office to score the project application.

2.4.1.8 Post Application Assessment

Following the submission of the application, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will conduct a thorough post-application assessment. This process will include a comprehensive review of all submitted information, including an evaluation of project feasibility, compliance with program requirements, and alignment with strategic priorities. We will closely review all sections of the application and may request additional information to clarify any ambiguities or address issues that may arise during the review process. Additionally, the State Broadband Office will consider any external feedback or input from stakeholders received during the application review period. The goal of the post-application assessment is to ensure that all proposals align with the objectives of the BEAD Program and comply with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements. The post-application assessment will be completed using the process described below.

- Step 1 Initial Screening: Applications will be screened to ensure they meet minimum criteria and are submitted in the correct format. Information reviewed during the preregistration phase will be confirmed complete and up to date.
- Step 2 Scoring and Deconfliction: Applications will next be reviewed based on the application project areas, identifying if the proposed application area overlaps with another

application area. These applications will be assessed differently based on the steps below if corresponding applications areas overlap or not. Using this approach, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office can prioritize applications that are most likely to succeed while also ensuring that proposals are financially responsible and aligned with the BEAD Program's goals.

- Step 2.1 Applications That Have No Overlap: If a project has no overlapping project areas with any other application, it will be assessed against cost benchmarks based on the project area.
 - Step 2.1.1. Project Cost Below Estimated Cap: If the proposed cost to serve the project area included in the application requires less than the estimated cost to build plus a percentage contingency, or the subsidy request is less than the estimated Net Present Value (NPV) (when negative) plus a percentage contingency, the application will be moved forward in the process.
 - Step 2.1.1.1 "Outlier" Locations: If a project contains outlier locations, the State Broadband Office will determine whether these locations will be removed from the application to explore negotiations with alternative/adjacent providers, including use of alternative technologies for these locations with the current applicant or alternative provider. If the negotiation does not provide a viable solution for these locations, the outliers will be removed from the application and included for consideration in Round 2.
 - Step 2.1.2 Project Cost Above Estimated Cap: If the proposed project cost or subsidy request exceeds the cost model estimate values including an additional contingency, the application will not be scored and deferred for future consideration. These project applications will be referred to as "deferred applications".
- Step 2.2 Applications That Have Overlap (Deconfliction Required): When a proposed project area overlaps with another proposed project area, the following approach will be followed for reviewing and deconflicting applications.
 - Step 2.2.1 Assess Project Cost: If the proposed cost to serve the project area included in the application requires less than the estimated cost to build plus a percentage contingency, or the subsidy request is less than the estimated NPV (when negative) plus a percentage contingency, the application will continue in the deconfliction process. If the proposed project cost or subsidy request exceeds the estimate values with additional contingency, the application will be considered as a "deferred application" and will be reserved for future consideration and will not be scored or considered for deconfliction at this time.
 - Step 2.2.2 Deconfliction Overlapping Project Areas: If applications contain overlapping project areas, scoring will be used to deconflict the
overlapping project areas and award the overlapping project area to the highest scoring project.

- **Step 2.2.2.1** Score Project Areas: Project areas that have multiple applications will be scored using the priority projects scoring rubric. The scoring rubrics that will be used are described in Section 2.4 *Arizona BEAD Deployment Scoring Priority Project* below.
- Step 2.2.2.2– Deconflicting Project Areas: The highest scoring application for a project area will receive the overlapping project areas. The State Broadband Office will then consult with the project applicant who will not be awarded the overlapping project area and confirm if their application can continue with remaining project areas (i.e., overlapping project area/s removed).
- Step 2.2.2.3 "Outlier" Locations: The State Broadband Office will apply the same process for outlier locations identified in Step 2.1.1.1 above.
- Step 3 Assessment of Outstanding Unserved/Underserved BSLs: Once tentative project selection has been made through the competitive award process in Round 1, the State Broadband Office will assess remaining project areas and the respective BSLs, and CAIs to determine if the remaining funds will be adequate to serve these locations.
 - Step 3.1 Cost Estimate for Remaining BSLs and CAIs: All unserved/underserved BSLs that have not been included in any proposed application will be identified. The State Broadband Office will then calculate the cost to serve these locations, considering successful applications received as part of Round 1 and a contingency factor to allow for unforeseen circumstances. This will determine the total funding required to serve the remaining areas.
 - Step 3.2 Cost to Fund Remaining BSLs Assessment: The State Broadband Office will compare the amount of remaining funding available with the total subsidy required to serve the remaining unserved/underserved BSLs. This analysis will help us to determine if remaining funding is sufficient to serve all remaining locations.
 - Step 3.3 Tentative Project Awards for Deconflicted Project Applications: Based on this assessment, the State Broadband Office will make tentative awards to applications received for Round 1.
- Step 4 Assessment of "Deferred Applications": Following the assessment of remaining funds, the State Broadband Office will assess and score the applications deemed "deferred applications", those that were above the threshold cost or NPV subsidy benchmark values with added contingency. We may consider these applications for tentative award at this time based on the remaining funding available or rollover these applications to be included in Round 2, if a second round of applications is necessary.

2.4.1.9 Post-Round 1 Negotiations

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office requires applicants to serve every eligible unserved and underserved BSL within the project. After Round 1 tentative project awards, the State Broadband Office will identify BSL that were not included in a proposed project. These BSL will be termed as "stranded".

If the stranded BSL is adjacent to the project areas of a submitted application, the State Broadband Office may negotiate with applicants to determine a cost to append them to the applicant's tentative Round 1 project area.

If the stranded BSL is adjacent to an existing coverage area of a non-applicant provider, the State Broadband Office may also negotiate with the non-applicant provider to obtain sole source or negotiated proposals for the stranded BSL. These proposals will be evaluated for conditional award, and any project areas that are not tentatively awarded will move to Round 2 for further evaluation. As part of these negotiations, the State Broadband Office will also consider "outlier" locations and determine if these can be included in an existing project or can be negotiated as a separate project.

Round 2 Project Applications

Following Round 1 negotiations, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will determine whether Round 2 is required. Our goal is to have every project area awarded as part of Round 1 and that Round 2 should only be initiated if necessary. In Round 2 of the BEAD Program's application evaluation and deconfliction process, the public-facing map will be updated to reflect the conditional awards made in Round 1 and Post-Round 1 Negotiations. Any applications that are part of the group of "deferred applications" and were not awarded as part of Round 1 will be included for Round 2.

For Round 2, the State Broadband Office may choose to redefine project areas and modify the scoring criteria to achieve the goal of covering every eligible BSL in Arizona.

The same process used in Round 1 and Post-Round 1 Negotiations is repeated for Round 2 and Post-Round 2 Negotiations. The deconfliction process is similar to Round 1, and the State Broadband Office will use scoring to resolve any project area overlaps between applications.

The process will ensure the highest scoring projects are prioritized for tentative award, with remaining locations covered through the Post Round 2 Negotiations.

2.4.2 Prioritization and Scoring Process

Describe how the prioritization and scoring process will be conducted and is consistent with the BEAD NOFO requirements on pages 42 – 46.

2.4.2.1 Supporting Documentation for Scoring Rubric

Attachment: As a required attachment, submit the scoring rubric to be used in the subgrantee selection process for deployment projects. Eligible Entities may use the template provided by NTIA, or use their own format for the scoring rubric.



To ensure that BEAD deployment projects are evaluated with utmost credibility, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office's scoring rubric follows NTIA's mandated scoring criteria. The NTIA scoring system primarily emphasizes three critical criteria, accounting for 75 percent of the total score, along with secondary criteria that can include both NTIA's prescribed metrics and additional Arizona policy priorities. This approach ensures that all submitted proposals are judged on a fair and objective basis, with an emphasis on achieving the state's policy priorities while satisfying NTIA's requirements. There are two different scoring rubrics provided below. One will be used for "priority projects" and the other for "non-priority" projects.

Each application can earn a maximum of 500 points. The evaluation criteria are categorized into primary and secondary segments, with 375 points allocated to the primary category and 125 points to the secondary category. Each of these categories encompasses several elements to be assessed and rated according to the specified considerations within each area. The details of each scoring category, subcategory, and relative weighting of each are described below in more detail.

Arizona BEAD Deployment Project Scoring - Priority Project

BEAD priority projects are those that fulfill two key criteria. The first criterion focuses on delivering broadband service that adheres to the speed, latency, reliability, consistency in quality of service, and other criteria that the Assistant Secretary shall determine. In other words, priority projects must offer high-quality broadband services that meet specific performance thresholds.

The second criterion requires that priority projects provide services via end-to-end fiber-optic facilities to reach end users. This ensures that projects are built using the most reliable and efficient technological infrastructure available, delivering the highest quality broadband service possible. Using fiber-optic architecture ensures that broadband services are both fast and future-proof, able to scale with the ever-growing needs of the communities that they serve.

The scoring rubric for priority projects is included below. The criteria and weighting marked with an asterisk are mandated by the NTIA.

Category	Description	Category Weighting	Overall Weighting
Primary Crite	eria:		
Minimal BEAD Program Outlay*	Grant to Project Cost. This category scores the ratio of the requested grant fund compared to the total project cost. Applications that bring greater matching funds to their proposed project will score more points. Greater matching funds ensures that BEAD funds will allow connections to every unserved and underserved location and eligible CAIs. The ratio of grant to project costs must not be higher than 75 percent, (except where projects include "high-cost" locations per designation by the NTIA). This scoring criteria will be a sliding scale of match percentage ranges.	50%	75%*
	Cost Reasonableness . This category scores the overall project cost against a benchmark estimate		

Table 5: Scoring Rubric for Priority Projects

Category	Description	Category Weighting	Overall Weighting
	developed from a cost model. The reference benchmark cost for each project area will be shared with applicants as part of the application materials. Points will be awarded for projects aligned to or below the benchmark estimate for cost.		
	Scalability and Resiliency. This category scores if the network design is more scalable or resilient than what is considered to be industry standard.		
Affordability*	Affordability of 1 Gbps/1 Gbps Service. This category scores prospective subgrantee's commitment to providing the most affordable total price to the customer for 1 Gbps symmetrical service in the project area for priority projects. This scoring criteria will be a sliding scale of service cost ranges.	18%	
Fair Labor Practices*	Fair Labor Practices Compliance and Commitment. This category scores a prospective subgrantee's demonstrated record of and plans to be in compliance with Federal labor and employment laws.	7%	
Secondary Cr	iteria:		
Speed To Deployment*	Project Schedule Commitment . All subgrantees that receive BEAD Program funds for network deployment must deploy the planned broadband network and begin providing services to each customer that desires broadband services within the project area not later than four years after the date on which the subgrantee receives the executed subgrant agreement. This category scores prospective subgrantee's binding commitment to provide service by an earlier date.	2%	
Technological Requirements	Technological Requirements. This criterion scores applications that propose (a) to use technologies that exhibit greater ease of scalability with lower future investment for priority projects; and (b) open wholesale access to last-mile broadband service providers for the life of the funded networks, on a fair, nondiscriminatory basis to all potential retail providers. See below for a more detailed description of how this criterion will be scored.	12%	25%*
Local and Tribal Coordination	Local and Tribal Coordination. This criterion assesses a prospective subgrantee's coordination with the local units of government and/or Tribal Nations that intersect the proposed project area. This criterion also assesses if meaningful community engagement activities have occurred to gain additional insight into specific community needs.	4%	
Community Anchor Institutions	Community Anchor Institutions. This scoring criteria assesses if an applicant has included eligible CAIs as published by the State Broadband Office within the	2%	

Category	Description	Category Weighting	Overall Weighting
	project area as part of the application. Points will be awarded to an application that has the highest number of CAIs included for the project area.		
Equitable Workforce Development and Job Quality	Workforce Development. This criterion scores a subgrantee's binding commitments with respect to advancing equitable workforce development and job quality objectives.	5%	

- **Minimal BEAD Program Outlay for Priority Projects 250 Maximum Points**: Three elements will be evaluated as part of the minimal BEAD Program Outlay for priority projects.
 - a. Grant to Project Cost 150 Maximum Points: This category pertains to the overall grant funding requested to complete the project area specified in the application, accounting for both the projected total cost and the applicant's proposed contribution. Applications that bring greater matching funds to their proposed project will score more points. The ratio of grant to project costs must not be higher than 75 percent, (except where projects include "high-cost" locations per designation by the NTIA. Applications will be scored based on the ratio of the requested grant fund compared to the total project cost.
 - b. Cost Reasonableness 50 Maximum Points: This category pertains to the cost reasonableness of the project. Applications will be scored based on the overall project cost against a benchmark estimate developed from a cost model. Points will be awarded for projects aligned to or below the benchmark estimate for cost.
 - c. Scalability and Resiliency 50 Maximum Points: This category pertains to the network scalability and resiliency. Applications that propose to use technologies that exhibit scalability, longer usable lives, and resilience will score higher on the sliding scale.
- Affordability for Priority Projects 90 Maximum Points: This section assesses the applicant's commitment to delivering 1Gbps/1Gbps symmetrical services within the project areas specified in the application, at a price that is affordable for subscribers. Under this section, applicants will receive points if the cost of the 1 gigabit symmetrical service package is \$75.00 per month or lower, inclusive of all taxes, fees and charges imposed on the subscriber. The sliding scale is included in Table below.

65

80

Scoring	Priority Projects Points
>\$75.00	0
\$75.00	50

\$65.00 - \$74.99

\$55.00 - \$64.99

Table 6: Affordability Scoring Criteria for Priority Projects

Additionally, applicants that provide a marketing plan as part of their application that incorporates mechanisms to improve knowledge of the availability of the low-cost broadband service option and to raise awareness of subsidy programs such as ACP will receive 10 points.

Fair Labor Practices for Priority Projects - 35 Maximum Points: Applicants are required to
provide a written account of their historical adherence to federal labor and employment laws,
as well as their intentions to continue adhering to these laws. In this category, the Arizona
Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will evaluate and assign scores to the narrative
responses provided by applicants. Applications that furnish all necessary information and
make a binding commitment to comply with the established labor requirements as stipulated
in the BEAD NOFO will receive up to 35 points in this category. Points will be awarded based
on the information provided for each aspect of the fair labor category. Applications that do not
provide any response will receive 0 points in this category.

The State Broadband Office will score fair labor practices for priority projects based on criteria listed Table below.

Criteria	Priority Projects Points
Compliance with state and federal employment laws	20
Disclosure showing no applicant violations	5
Disclosure showing no contractor and/or subcontractor violations	5
Workplace safety committees	5

Table 7: Fair Labor Practice Scoring Criteria for Priority Projects

Secondary Selection Criteria for Priority Projects

• Speed to Deployment for Priority Broadband Projects – 10 Maximum Points: All recipients of BEAD Program funds designated for network deployment are required to execute the planned broadband network and commence delivering services to all subscribers seeking broadband services within the application project area(s) no later than four years after the subgrantee receives the award from the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office.

The State Broadband Office will assess applications based on their pledged speed of deployment using a sliding scale system as shown in Table below.

Table 8: Speed to Deployment for Priority Projects

Deployment Schedule	Priority Projects Points
< 24 months	10
24 - 36 months	8
36 - 42 months	6
42 – 47 months	4
48 months	0

- Technological Requirements for Priority Projects 60 Maximum Points: Two elements will be evaluated as part of the technological requirements.
 - a. For applications suggesting the adoption of technologies that offer enhanced scalability with reduced future expenditure for priority projects, the State Broadband Office will evaluate long-lasting capital assets using a sliding scale system.

Technology	Priority Project Points
Up to 10 Gbps download and 10 Gbps upload or greater	50
Up to 10 Gbps download and 2.5 Gbps upload	30
Up to 2.5 Gbps download and 1 Gbps upload	15
Up to 1 Gbps symmetrical	0

Table 9: Technological Requirements for Priority Projects

b. The BEAD program advocates for providing open access wholesale opportunities to lastmile broadband service providers throughout the duration of the subsidized network's existence on a fair, equitable, and unbiased terms for all prospective retail service providers. Applicants pledging to offer open access wholesale broadband services at reasonable and non-discriminatory rates and conditions for the entire useful life of the network assets will earn points contingent on the open access details outlined in their application. Points will be awarded based on the information furnished for each component of the open access category shown in the Table below.

Table 10: Open Access for Priority Projects

Open Access Details	Priority Project Points
Details regarding open access policy	10

• Local and Tribal Coordination for Priority Projects – 20 Maximum Points: The BEAD Program advocates for the adoption of selection criteria that emphasize the applicant's coordination with local and tribal governments with jurisdiction over the project areas they intend to serve. This regional and tribal coordination is intended to address connectivity gaps where broadband coverage is lacking, allowing tribes, counties, towns, and cities to coordinate with the prospective applicants for their region. As part of the requirements for the BEAD Program, applicants must consult with local and tribal authorities regarding their qualifications and plans within the project area. Points for this category will be awarded based on the degree of collaboration and support demonstrated. By conducting consultations and collaborating with local and tribal authorities, applicants can enhance the effectiveness and success of their project proposal while promoting community involvement and support.

Local governments and tribes have the option to support one or more applicants within the BEAD Program. Scoring within the local and tribal category will depend on the level of detail provided for each aspect of the application.

Table 11: Local and Tribal Coordination for Priority Projects

Local and Tribal Coordination Details	Priority Project Points
Local and Tribal Coordination Information and Consultation Meeting	10
Local and Tribal Coordination – Letter of Support	10

- Community Anchor Institutions for Priority Projects 10 Maximum Points: The BEAD Program will promote digital equity and expand broadband access in unserved and underserved areas. CAIs play a key role in achieving these objectives by serving as critical community resources for education, healthcare, and emergency services. Applications that have included eligible CAIs as published by the State Broadband Office within the project area as part of the application will be scored. Ten points will be awarded to an application that has the highest number of eligible CAIs included for the project area. Applications that do not include eligible CAIs within their project areas will receive 0 points in this category.
- Equitable Workforce Development and Job Quality for Priority Projects 25 Maximum Points: Applicants are required to present a narrative demonstrating their dedication to making appropriate investments in cultivating a skilled and diverse workforce to fulfill the job requirements and meet the infrastructure development deadlines outlined in their application. For this criterion, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will evaluate and assign scores based on the narrative responses provided. The State Broadband Office will evaluate applicant's narrative provided in the application along with all of the necessary information pertaining to workforce development and commit to fostering a skilled workforce, with a particular emphasis on hiring locally for scoring application using a sliding scale system.

Arizona BEAD Deployment Project Scoring – Non-Priority Projects

The following criteria will apply to all other last mile deployment projects providing a minimum speed of 100/20 Mbps which are not considered priority projects. The criteria and weighting marked with an asterisk are mandated by the NTIA.

Category	Description	Category Weighting	Overall Weighting
Primary Crite	ria:		
Minimal BEAD Program Outlay*	Grant to Project Cost. This category scores the ratio of the requested grant funding compared to the total project cost. Applications that bring greater matching funds to their proposed project will score more points. Greater matching funds ensures that BEAD funds will allow connections to every unserved and underserved location and CAI. The ratio of grant to project costs must not be higher than 75 percent, (except where projects include "high-cost" locations per designation by the NTIA). This scoring criteria will be a sliding scale of match percentage ranges.	50%	75%*

Table 12: Scoring Rubric for Non-Priority Projects

Category	Description	Category Weighting	Overall Weighting
	Cost Reasonableness . This category scores the overall project cost against a benchmark estimate developed from a cost model. The reference benchmark cost for each project area will be shared with applicants as part of the application materials. Points will be awarded for projects aligned to or below the benchmark estimate for cost.		
	Scalability and Resiliency. This category scores if the network design is more scalable or resilient than what is considered to be industry standard.		
Affordability*	Affordability of 100/20 Mbps Service. This category scores prospective subgrantee's commitment to providing the most affordable total price to the customer for 100/20 Mbps service in the project area for non-priority projects. This scoring criteria will be a sliding scale of service cost ranges.	18%	
Fair Labor Practices*	Fair Labor Practices Compliance and Commitment. This category scores a prospective subgrantee's demonstrated record of and plans to be in compliance with Federal labor and employment laws.	7%	
Secondary C	riteria:		
Speed To Deployment*	Project Schedule Commitment . All subgrantees that receive BEAD Program funds for network deployment must deploy the planned broadband network and begin providing services to each customer that desires broadband services within the project area not later than four years after the date on which the subgrantee receives the executed subgrant agreement. This category scores prospective subgrantee's binding commitment to provide service by an earlier date.	2%	
Speed of Network and Other Capabilities	Speed of Network and Other Capabilities. This criterion scores applications based on network speeds, latency, and other technical capabilities of the technologies proposed by applicants. See below for a more detailed description of how this criterion will be scored.	12%	25%*
Local and Tribal Coordination	Local and Tribal Coordination. This criterion assesses a prospective subgrantee's coordination with the local units of government and/or Tribal Nations that intersect the proposed project area. This criterion also assesses if meaningful community engagement activities have occurred to gain additional insight to specific community needs.	4%	
Community Anchor Institutions	Community Anchor Institutions. This scoring criteria assesses if an applicant has included eligible CAIs as published by the State Broadband Office within the project area as part of the application. Points will be	2%	

Category	Description	Category Weighting	Overall Weighting
	awarded to an application that has the highest number of CAIs included for the project area.		
Equitable Workforce Development and Job Quality	Workforce Development. This criterion scores a subgrantee's binding commitments with respect to advancing equitable workforce development and job quality objectives.	5%	

Minimal BEAD Program Outlay for Non-Priority Projects - 250 Maximum Points: Three elements will be evaluated as part of the minimal BEAD Program Outlay for priority projects.

- a. Grant to Project Cost 150 Maximum Points: This category pertains to the overall grant funding requested to complete the project area specified in the application, taking into account both the projected total cost and the applicant's proposed contribution. Applications that bring greater matching funds to their proposed project will score more points. The ratio of grant to project costs must not be higher than 75 percent, (except where projects include "high-cost" locations per designation by the NTIA). Applications will be scored based on the ratio of the requested grant funding compared to the total project cost.
- b. Cost Reasonableness 50 Maximum Points: This category pertains to the cost reasonableness of the project. Applications will be scored based on the overall project cost against a benchmark estimate developed from a cost model. Points will be awarded for projects aligned to or below the benchmark estimate for cost.
- c. Scalability and Resiliency Maximum 50 Points: This category pertains to the network scalability and resiliency. Applications that propose to use technologies that exhibit scalability, longer usable lives, and resilience will score higher on the sliding scale.
- Affordability for Non-Priority Projects 90 Maximum Points: This section assesses the applicant's commitment to delivering 100/20 Mbps services within the project areas specified in the application, at a price that is affordable for subscribers. Under this section, applicants will receive points if the cost of the 100/20 Mbps service package is \$55.00 per month or lower, inclusive of all taxes, fees and charges imposed on the subscriber. The sliding scale is included in Table below.

Scoring	Non-Priority Projects Points
>\$55.00	0
\$55.00	50
\$45.00 - \$54.99	65
\$35.00 - \$44.99	80

Table 13: Affordability Scoring Criteria for Non-Priority Projects

Additionally, applicants that provide a marketing plan as part of their application that incorporates mechanisms to improve knowledge of the availability of the low-cost broadband service option and to raise awareness of subsidy programs such as ACP will receive 10 points.

• Fair Labor Practices for Non-Priority Projects - 35 Maximum Points: Applicants are required to provide a written account of their historical adherence to federal labor and employment laws, as well as their intentions to continue adhering to these laws. In this category, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will evaluate and assign scores to the narrative responses provided by applicants. Applications that furnish all necessary information and make a binding commitment to comply with the established labor requirements as stipulated in the BEAD NOFO will receive up to 35 points in this category. Points will be awarded based on the information provided for each aspect of the fair labor category. Applications that do not provide any response will receive 0 points in this category.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will score fair labor practices for non-priority projects based on criteria listed in the Table below.

Criteria	Non-Priority Projects Points
Compliance with state and federal employment laws	20
Disclosure showing no applicant violations	5
Disclosure showing no contractor and/or subcontractor violations	5
Workplace safety committees	5

Table 14: Fair Labor Practice Scoring Criteria for Non-Priority Projects

Secondary Selection Criteria for Non-Priority Projects

• Speed to Deployment for Non-Priority Broadband Projects – 10 Maximum Points: All recipients of BEAD Program funds designated for network deployment are required to execute the planned broadband network and commence delivering services to all subscribers seeking broadband services within the application project area(s) no later than four years after the subgrantee receives the award from the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will assess applications based on their pledged speed of deployment using a sliding scale system as shown in Table below.

Table 15: Speed to Deployment for Non-Priority Projects

Deployment Schedule	Non-Priority Projects Points
< 24 months	10
24 - 36 months	8
36 - 42 months	6
42 – 47 months	4
48 months	0

- Speed of Network and Other Capabilities for Non-Priority Projects 60 Maximum Points: Two elements will be evaluated as part of the technological requirements.
 - a. Applications will be scored based on the network speeds, latency, and other technical capabilities of technologies proposed for the non-priority project. For applications

suggesting the adoption of technologies that offer enhanced scalability with reduced future expenditure for non-priority projects, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will evaluate long-lasting capital assets using a sliding scale system.

Table 16: Speed of Network and Other Capabilities for Non-Priority Projects

Technology	Non-Priority Project Points	
Hybrid fiber coaxial (HFC) DOCSIS 4.0	60	
Hybrid fiber coaxial (HFC) DOCSIS 3.1	52	
Wireless using licensed spectrum 4	22	
Wireless using unlicensed spectrum 2	11	
Low Earth (LEO) satellite	6	

b. The BEAD program advocates for providing open access wholesale opportunities to last-mile broadband service providers throughout the duration of the subsidized network's existence on a fair, equitable, and unbiased terms for all prospective retail service providers. Applicants pledging to offer open access wholesale broadband services at reasonable and non-discriminatory rates and conditions for the entire useful life of the network assets will earn points contingent on the open access particulars outlined in their application. Points will be awarded based on the information furnished for each component of the open access category shown in Table below.

Table 17: Open Access for Non-Priority Projects

Open Access Details	Non-Priority Project Points
Details regarding open access policy	10

Local and Tribal Coordination for Non-Priority Projects – 20 Maximum Points: The BEAD program advocates for the adoption of selection criteria that emphasize the applicant's coordination with local and tribal governments with jurisdiction over the project areas they intend to serve. This regional and tribal coordination is intended to address connectivity gaps where broadband coverage is lacking, allowing tribes, counties, towns, and cities to coordinate with the prospective applicants for their region. As part of the requirements for the BEAD Program, applicants must consult with local and tribal authorities regarding their qualifications and plans within the project area. Points for this category will be awarded based on the degree of collaboration and support demonstrated. By conducting consultations and collaborating with local and tribal authorities, applicants can enhance the effectiveness and success of their project proposal while promoting community involvement and support.

Local governments and tribes have the option to support one or more applicants within the BEAD Program. Scoring within the local and tribal category will depend on the level of details provided for each aspect of the application.

Table 18: Local and Tribal Coordination for Non-Priority Projects

Local and Tribal Coordination Details	Non-Priority Project Points
Local and Tribal Coordination Information and Consultation Meeting	10
Local and Tribal Coordination – Letter of Support	10

- Community Anchor Institutions for Non-Priority Projects 10 Maximum Points: The BEAD Program aims to promote digital equity and expand broadband access in unserved and underserved areas. CAIs play a key role in achieving these objectives by serving as critical community resources for education, healthcare, and emergency services. Applications that have included eligible CAIs as published by the State Broadband Office within the project area as part of the application will be scored. Ten points will be awarded to an application that has the highest number of eligible CAIs included for the project area. Applications that do not include eligible CAIs within their project areas will receive 0 points in this category.
- Equitable Workforce Development and Job Quality for Non-Priority Projects 25 Maximum Points: Applicants are required to present a narrative demonstrating their dedication to making appropriate investments in cultivating a skilled and diverse workforce to fulfill the job requirements and meet the infrastructure development deadlines outlined in their application. For this criterion, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will evaluate and assign scores based on the narrative responses provided. The State Broadband Office will evaluate applicant's narrative provided in the application along with all of the necessary information pertaining to workforce development and commit to fostering a skilled workforce, with a particular emphasis on hiring locally for scoring application using a sliding scale system.

2.4.3 Prioritizing Unserved Service Projects

Describe how the proposed subgrantee selection process will prioritize Unserved Service Projects in a manner that ensures complete coverage of all unserved locations prior to prioritizing Underserved Service Projects followed by prioritization of eligible CAIs.

Based on the preliminary analysis of total BEAD funding allocation for the State of Arizona and the cost estimate to provide fiber to the home (FTTH) to all eligible BSL locations, the State Broadband Office expects there will be funding shortfall to serve all unserved and underserved locations as well as eligible CAIs, currently without access to a gigabit symmetrical service.

To ensure proper assessment and allocation of funding, all proposed projects will be scored for cost reasonableness, which is an assessment against a cost benchmark for the project area. Those projects that are well above the benchmark value will be assessed as part of a second round of applications (deferred applications) to ensure adequate funding is available to serve all unserved and underserved locations, followed by eligible CAIs. The State Broadband Office will ensure that the BEAD Program's goal of connecting all unserved and underserved Arizonans will be achieved.

2.4.4 Prioritizing Eligible CAIs

If proposing to use BEAD funds to prioritize non-deployment projects prior to, or in lieu of the deployment of services to eligible CAIs, provide a strong rationale for doing so. If not applicable to plans, note "Not applicable."

Not Applicable.

2.4.5 Compliance with EHP and BABA Requirements

The proposed subgrantee selection process is expected to demonstrate to subgrantees how to comply with all applicable Environmental and Historic Preservation (EHP) and Build America, Buy America Act (BABA)6 requirements for their respective project or projects. Describe how the Eligible Entity will communicate EHP and BABA requirements to prospective subgrantees, and how EHP and BABA requirements will be incorporated into the subgrantee selection process.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will provide comprehensive guidance and resources to prospective subgrantees to ensure that they understand and comply with all applicable State Historical Preservation Act (SHPA), federal Environmental and Historic Preservation (EHP), and Build America, Buy America Act (BABA) requirements. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office understands the importance of adhering to these guidelines, and as such, will ensure that subgrantees are adequately equipped to meet these requirements.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will communicate these requirements through various channels, such as the program's website, training sessions, and application materials. The guidelines will outline all the pertinent SHPA and federal EHP and BABA requirements, and subgrantees will be briefed on the importance of adhering to them during the application process. Additionally, as part of the prequalification process, subgrantees will provide a compliance certification stating how they plan to comply with SHPA and federal EHP and BABA requirements.

Incorporation of the SHPA and federal EHP and BABA requirements into the subgrantee selection process will ensure that compliance is a fundamental aspect of the program from the outset. The eligibility criteria for subgrantees will be structured to ensure that only those candidates who comply with these requirements are considered. The State Broadband Office will monitor subgrantee compliance throughout the project's implementation to ensure that these requirements are adhered to, and that the project's integrity and sustainability are preserved. This will include regular audits, site inspections, and other interventions aimed at ensuring compliance and maintaining our commitment to best practices in the management of the BEAD Program.

2.4.6 Definition of Eligible Project Areas

Describe how the Eligible Entity will define project areas from which they will solicit proposals from prospective subgrantees. If prospective subgrantees will be given the option to define alternative proposed project areas, describe the mechanism for de-conflicting overlapping proposals to allow for like-to-like comparisons of competing proposals.

See Section 2.4.1 for a description of how project areas will be defined and Section 2.4.3.3 Post Application Assessment for a description of the deconfliction process.

2.4.7 Ensuring Universal Coverage in Subsequent Funding Rounds

If no proposals to serve a location or group of locations that are unserved, underserved, or a combination of both are received, describe how the Eligible Entity will engage with prospective subgrantees in subsequent funding rounds to find providers willing to expand their existing or proposed service areas or other actions that the Eligible Entity will take to ensure universal coverage.

There are 22 federally recognized Tribes in Arizona. Governor Hobbs and the Arizona Commerce Authority have actively participated in official tribal consultations with all the federally recognized Tribes in Arizona. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will provide a Resolution of Consent or other formal demonstration of consent from each Tribal Government's Tribal Council or other governing body, upon whose Tribal Lands the infrastructure will be deployed to NTIA. The State Broadband Office will require that the resolution of consent, or any substitute document used at request of the Tribal Government, be submitted by the applicant at the time of application along with other relevant documents demonstrating that holistic local coordination occurred.

2.4.8 Tribal Government Consent

Describe how the Eligible Entity intends to submit proof of Tribal Governments' consent to deployment if planned projects include any locations on Tribal Lands.

There are 22 federally recognized Tribes in Arizona. Governor Hobbs and the Arizona Commerce Authority have actively participated in official tribal consultations with all the federally recognized Tribes in Arizona. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will provide a Resolution of Consent or other formal demonstration of consent from each Tribal Government's Tribal Council or other governing body, upon whose Tribal Lands the infrastructure will be deployed to NTIA. The State Broadband Office will require that the resolution of consent, or any substitute document used at the request of the Tribal Government, be submitted by the applicant at the time of application along with other relevant documents demonstrating that holistic local coordination occurred.

2.4.9 Identification of Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold

Identify or outline a detailed process for identifying an Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold to be utilized during the subgrantee selection process. The explanation must include a description of any cost models used and the parameters of those cost models, including whether they consider only capital expenditures or include the operational costs for the lifespan of the network.

The extremely high cost per location threshold (EHCPLT) will not be set until Round 1 applications have been received and will be based on an analysis of the funding requirements for actual subgrant proposals received. The process to determine the EHCPLT will involve the use of cost models that consider not only the capital expenditures but also the operational costs for the lifespan of the network.

Arizona will focus on maximizing the coverage of unserved locations with the best available technology given the total pool of subgrant proposals. The state will consider the relative scoring of each proposal but will place the greatest emphasis on the goal of maximizing coverage of unserved locations. If any selection decision requires deviation from relative scores to maximize

coverage, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will provide documentation to NTIA in the Final Proposal.

The State Broadband Office will perform a detailed analysis of data from previous awards in Arizona from state and federal funded programs, including applications received in the CPF, USDA, TBCP and other funding programs as well as per-location cost model data. The detailed analysis will be performed after receiving applications and the State Broadband Office will compare the outcomes to the available budget.

The State Broadband Office will take into account the unique characteristics of each application in determining the EHCPLT. Factors like the amount of funding required, the number of locations served, and the type of technology utilized will be considered in setting the EHCPLT. We will identify the highest cost-per-location values for each type of technology used in the proposals and set the EHCPLT at a level that permits the selection of non-FTTH applications that provide the best available technology for reaching the unserved locations. Additionally, any locations identified as "outliers" will provide critical information on the value for the EHCPLT and which locations may be impacted by the threshold.

The State Broadband Office will also utilize the Eligible Entity Planning Tool to support the identification of the EHCPLT. Due to the extreme difference in geographic features (terrain, ground composition, etc.) across the State of Arizona, we may elect to set different EHCPLTs for regions within the state.

2.4.10 Use of Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold

Outline a plan for how the Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold will be utilized in the subgrantee selection process to maximize the use of the best available technology while ensuring that the program can meet the prioritization and scoring requirements set forth in Section IV.B.6.b of the BEAD NOFO. The response must describe:

a. The process for declining a subgrantee proposal that exceeds the threshold where an alternative technology is less expensive.

When a subgrantee proposal for an end-to-end fiber project exceeds the EHCPLT, it will no longer be assessed as a Priority Broadband Project and will be considered a non-priority project. The end-to-end fiber projects will be assessed alongside non-priority projects and alternative technologies that meet the BEAD Program's technical requirements for reliable broadband service. This ensures that BEAD funding is utilized in the most efficient manner to reach every unserved and underserved location in Arizona.

b. The plan for engaging subgrantees to revise their proposals and ensure locations do not require a subsidy.

The EHCPLT will be set after Round 1 applications are received and assessed. The State Broadband Office will determine whether the available BEAD funding is sufficient to expand high-speed internet to all unserved and underserved locations in the State of Arizona at a reasonable cost. By assessing the proposals first, it allows the use of outlier locations to assist in defining the EHCPLT. In the event there is a Priority Broadband Project that is above the EHCPLT, the applications will be considered "deferred applications" and addressed after other proposals are reviewed and assessed. The EHCPLT could be utilized as a trigger for negotiations and a target to negotiate toward for deferred applications. The State Broadband Office reserves the right to conduct a validation of the proposed budget to ensure compliance with the BEAD Program allowable expenses and that the quantities, prices, hours, and compensation rates proposed are reasonable and fair.

c. The process for selecting a proposal that involves a less costly technology and may not meet the definition of Reliable Broadband.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office intends to prioritize projects and technologies that meet the definition of Reliable Broadband. However, we recognize there may be instances where the subsidy required to fund the broadband deployment project is not feasible. In the event there is no reliable broadband service technology that meets the BEAD Program's technical requirements for a subsidy of less than the EHCPLT, the State Broadband Office will consider technologies that do not meet the definition of Reliable Broadband service but satisfies the technical requirements and is robust, affordable, and scalable considering the circumstances of the location. At a minimum, the technology must be able to provide internet service at speeds of 100/20 Mbps and latency less than or equal to 100 milliseconds at a lower cost. The State Broadband Office will consider technologies, such as low earth orbit (LEO) satellite internet access, as a potential solution for the expansion of internet access and will reference NTIA guidance, leading practices, and successful deployments in other states and jurisdictions to determine how the program should be operated.

2.4.11 Ensuring Minimum Financial Capability

Describe how the Eligible Entity will ensure prospective subgrantees deploying network facilities meet the minimum qualifications for financial capability as outlined on pages 72-73 of the BEAD NOFO. If the Eligible Entity opts to provide application materials related to the BEAD subgrantee selection process, the Eligible Entity may reference those to outline alignment with requirements for this section. The response must:

a. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to certify that they are qualified to meet the obligations associated with a Project, that prospective subgrantees will have available funds for all project costs that exceed the amount of the grant, and that prospective subgrantees will comply with all Program requirements, including service milestones. To the extent the Eligible Entity disburses funding to subgrantees only upon completion of the associated tasks, the Eligible Entity will require each prospective subgrantee to certify that it has and will continue to have sufficient financial resources to cover its eligible costs for the Project until such time as the Eligible Entity authorizes additional disbursements.

Pursuant to 2.4.11 (c), during the prequalification round, potential subgrantees will be required to submit audited or independently reviewed financial statements from the past three years. If these statements are not available, unaudited financial statements from the previous year accompanied by a narrative explanation as to why audited statements were unavailable, will be accepted. Additionally, unaudited interim financial statements for the current year-to-date period must be provided. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will perform a ratio analysis on these financial statements to assess the organization's financial capacity and operational sustainability.

To certify and guarantee the subgrantee's financial capability, the applicant must provide a statement signed by an executive with the authority to bind the company. During Round 1 or 2 of the subgrantee application process, applicants in Arizona will be required to certify that

they have access to the available funds for all project costs that exceed the grant amount by providing documentation from a third-party financial institution.

If the subgrantee is planning to finance costs that exceed the grant amount, the State Broadband Office will evaluate the financial feasibility of proposed financing. Applicants will also be required to guarantee compliance with all program requirements, including deployment milestones. The subgrantee may also submit an optional narrative attachment detailing any relevant financial changes that have occurred since the submission of their prequalification materials.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will only disburse funds on a cost reimbursement basis after a prospective subgrantee have completed service milestones and their associated tasks for the project area. The State Broadband Office will require, prior to disbursements, the prospective subgrantee to certify by an authorized officer of the prospective subgrantee and approved by their governing board that the prospective subgrantee has available funds to cover its eligible costs until the State Broadband Office authorizes additional disbursements upon satisfactorily completion of service milestones and their associated tasks. The State Broadband Office will follow federal and state requirements for disbursement of funds, and anticipates leveraging the forms, guidelines and processes for payment disbursement it has used in previous grant programs that are familiar to both the Arizona Commerce Authority and prospective subgrantees.

b. Detail how the Eligible Entity plans to establish a model letter of credit substantially similar to the model letter of credit established by the FCC in connection with the Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (RDOF).

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will assess the recent guidance from NTIA regarding a programmatic waiver of the Letter of Credit requirement in the BEAD NOFO. The State Broadband Office understands that the LOC requirement for subgrantees of all Eligible Entities can be addressed in the following ways:

- Allow Credit Unions to Issue LOCs. The NOFO requires subgrantees to obtain a LOC from a U.S. bank with a safety rating issued by Weiss of B- or better. The waiver permits subgrantees to fulfill the LOC Requirement (or any alternative permitted under the waiver) utilizing any United States credit union that is insured by the National Credit Union Administration and that has a credit union safety rating issued by Weiss of B- or better.
- Allow Use of Performance Bonds. The waiver permits a subgrantee to provide a performance bond equal to 100 percent of the BEAD subaward amount in lieu of a letter of credit, provided that the bond is issued by a company holding a certificate of authority as an acceptable surety on federal bonds as identified in the Department of Treasury Circular 570.
- Allow Eligible Entities to Reduce the Obligation Upon Completion of Milestones. The waiver allows an Eligible Entity to reduce the amount of the letter of credit obligation below 25 percent over time, or reduce the amount of the performance bond below 100 percent over time, upon a subgrantee meeting deployment milestones specified by the Eligible Entity.
- Allow for an Alternative Initial LOC or Performance Bond Percentage. The NOFO requires that the initial amount of the letter of credit be 25 percent of the subaward (or the

initial amount of the performance bond be 100 percent of the subaward under the option described above). The waiver allows the initial amount of the letter of credit or performance bond to be 10 percent of the subaward amount during the entire period of performance when an Eligible Entity issues funding on a reimbursable basis consistent with Section IV.C.1.b of the NOFO and reimbursement is for periods of no more than six months each.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will further evaluate alternative forms of security allowable under the updated guidance for its suitability for the BEAD program.

c. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to submit audited financial statements.

As stated in the response for 2.4.11 (a), potential subgrantees will be required to submit audited or independently reviewed financial statements from the past three years. If these statements are not available, unaudited financial statements from the previous year accompanied by a narrative explanation as to why audited statements were unavailable, will be accepted. Additionally, unaudited interim financial statements for the current year to date must be provided.

d. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to submit business plans and related analyses that substantiate the sustainability of the proposed project.

During the subgrantee selection process, applicants will be required to complete a predesigned pro forma template provided by the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office as part of the Round 1 and 2 project applications. In addition to this, they must include a budget narrative that explains the assumptions used in the pro forma and any expected financial challenges. The pro forma will require the applicant to provide anticipated capital expenditures (CapEx), operational expenditures (OpEx), projected number of subscribers (including unserved and underserved BSLs as well as any other potential subscribers), and service pricing as minimum requirements.

The pro forma in Arizona will span a period of ten years, consisting of three years of historical data and seven years of projected financial data. This ten-year span will allow the State Broadband Office to evaluate the financial health of a proposed project. We will scrutinize the pro forma to ensure that, using reasonable assumptions (e.g., achievable take rate and acceptable pricing), the subgrantee demonstrates positive cash flow within the ten-year time horizon.

2.4.11.1 Supporting Documentation for BEAD Subgrantee Selection Process

Optional Attachment: As an optional attachment, submit application materials related to the BEAD subgrantee selection process, such as drafts of the Requests for Proposals for deployment projects, and narrative to crosswalk against requirements in the Deployment Subgrantee Qualifications section.

2.4.12 Ensuring Managerial Capability

Describe how the Eligible Entity will ensure any prospective subgrantee deploying network facilities meets the minimum qualifications for managerial capability as outlined on pages 73 – 74 of the BEAD NOFO. If the Eligible Entity opts to provide application materials related to the BEAD subgrantee selection process,

the Eligible Entity may reference those to outline alignment with requirements for this section. The response must:

a. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to submit resumes for key management personnel.

During the prequalification round, applicants will be expected to submit one-page resumes, accompanied by an organization chart and a narrative explanation of the roles and responsibilities of all relevant financial, technical, and managerial key personnel that would be involved in a BEAD broadband deployment project. One of the key personnel must fill the role of Project Manager who will serve as the main point of contact for the project. All key personnel should be employees of the firm, rather than contractors.

Each resume should demonstrate relevant experience with broadband projects of similar scope and scale. The resumes and accompanying narrative will allow the State Broadband Office to assess the qualifications and experience of key personnel and ensure that they are well-equipped to deliver a successful broadband project.

b. Detail how it will require prospective subgrantees to provide a narrative describing their readiness to manage their proposed project and ongoing services provided.

During the prequalification phase, applicants will be requested to submit an organizational chart that includes all relevant personnel within the organization who are likely to have a role on a potential broadband project.

In addition, the applicant will be requested to provide organization qualifications detailing prior experience with broadband/telecommunications deployment projects and other projects of a comparable scope. Each project experience description should include the construction cost, date of project start and completion, and the value that the applicant delivered to the project.

2.4.13 Ensuring Technical Capability

Describe how the Eligible Entity will ensure any prospective subgrantee deploying network facilities meets the minimum qualifications for technical capability as outlined on page 74 of the BEAD NOFO. If the Eligible Entity opts to provide application materials related to the BEAD subgrantee selection process, the Eligible Entity may reference those to outline alignment with requirements for this section. The response must:

a. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to certify that they are technically qualified to complete and operate the Project and that they are capable of carrying out the funded activities in a competent manner, including that they will use an appropriately skilled and credentialed workforce.

As described in 2.4.12 (b), as part of the prequalification process, applicants will be requested to provide a narrative of project experience of comparable scope and scale to illustrate previous experience completing successful projects.

Additionally, during both the prequalification phase and Round 1 and Round 2, applicants must certify that they have employed personnel with relevant certifications for deployment projects as mandated by state and federal law and reflective of industry best practices. The relevant personnel should include a chief technology officer, project engineer, and contractor oversight team. Furthermore, applicants must certify that all contracted resources will possess the necessary skills and qualifications.

Applicants must also provide a detailed narrative of their contractor selection process, including which skills, certifications, qualifications, or training programs will be required for each role. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will evaluate these materials to confirm adherence to industry best practices, as well as compliance with relevant state and federal law. This process ensures that all personnel, as well as contracted resources, are equipped with the necessary skills, qualifications, and certifications to successfully deploy broadband projects.

b. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to submit a network design, diagram, project costs, build-out timeline and milestones for project implementation, and a capital investment schedule evidencing complete build-out and the initiation of service within four years of the date on which the entity receives the subgrant, all certified by a professional engineer, stating that the proposed network can deliver broadband service that meets the requisite performance requirements to all locations served by the Project.

During Round 1 and 2 applications, applicants will be requested to provide a detailed plan for the proposed project which includes a network design, a diagram, a detailed project cost breakdown, and a project timeline complete with milestones for 25 percent, 50 percent, 75 percent, and 100 percent completion. Furthermore, applicants will be required to submit the capital investment schedule as part of the pro forma template.

To ensure that the proposed network meets the requisite performance requirements for all locations served by the project, the design and project plans must be certified by a professional engineer licensed in the state of Arizona. Additionally, Arizona licensed professional engineer sign-off is required at the completion of the project to confirm the deployed network was constructed and is operating as designed.

The State Broadband Office may also use third-party contracted professional services to evaluate proposals and verify that the proposed project is achievable within the prescribed four-year timeline. This process will help to ensure that the proposed projects can deliver on the objectives and lead to successful deployment of broadband infrastructure across Arizona.

2.4.14 Ensuring Compliance with Applicable Laws

Describe how the Eligible Entity will ensure any prospective subgrantee deploying network facilities meets the minimum qualifications for compliance with applicable laws as outlined on page 74 of the BEAD NOFO. If the Eligible Entity opts to provide application materials related to the BEAD subgrantee selection process, the Eligible Entity may reference those to outline alignment with requirements for this section. The response must:

a. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to demonstrate that they are capable of carrying out funded activities in a competent manner in compliance with all applicable federal, state, territorial, and local laws.

Applicants will be requested to submit as part of their prequalification materials evidence of past compliance with applicable federal, state, and local laws, or disclose any past violations. The response for this requirement must be in the form of an attestation from an officer/director of the organization. Applicants will be scored on their planned commitment to fair labor practices and history of past violations. This thorough process guarantees that all subgrantees

meet the requisite legal and regulatory standards necessary to carry out broadband deployment projects in Arizona successfully.

b. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to permit workers to create workerled health and safety committees that management will meet with upon reasonable request.

Applicants seeking to deploy network facilities in Arizona must certify that they will permit workers to create worker-led health and safety committees that management will meet with upon reasonable request. This certification will be requested in the form of an attestation during the prequalification phase. The State Broadband Office may provide a model policy for subgrantees to adopt to fulfill this requirement. If the applicant fails to meet this requirement, they will be disqualified.

To ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the State Broadband Office will formulate specific intake questions and collect documentation related to compliance with occupational safety and health requirements, including worker-led health and safety committees.

To ensure correct methods of implementation, we will review and collect documentation from qualified personnel and hire additional staff or contractors, if necessary. The State Broadband Office will communicate these requirements through the grant application instructions and grant agreement terms and conditions.

2.4.15 Ensuring Operational Capabilities

Describe how the Eligible Entity will ensure any prospective subgrantee deploying network facilities meets the minimum qualifications for operational capability as outlined on pages 74 – 75 of the BEAD NOFO. If the Eligible Entity opts to provide application materials related to the BEAD subgrantee selection process, the Eligible Entity may reference those to outline alignment with requirements for this section. The response must:

a. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to certify that they possess the operational capability to qualify to complete and operate the Project.

As described in responses to sections 2.4.11, 2.4.12, 2.4.13, applicants will be required to demonstrate their financial, organizational, and technical capabilities to complete a successful broadband project in Arizona. This includes qualifications for key personnel and evidence of past experience completing similar projects. In addition to those requirements, the State Broadband Office will request as part of the prequalification phase that applicants submit evidence of past successful operations including the number of years they have been operating, current subscribers for household, businesses, and community anchor institutions, and any completed federally funded deployment projects with their source of funding and timeframe for completion or non-completion.

Prospective subgrantees must also provide details on any penalties paid by themselves, any subsidiaries or affiliates, or the holding company relative to deployment projects. Additionally, they must include any relevant details of prior criminal proceedings or civil litigation in Arizona and the number of times they have been a defendant.

b. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to submit a certification that have provided a voice, broadband, and/or electric transmission or distribution service for at least two (2)

consecutive years prior to the date of its application submission or that it is a wholly owned subsidiary of such an entity, attests to and specify the number of years the prospective subgrantee or its parent company has been operating.

As part of the prequalification phase, any entity that has provided voice, broadband, and/or electric transmission or distribution service for at least two consecutive years prior to submitting their application or is a wholly owned subsidiary of such an entity must provide a certification attesting to these facts and specifying the number of years they have been operating. The State Broadband Office will collect and review all documents related to operational capability requirements.

To keep prospective subgrantees informed of the requirements, the State Broadband Office will communicate these operational capability requirements through conducting outreach efforts to relevant stakeholders, posting a list of regulations on their website, and including the requirements in grant application instructions and grant agreement terms, conditions, and monitoring program requirements. This comprehensive approach ensures that all applicants meet the requisite operational capability to deploy broadband infrastructure in Arizona successfully.

c. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees that have provided a voice and/or broadband service, to certify that it has timely filed Commission Form 477s and the Broadband DATA Act submission, if applicable, as required during this time period, and otherwise has complied with the Commission's rules and regulations.

During the prequalification round for subgrantees seeking to deploy broadband infrastructure, those who have previously provided voice and/or broadband service must certify that they have filed FCC Form 477s and the Broadband DATA Act submission, as applicable and required and complied with the FCC's rules and regulations. This certification will be done via a checkbox on the application form.

To verify these claims, the State Broadband Office will cross-check with public records to confirm the dates of submission. This ensures that prospective subgrantees have complied with FCC regulations before being considered eligible for broadband infrastructure deployment subgrant funding in Arizona.

d. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees that have operated only an electric transmission or distribution service, to submit qualified operating or financial reports, that it has filed with the relevant financial institution for the relevant time period along with a certification that the submission is a true and accurate copy of the reports that were provided to the relevant financial institution.

During the prequalification round for subgrantees seeking to deploy broadband infrastructure, potential subgrantees must submit audited financial statements from the past three years. If audited financial statements are not available, the applicant should submit unaudited financial statements from the previous year accompanied by an explanatory narrative for why audited statements were not available. Additionally, subgrantees should also provide unaudited interim financial statements for the current year to date.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will conduct a ratio analysis on the financial statements to evaluate the organization's financial capacity and operational sustainability. It's important to note that this requirement applies to all prospective

subgrantees, including those that have operated only an electric transmission or distribution service, and the materials provided to meet this requirement must also satisfy 2.4.11 (a). This thorough approach helps to ensure that only financially stable and operationally sustainable subgrantees receive funding for the deployment of broadband infrastructure in Arizona.

e. In reference to new entrants to the broadband market, detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to provide evidence sufficient to demonstrate that the newly formed entity has obtained, through internal or external resources, sufficient operational capabilities.

Prospective subgrantees seeking to submit an application for grant funding to deploy broadband infrastructure must provide evidence sufficient to demonstrate that they have obtained, through internal or external resources, sufficient operational capabilities. New entrants seeking to deploy broadband infrastructure will be held to the same threshold as all other applicants and required to provide documentation illustrating their qualifications.

Examples of sufficient evidence of operational capabilities may include resumes from key personnel, project descriptions and narratives from contractors, subcontractors or other partners with relevant operational experience or other comparable evidence.

The State Broadband Office will communicate these requirements through conducting outreach efforts to relevant stakeholders and including the requirements in grant application instructions and grant agreement terms, conditions, and monitoring program requirements.

2.4.16 Ensuring Ownership

Describe how the Eligible Entity will ensure that any prospective subgrantee deploying network facilities meets the minimum qualifications for providing information on ownership as outlined on page 75 of the BEAD NOFO. If the Eligible Entity opts to provide application materials related to the BEAD subgrantee selection process, the Eligible Entity may reference those to outline alignment with requirements for this section. The response must:

a. Detail how the Eligible Entity will require prospective subgrantees to provide ownership information consistent with the requirements set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 1.2112(a)(1)-(7).

During the prequalification phase, applicants will be requested to submit the relevant ownership information as required by 47 C.F.R. § 1.2112(a)(1)-(7).

2.4.17 Disclosure of Other Publicly Funded Projects

Describe how the Eligible Entity will ensure any prospective subgrantee deploying network facilities meets the minimum qualifications for providing information on other public funding as outlined on pages 75 – 76 of the BEAD NOFO. If the Eligible Entity opts to provide application materials related to the BEAD subgrantee selection process, the Eligible Entity may reference those to outline alignment with requirements for this section. The response must:

a. Detail how it will require prospective subgrantees to disclose for itself and for its affiliates, any application the subgrantee or its affiliates have submitted or plan to submit, and every broadband deployment project that the subgrantee or its affiliates are undertaking or have committed to undertake at the time of the application using public funds.

Prospective subgrantees seeking to deploy broadband infrastructure must submit a list of all publicly funded state and federal broadband deployment projects for which they have

submitted or plan to submit an application, in addition to any publicly funded broadband deployment project that the applicant or its affiliates are undertaking or plan to undertake. This information will be requested as part of the prequalification materials.

During the prequalification phase, the State Broadband Office will confirm the completion and validity of this information. During Round 1 and Round 2 applications when applicants are applying for a specific project area(s), we will consider the outstanding commitments and assess the applicant's capacity to meet those commitments, as well as their BEAD commitments. This will be based on a holistic review of the application and the subgrantee's financial, managerial, technical, and operational capabilities. This comprehensive approach helps to ensure that all subgrantees are fully committed and able to deploy broadband infrastructure in Arizona successfully.

b. At a minimum, the Eligible Entity shall require the disclosure, for each broadband deployment project, of: (a) the speed and latency of the broadband service to be provided (as measured and/or reported under the applicable rules), (b) the geographic area to be covered, (c) the number of unserved and underserved locations committed to serve (or, if the commitment is to serve a percentage of locations within the specified geographic area, the relevant percentage), (d) the amount of public funding to be used, (e) the cost of service to the consumer, and (f) the matching commitment, if any, provided by the subgrantee or its affiliates.

During Round 1 and Round 2 of the application process, applicants must provide detailed information for each project listed in 2.4.17 (a). This information includes:

- The speed and latency of the broadband service to be provided, as measured and/or reported under the applicable rules.
- Identification of the geographic area to be covered.
- The number of unserved and underserved locations committed to serve.
- The amount of public funding to be used.
- The cost of service to the consumer.
- The matching commitment provided by the subgrantee or its affiliates.

This detailed information will be assessed by the State Broadband Office for the viability and impact of the proposed broadband infrastructure deployment projects and ensure that they meet the requirements of the broadband program.

2.5 Non-Deployment Subgrantee Selection (Requirement 9)

2.5.1 Fair, Open and Competitive Non-Deployment Selection Process

Describe a fair, open, and competitive subgrantee selection process for eligible non-deployment activities. Responses must include the objective means, or process by which objective means will be developed, for selecting subgrantees for eligible non-deployment activities. If the Eligible Entity does not intend to subgrant for non-deployment activities, indicate such.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to achieving universal high-speed internet connectivity for all Arizonans by prioritizing the realization of its Five-Year Action Plan's mission. The plan's primary goal is to ensure every community in Arizona, including CAIs, has access to affordable, reliable, and scalable high-speed internet connectivity. To achieve this goal, the State Broadband Office intends to provide deployed service coverage to unserved and underserved areas first and secondly connect eligible CAIs without a gigabit connection as funding is available. However, because preliminary analysis shows insufficient funding to cover deployment activities to achieve universal coverage as well as use funding for any non-deployment activities.

2.5.2 Eligible Entity's plan

Describe the Eligible Entity's plan for the following:

- a. How the Eligible Entity will employ preferences in selecting the type of non-deployment initiatives it intends to support using BEAD Program funds;
- b. How the non-deployment initiatives will address the needs of residents within the jurisdiction;
- c. The ways in which engagement with localities and stakeholders will inform the selection of eligible nondeployment activities; and
- d. How the Eligible Entity will determine whether other uses of the funds might be more effective in achieving the BEAD Program's equity, access, and deployment goals.

Not Applicable.

2.5.3 Ensuring the Priority of Universal Coverage

Describe the Eligible Entity's plan to ensure coverage to all unserved and underserved locations prior to allocating funding to non-deployment activities.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office's highest priority is to utilize BEAD Program funds to provide affordable, reliable, and scalable broadband infrastructure to every unserved and underserved location in Arizona, followed by equipping eligible CAIs lacking symmetrical gigabit access. However, because preliminary analysis shows that there are not sufficient funds to cover deployment activities to achieve universal coverage, Arizona is not planning to allocate funding to non-deployment activities.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is planning to develop and deploy a State Broadband Map in Spring 2024. We will track every broadband serviceable location (BSL) in Arizona with the National Broadband Map and include changes to the location status from the Challenge Process and deduplication of each BSL. This process will ensure the unserved and underserved BSLs are the priority for BEAD funds.

After the prequalification phase outlined in Chapter 2.4 – Deployment Subgrantee Selection, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will begin accepting applications for Round One for project areas. Proposals must serve all BEAD eligible BSLs within the defined project areas. However, for project areas that failed to receive suitable proposals in Round One, the State Broadband Office intends to proceed with Round Two BEAD funding to fund the project areas that remain.

2.5.4 Ensuring General Qualifications

Describe how the Eligible Entity will ensure prospective subgrantees meet the general qualifications outlined on pages 71 – 72 of the NOFO.

Preliminary analysis shows that there are insufficient funds to cover deployment activities to achieve universal coverage as well as use funding for any non-deployment activities. As such, State Broadband Office will not award subgrants to any non-deployment activities.

2.6 Eligible Entity Implementation Activities (Requirement 10)

2.6.1 State Initiatives without Subgrants

Describe any initiatives the Eligible Entity proposes to implement as the recipient without making a subgrant, and why it proposes that approach.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has outlined its implementation strategy in the Five-Year Action Plan. The State Broadband Office has extensive experience in managing broadband projects and grant programs as indicated below.

- Arizona Middle-Mile Program: The Arizona Commerce Authority, in partnership with the ADOT and other key stakeholders, led the Arizona Middle-Mile Program initiative to plan and implement an open-access backbone network on interstates and other state routes as outlined in the Arizona Statewide Broadband Middle-Mile Strategic Plan. The first phase of this network, which received \$158 million in funding, includes 200 miles of critical corridors, namely Interstate 17 and Interstate 19. The project will provide a vital backbone for facilitating last-mile broadband projects. The next phase of the network will connect Interstate 40 West, from the California border to Flagstaff, consisting of 202 miles of open-access network. The State Broadband Office will be responsible for developing and administering this program, which will be a significant step towards promoting broadband access and adoption across Arizona.
- Arizona Broadband Development Grant (ABDG) Program: Under the ABDG program, the State Broadband Office has awarded \$92.7 million to provide high-speed internet connectivity to unserved and underserved areas across Arizona. This program is expected to develop approximately 2,900 miles of fiber-optic network, bringing broadband access to more than 711,000 Arizonans as well as 563 community anchor institutions. The State Broadband Office is responsible for administering the ABDG program, which will lay the foundation for the BEAD program. By providing high-quality and reliable broadband access in unserved and underserved areas, these projects will help bridge the digital divide in Arizona and contribute to the state's long-term economic growth and development.
- Rural Broadband Development Grant (RBDG): In 2018, eligible applicants in Arizona were awarded subgrants as part of a \$3 million state-funded grant program to expand broadband services in underserved rural areas across the state. The RBDG program supports broadband planning and deployment efforts, ensuring that Arizona communities have access to reliable and affordable high-speed internet access at speeds and prices equal to national averages in rural areas. The State Broadband Office is responsible for administering this program. Because of this experience, the State Broadband Office team, along with expert consultants and other Arizona Commerce Authority staff, will implement the following activities without making subgrants.
- **Development and Publication of a Public State Broadband Map**: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is working on developing a publicly accessible State Broadband Map to be released in early 2024. The map will highlight areas supported by the

Capital Projects Fund (CPF), state funded projects, federal funded projects, and private investments by ISPs. The primary goal of the map is to monitor Arizona's progress in achieving universal connectivity, and be a valuable tool for stakeholders, policymakers, and the public to identify areas where infrastructure development is most crucial.

- **Technical Assistance**: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to supporting local and tribal governments, ISPs, and Tribal Telecoms in their broadband mapping activities. We will offer technical assistance and other resources via their stakeholder engagement program to help these entities undertake accurate mapping and analysis of Arizona's broadband infrastructure. The State Broadband Office plans to work closely with counties and Tribal Nations to identify the most effective methods for reducing the broadband coverage gap in the state.
- Implementation of the Challenge Process: The Arizona Commerce Authority plans to utilize BEAD funding to support and implement the Challenge Process effectively. This will include developing the Challenge Process portal and conducting various tasks such as mapping activities, software development, and engaging with ISPs, local governments, and non-profit organizations.
- **Subgrantee Selection Process Implementation**: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will be responsible for performing the subgrantee selection processes for the BEAD Program. This will involve developing, managing, and implementing the grant administration process, which includes pre-registration, selection, challenge, rebuttal, and adjudicative processes.
- Workforce Development in Broadband Deployment: The Arizona Commerce Authority places a significant emphasis on workforce development to promote and expand the state's economy. The organization collaborates with existing companies and actively recruits new companies to expand their operations in Arizona, helping to create new jobs and enterprises across various industries. As part of its efforts, the Arizona Commerce Authority partners with entrepreneurs and businesses of all sizes to encourage growth. The State Broadband Office is instrumental in supporting the development and deployment of job training and apprenticeship programs through stakeholder engagement. Working closely with relevant state agencies, ISPs, industry, institutions of higher education and nonprofits, especially among BEAD subgrantees, the State Broadband Office and the office of Governor Hobbs will network and convene via the Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council workforce development working group.
- Administrative Tasks for Grant Management of Subgrantees: The Arizona Commerce Authority will be responsible for the administration and management of the BEAD and Digital Equity Capacity grants, utilizing highly skilled subject matter experts to ensure the program's success. We will adopt proven processes from the Capital Projects Fund (CPF) to manage the BEAD Program efficiently and ensure that the BEAD Program is appropriately staffed to provide effective support to subgrantees, enabling them to successfully deliver projects that meet the program's objectives.

2.7 Labor Standards and Protection (Requirement 11)

2.7.1 Prospective Subgrantee Labor Requirements

Describe the specific information that prospective subgrantees will be required to provide in their applications and how the Eligible Entity will weigh that information in its competitive subgrantee selection processes. Information from prospective subgrantees must demonstrate the following and must include information about contractors and subcontractors.

The State Broadband Office is strongly committed to meeting the labor standards and protecting workers. We will prioritize subgrantees that share our commitment to transparency, quality, labor compliance, and that are in alignment with our values and objectives.

The subgrantee selection process is designed to evaluate demonstrated past record of historical compliance with laws such as Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, and other applicable labor and employment laws for the preceding three years. To that end, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will score, as part of the Fair Labor Standards criteria, the prospective subgrantees' commitments and include those commitments in the grant agreement as legally binding terms.

Further details are outlined in the responses below.

- a. Prospective subgrantees' record of past compliance with federal labor and employment laws, which:
 - *I. Must address information on these entities' compliance with federal labor and employment laws on broadband deployment projects in the last three years;*

To ensure that subgrantees uphold labor standards and protect workers, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will undertake a rigorous review process as a part of the application acceptance process that focuses on the previous three years. We recognize that past record is often a reliable indicator of future actions, making it critical to evaluate potential subgrantees thoroughly.

By concentrating on the previous three years, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will be able to obtain a comprehensive understanding of the entity's compliance with current requirements and best practices in the industry. This approach will help identify and select compliant subgrantees capable of achieving our strategic objectives and core values, particularly labor compliance.

II. Should include a certification from an Officer/Director-level employee (or equivalent) of the prospective subgrantee evidencing consistent past compliance with federal labor and employment laws by the subgrantee, as well as all contractors and subcontractors; and

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require a certification from a senior Officer/Director-level employee from the prospective subgrantee's organization evidencing consistent past compliance with federal labor and employment laws by the subgrantee, as well as all contractors and subcontractors.

III. Should include written confirmation that the prospective subgrantee discloses any instances in which it or its contractors or subcontractors have been found to have violated laws such as the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, or any other applicable labor and employment laws for the preceding three years.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require prospective subgrantees to disclose any past violations. Specifically, they will be required to provide written confirmation of any instances in the preceding three years where they, or their affiliated contractors or subcontractors, violated regulations covered under the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, or any other relevant labor and employment law.

b. Prospective subgrantees' plans for ensuring compliance with federal labor and employment laws, which must address the following:

To ensure compliance with applicable federal labor and employment laws, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require prospective subgrantees and their affiliated contractors or subcontractors to submit a plan outlining how they intend to monitor and ensure adherence to labor and employment laws.

The plan should address how they will conduct internal audits and investigations to identify and correct any potential violations of labor rules and regulations promptly. Additionally, it should detail how they will maintain records of worker classifications, hours worked, wages earned, and other relevant employment documentation, as well as how they will address any employee complaints or grievances.

- I. How the prospective subgrantee will ensure compliance in its own labor and employment practices, as well as that of its contractors and subcontractors, including:
 - a. Information on applicable wage scales and wage and overtime payment practices for each class of employees expected to be involved directly in the physical construction of the broadband network; and

To ensure compliance with labor and employment laws, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require subgrantees to provide detailed information on the wage structures of employees projected to be directly involved in the physical construction of the broadband network.

Furthermore, Arizona Commerce Authority will require a detailed account of the labor and employment practices that each prospective subgrantee employs relating to wages and overtime payments. This information will include data on starting hourly wages, pay rates for other job positions, overtime pay rates, and structures for deciding/promoting additional wage increases.

This requirement will enable the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office to evaluate the adequacy of the proposed wage structures and assess the subgrantee's compliance with labor and employment laws.

b. How the subgrantee will ensure the implementation of workplace safety committees that are authorized to raise health and safety concerns in connection with the delivery of deployment projects.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes that ensuring workplace safety is an ongoing effort and requires a continuous dialogue. To achieve this, we will emphasize the importance of subgrantees establishing robust workplace safety plans.

Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will score on the subgrantee's establishment of workplace safety committees with the authority to raise concerns about health and safety in the workplace or on worksites. By doing so, we will encourage a culture where safety is a core value and a top priority for all workers involved in the BEAD projects.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to fostering an environment where all workers are in a safe and healthy work environment that places their well-being at the forefront. Implementing safety committees actively involves workers in the planning, implementation, and oversight of safety protocols and complements our commitment to labor compliance and workplace safety.

2.7.2 Compliance with Federal Labor and Employment Laws

Describe in detail whether the Eligible Entity will make mandatory for all subgrantees (including contractors and subcontractors) any of the following and, if required, how it will incorporate them into binding legal commitments in the subgrants it makes:

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes that identifying subgrantees who comply with federal labor and employment laws is critical to ensuring the effective implementation of BEAD projects. To further ensure that all subgrantees uphold robust labor standards and safeguards for project workers, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require each applicant to submit detailed compliance information.

a. Using a directly employed workforce, as opposed to a subcontracted workforce;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office strongly encourages the use of a directly employed workforce to allow for greater workforce oversight and management. A directly employed workforce will be weighed higher on the application scoring rubric.

b. Paying prevailing wages and benefits to workers, including compliance with Davis-Bacon and Service Contract Act requirements, where applicable, and collecting the required certified payrolls;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office strongly encourages compliance with Davis-Bacon and Service Contract requirements, when applicable as outlined in the BEAD NOFO. This will be further reflected in the scoring. Subgrantees that elect to comply with the forementioned requirements will submit a detailed plan outlining the compliance strategy. We will require that applicants submit a compliance plan outlining their strategies for paying prevailing wages and benefits to ensure that subgrantees adhere to federal and state prevailing wage laws. The plan should detail how the applicant intends to maintain compliance with labor practices and those of their contractors and subcontractors.

c. Using project labor agreements (i.e., pre-hire collective bargaining agreements between unions and contractors that govern terms and conditions of employment for all workers on a construction project);

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require prospective subgrantees to provide a comprehensive plan detailing their commitment to employing project labor agreements (PLA). We will request that subgrantees submit comprehensive and transparent plans, emphasizing their commitment to upholding the terms of the PLA (if one is in place).

d. Use of local hire provisions;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes that local hiring provisions can play a crucial role in promoting workforce development for marginalized neighborhoods and underrepresented populations, as well as helping communities to prosper. To that end, we will integrate criteria in the application scoring process around the principle of local hiring provisions. Additionally, the Arizona Commerce Authority will weigh applications with local hiring provisions higher in the application process.

e. Commitments to union neutrality;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to promoting a balanced ecosystem for subgrantees, workers, and unions alike. We emphasize through the scoring criteria the importance for subgrantees to educate their workers about their rights and obligations related to union neutrality.

f. Use of labor peace agreements;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office understands that a labor peace agreement plays a vital role in maintaining continuous project momentum, safeguarding the project's timely completion, and ensuring quality. Although these specified items will not translate into legally binding obligations, we will encourage subgrantees through the application scoring process to provide clarity on how they are planning to address labor peace agreements.

Prospective subgrantees may be requested to provide a plan or strategy that outlines how they will maintain labor peace throughout the project duration. This plan may include details on how they intend to foster a positive labor-management relationship, how they will respond to any labor disputes, and how they will ensure compliance with any applicable labor laws or regulations.

g. Use of an appropriately skilled workforce (e.g., through Registered Apprenticeships or other joint labormanagement training programs that serve all workers, particularly those underrepresented or historically excluded);

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will strongly encourage the prospective subgrantees to promote a skilled workforce through workforce training programs, particularly for historically underrepresented groups as part of BEAD deployment.

To that end, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will deploy a scoring system based on a set of metrics. These metrics will evaluate applicants' strategies for promoting diversity, inclusivity, and workforce training initiatives. Some examples of metrics that could be used are:

• Diversity and Inclusivity Score: Evaluating how the applicant plans to address and promote diversity within their training programs. For instance: Percentage of program participants from historically underrepresented communities.

- Initiatives or partnerships specifically dedicated to groups such as women, racial and ethnic minorities, LGBTQ+ individuals, or persons with disabilities.
- Collaborations with community colleges or vocational training institutes.
- Partnerships with established labor unions.
- Post-Training Supportive Services: Analyzing the strategies for assisting trainees after completing the program.

Applicants will be informed of the detailed scoring metrics to ensure transparency and fairness in the selection process. The system will be designed to ensure that the selected applications adhere to the BEAD NOFO guidelines and bring innovative and effective strategies for workforce training and development that uplift and train the communities that have been historically marginalized or underrepresented in the field.

h. Use of an appropriately credentialed workforce (i.e., satisfying requirements for appropriate and relevant pre-existing occupational training, certification, and licensure); and

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require potential subgrantees to highlight the significance of credentialing in their submissions per the BEAD NOFO guidelines and detail their strategies for verifying educational and professional credentials to ensure that the BEAD workforce is skilled.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will consider the following potential scoring criteria when evaluating an application based on a credentialed workforce:

- Credential Verification Process: We will evaluate the depth of the verification process used by the applicant to confirm the qualifications, certifications, and licenses of workers.
- Credential Passport System: We will award points to applicants who introduce a system that details each worker's skills, qualifications, and experience.
- Recognition of Prior Learning: We will score the applicant based on how they acknowledge and integrate the prior work experience, skills, and experiences of workers outside formal education.

i. Taking steps to prevent the misclassification of workers.

To ensure that both employee rights and employer obligations are upheld throughout the application process and project lifecycle, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will institute a comprehensive framework to prevent workers' misclassification as outlined by the BEAD NOFO with the following:

- Detailed Application Review: During the application process, applicants must provide detailed information about their workforce classification methodologies. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will review these methods to ensure they align with state and federal guidelines.
- *Contractual Agreements*: Once an applicant becomes a subgrantee, the agreements they sign with the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will have clear clauses and penalties related to misclassification. These clauses will ensure that the subgrantee

and contractors understand the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office's importance on correct worker classification.

• Ongoing Monitoring and Audits: Throughout the project lifecycle, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will periodically review the employment practices of subgrantees and their contractors. Regular audits will be conducted.

By embedding these labor standards and protections throughout the application and project lifecycle, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will reinforce its commitment to ensuring that subgrantees and their contractors prioritize the correct classification of workers, ensuring the rights and obligations of all parties involved are upheld.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office acknowledges the labor standards and worker protections in the BEAD NOFO and, while not making them legally binding, expects potential subgrantees to include them in their applications. These standards will serve as criteria during the evaluation process, with clear instructions provided on how to address each item and how they factor into the scoring and evaluation process.

Through these comprehensive measures, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will ensure that all potential subgrantees are well-informed and adequately equipped to align with the desired standards, while promoting a skilled workforce. Arizona Commerce Authority will ensure subgrantees are aware of these requirements prior to and throughout the selection process by conducting informational webinars, and including the requirements in grant applications and instructions as well as grant agreement terms and conditions and subrecipient grant monitoring requirements.

2.8 Workforce Readiness (Requirement 12)

2.8.1 Objectives for a Skilled and Diverse Workforce

Describe how the Eligible Entity and their subgrantees will advance equitable workforce development and job quality objectives to develop a skilled, diverse workforce. At a minimum, this response should clearly provide each of the following, as outlined on page 59 of the BEAD NOFO:

Access to reliable, affordable broadband service is not just about connectivity, it is an essential factor in driving progress, particularly in Tribal Nations and rural communities of Arizona. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to prioritizing equitable access to skill development and employment opportunities for all communities, especially historically marginalized communities.

To drive transformative change, Arizona's skilled and diverse workforce initiatives are underlined by a commitment to foster diversity in the broadband industry. The state is deliberately and actively elevating communities traditionally underrepresented in the broadband industry, such as women, people of color, tribal communities, and other underrepresented groups.

One of the primary goals of the Arizona Commerce Authority is to create a 21st century workforce so Arizonans and Tribal Nations can succeed in the rapidly evolving job market where the state creates, grows and attracts high wage businesses to increase economic development.

The Arizona Commerce Authority's workforce team and the Arizona Office of Economic Opportunity are responsible for expanding the availability of skilled workers in Arizona by collaborating with educational and business partners to develop cooperative workforce solutions catering to industry requirements². For instance, by working alongside Maricopa County Community College District, Central Arizona College, and Pima Community College, the Arizona Commerce Authority established the Arizona Advanced Technology Network, which created a curriculum recognized by industry that fosters skills training particular to the manufacturing sector. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office's initiatives reflect its commitment to developing innovative solutions that address the workforce challenges facing Arizona.

Arizona's workforce development initiatives will prioritize equitable workforce development and job quality objectives to develop a skilled, diverse workforce. The state recognizes that barriers, including a lack of access to broadband services, hinder the development of a skilled workforce. Thus, initiatives will focus on providing access to training, education, and skill-building programs for historically marginalized communities. Arizona is dedicated to fostering diversity in the broadband industry, including deliberately elevating communities traditionally underrepresented in the industry. By prioritizing equity, diversity, and inclusion, Arizona can cultivate a skilled and diverse workforce that reflects the modern values of society and ensures that all individuals have

² <u>https://www.azauditor.gov/sites/default/files/23-116_Report.pdf</u>
access to quality employment. The BEAD planning phase will be critical in recognizing and acting upon the unique needs of these communities.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office envisions a redefined broadband industry whereby quality employment is seamlessly integrated with labor standards and worker safety. By taking deliberate actions to ensure equity, diversity, and inclusion, the State Broadband Office is striving to build a broadband industry that reflects the values of a modern, forward-thinking society.

Deploying broadband infrastructure requires a skilled workforce, including engineers, project managers, construction workers, and technicians, amongst others. However, labor and discriminatory practices can affect the number of individuals available to work in broadband and develop the necessary skills. Unfair labor laws can limit job opportunities, reduce wages, and restrict the creation of skilled jobs. Additionally, discrimination and exclusion can result in a lack of diversity in the labor pool, leading to fewer interested people, skill gaps, and reduced access to experienced labor. To address such challenges, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is working with its partners and state agencies to promote equitable access to employment and education opportunities regardless of race, gender, or other demographic factors. Examples of recent workforce development initiatives in Arizona include:

- In March 2023, the Arizona Office of Economic Opportunity launched a pilot program with Arizona Western Community College to offer a Broadband Fiber Optics Training program to prepare graduates into entry-level positions as Broadband Fiber Optics Technicians.
- The Arizona Commerce Authority has partnered with the Department of Economic Security's Division of Employment and Rehabilitation Services and ARIZONA@WORK to provide job seekers in Arizona with free workforce development services, including skill-building, career guidance, and job placement services.
- The Maricopa Workforce Connections (MWC) is a local workforce development board funded by the Arizona Department of Economic Security that provides a range of services for job seekers and employers, including training programs, job placement assistance, and connections to funding opportunities.
- The Arizona Workforce Development Task Force is a state-led initiative focused on improving workforce development policies and programs to help Arizonans gain the skills and training they need to secure high-quality jobs.
- ARIZONA@WORK is a partnership between different local areas and state agencies that offer workforce development programs to individuals and businesses in Arizona. The public and private partnership has 12 regional areas and 59 local offices.
 - The Workforce Arizona Council, chaired by Governor Hobbs, is responsible for implementing the Governor's strategic vision for a robust and effective workforce system in the State of Arizona.
 - The Local Board represents a wide variety of individuals, businesses, and organizations throughout a local area. Local Boards are critical in ensuring that workforce training and investments are aligned with the needs of a workforce area's economy through the design, delivery, and oversight of the local workforce development system.

- Local areas include: City of Phoenix, Coconino County, Maricopa County, Mohave/La Paz Counties, Nineteen Tribal Nations, Northeastern Arizona, Pima County, Pinal County, Santa Cruz County, Southeastern Arizona, Yavapai County, Yuma County
- In fiscal years 2021 through 2023, the Arizona Commerce Authority received \$2.9 million, \$1.1 million, and \$600,000, respectively, in federal monies from the U.S. Department of Labor's Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act program, a program that serves individuals and helps employers meet their workforce needs.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes that availability of skilled labor and incentives to build up the workforce is a significant concern in deploying broadband infrastructure in Arizona. While the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is currently working with universities and community colleges to develop training programs for broadband, there is still the challenge of a lack of existing skilled labor or public interest in joining the broadband workforce.

Anticipating the significant workforce demands resulting from deployment of the BEAD Program, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require that its subgrantees develop a comprehensive workforce plan in which subgrantees will be asked to illustrate their plans to coordinate with the state to achieve three initiatives to develop a skilled and diverse workforce:

- Strengthening the Role of Education and Training Providers: How subgrantees will
 partner with local educational institutions, vocational training centers, and online learning
 platforms to develop and deliver industry-specific curricula. This initiative aims to promote
 accessible and high-quality education and training programs that enable individuals to acquire
 the skills needed for employment in the broadband industry.
- Leveraging Registered Apprenticeships and Pre-Apprenticeships: How subgrantees will
 promote Registered Apprenticeships and pre-apprenticeships integrated with other highquality work-based learning programs. This approach will provide the workforce with on-thejob training, mentorship, and experience, ultimately preparing them for successful careers in
 the broadband industry.
- Engaging with Employers and Unions: How subgrantees will coordinate with employers and unions as coordination is critical to tailoring the training to industry needs, ensuring that workers learn the skills employers are seeking. Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will request that subgrantees include in their workforce plan the following:
 - A robust training framework: The subgrantee plan must outline a comprehensive training framework that leverages apprenticeships or joint labor-management collaborations. By providing learning opportunities, participants will have access to practical skills and knowledge that will help prepare them for successful careers in the broadband industry.
 - Credential verification process: The subgrantee workforce development plan must include measures to ensure that members of the workforce have industry-recognized training and credentials. By verifying and documenting essential credentials, Arizona can foster a competent workforce that meets industry standards.

- Comprehensive approach to recruitment and job creation: The subgrantee plan must outline a holistic approach to recruitment and job creation, with a focus on demographics underrepresented in the broadband industry. Arizona recognizes that diversity and inclusivity are essential components of a competent and successful workforce.
- Partnership with various organizations: Collaboration with state and territorial agencies, tribal governments, civil rights organizations, labor organizations, higher education institutions, public housing authorities, economic development organizations, internet service providers, faith-based organizations, and representatives of underrepresented communities is essential to the workforce development initiative's success. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office believes that partnerships will enable the development of high-quality programs that meet industry standards while promoting diversity and inclusion.
- a. A description of how the Eligible Entity will ensure that subgrantees support the development and use of a highly skilled workforce capable of carrying out work in a manner that is safe and effective;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will deploy the following measures to encourage subgrantees to support the development and use of highly skilled workforce and foster a safe and effective environment including:

- Strongly encourage through its scoring rubric (see Section 2.7) meeting labor standards and incentivizing efforts to leverage workers from historically disadvantaged group.
- Require prospective subgrantees along with the affiliated subcontractors to submit dynamic workforce development plans to develop a skilled and diverse workforce that meets the demands of the broadband industry while promoting accessible and quality education and training programs.
- Require prospective subgrantees along with the affiliated subcontractors to provide details during the application process on how they plan to promote a culture that prioritizes workforce safety and effectiveness.
- b. A description of how the Eligible Entity will develop and promote sector-based partnerships among employers, education and training providers, the public workforce system, unions and worker organizations, and community-based organizations that provide relevant training and wrap-around services to support workers to access and complete training (e.g., child care, transportation, mentorship), to attract, train, retain, or transition to meet local workforce needs and increase highquality job opportunities;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to fostering sectorbased partnerships to develop a skilled and resilient workforce capable of meeting the evolving needs of the broadband industry. Our approach is based on creating cooperative relationships among employers, education and training providers, the public workforce system, unions, worker organizations, and community-based organizations. The goal is to deliver comprehensive and relevant training and support services that enable workers to complete their training successfully and make significant contributions to the local economy.

Through collaborative partnerships, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will ensure that training and support services meet the evolving demands of the broadband

industry by involving all key stakeholders, including employers, unions, education and training providers, and the public workforce system. These partnerships will promote accessible and high-quality education and training programs that enable individuals to acquire the skills needed for employment in the industry. Arizona is committed to fostering a skilled and resilient workforce that meets the demands of the industry while promoting accessible and quality education and training.

To support the broadband industry, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will adopt a sector strategy as illustrated through a workforce plan tailored explicitly to this industry's unique needs. Our plan will include:

- Talent Pipelines and Skill Gaps: How Arizona will establish regional talent pipelines to ensure that education & training institutions' curriculum integrates with current industry standards. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will identify skill gaps by conducting regular assessments, ensuring prompt action with the help of education providers. These measures will ensure a steady influx of skilled workers into the broadband industry, training with relevant and up-to-date knowledge.
- 2. **Collaboration with Intermediary Organizations**: How Arizona will engage with trusted intermediary organizations to maintain momentum and ensure uniform communication between service providers and broadband employers. Their pivotal role will aid in brokering relationships, setting agendas, and ensuring productive, goal-oriented collaborations.
- 3. **Employer Involvement**: How Arizona will prioritize employer-driven partnerships, engaging subgrantee employers in regular feedback sessions and roundtable discussions.
- 4. **Workforce System Engagement**: To optimize management of operations and funding while getting precise labor market insights, we will place the workforce system at the heart of the workforce plan. This integrated approach aims to foster skilled and adaptable workers for the broadband industry's needs.
- 5. Partnering with Non-Profits: Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will actively forge partnerships with non-profit organizations to open pathways for targeted groups such as persons with disabilities, LGBTQ+, disconnected youth, individuals in recovery, and those with past criminal records, including justice-impacted and reentry participants, serving trainees participating in the SNAP, TANF, and WIC, and veterans and military spouses. Collaboration with these organizations ensures a more diverse and inclusive workforce and provides essential support structures to aid transition into the broadband sector.
- 6. Effective Communication with Partners: With clear, concise, and compelling communication coordinated through the Governor's Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council Workforce Working Group, The State Broadband Office will invest in training our personnel to maintain open and honest dialogue with broadband sector partners and subgrantees. Understanding the partners' concerns directly will enable us to address their needs efficiently.
 - a. To optimize efforts and maintain an accurate pulse on the evolving broadband sector, we will also use the Governor's Interagency and Community Broadband

Advisory Council Workforce Working Group to direct dialogue between employers, training providers, and other stakeholders.

- 7. **Hybrid Training Models**: Arizona will leverage hybrid pre-apprenticeship models, such as the Arizona Department of Economic Security Arizona Apprentice Program³, that blend online theory with hands-on practical training. This initiative will widen accessibility and help trainees gain a holistic education to be ready for the job.
- 8. **Data-Driven Approaches**: Evidence-based approaches remain critical to Arizona's sector strategy. Every decision will be data-backed, ensuring that our efforts maximize return on investment for the community and the broadband industry.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office's sector strategy for the broadband industry seeks to deliver a comprehensive and forward-thinking approach to address employer-driven partnerships and cross-sector collaborations.

c. A description of how the Eligible Entity will plan to create equitable on-ramps into broadband-related jobs, maintain job quality for new and incumbent workers engaged in the sector; and continually engage with labor organizations and community-based organizations to maintain worker voice throughout the planning and implementation process; and

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes the importance of intentional and robust "on-ramps" for meaningful career pathways in the broadband sector. Our approach is to foster these on-ramps, provide job quality, and promote a strong worker voice through engagement with labor and community-based organizations.

- Crafting accessible on-ramps into broadband careers The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will use various approaches to ensure subgrantees support the development and use of a highly skilled workforce. Our approach will include the following components:
 - I. **Visible Entry Points**: The State will encourage subgrantees to set easily identifiable "front doors" that potential workers can access. This will create welcoming platforms for entry, ensuring that individuals interested in broadband careers are met with clarity and support right from the start.
 - II. **Tailored Education**: Arizona recognizes that individuals may have varying skills and will encourage subgrantees to offer tailored educational programs. These programs will focus on bridging knowledge gaps and opening opportunities for career exploration within the broadband sector.
 - III. **21st-Century Skill Development:** Beyond technical knowledge, the State will encourage subgrantees to invest in developing critical soft skills like communication, critical thinking, and creativity, equipping individuals to meet the dynamic demands of modern employers.

³ <u>https://des.az.gov/services/employment/apprenticeship</u>

- IV. Experiential Learning: We will encourage subgrantees to facilitate opportunities for hands-on work experiences and immersive work-based learning, providing a practical edge to theoretical knowledge.
- V. Life Skills and Resilience: Recognizing the challenges that young individuals may face, Arizona will encourage subgrantees to create or utilize programs that assist young individuals in life stabilization and resilience-building. This will empower them to navigate the potential hurdles of employment pathways confidently.
- VI. **Bridging to Postsecondary Opportunities**: The state will encourage subgrantees to focus on postsecondary bridge programs, ensuring that those who wish to delve deeper into academic pursuits can seamlessly do so. Along with this, informed counseling will be available to ensure persistence and support in their postsecondary journey.

By encouraging subgrantees to craft accessible on-ramps into broadband careers, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will provide opportunities for individuals to pursue employment in the broadband sector regardless of their background or education level. Our approach seeks to equip participants with the necessary skills and support to thrive in the industry, promoting a robust and diverse workforce.

- 2. Ensuring Job Quality The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes that job quality is essential to retaining talent and maintaining interest in the broadband sector. To achieve this goal, we will implement the following strategies:
 - I. **Job Quality Assurance**: We will engage with broadband employers to ensure that job roles are continuously reviewed and enhanced, thereby providing employment opportunities and pathways for growth and learning. This will enable workers to obtain job satisfaction and decrease employee turnover.
 - II. **Continuous Skill Enhancement**: For incumbent workers, we will encourage subgrantees to offer avenues for continuous skill enhancement, such as training programs and skills development opportunities. This will ensure that they remain competitive and relevant in their roles. By doing so, we can increase productivity and promote career advancement.

By ensuring that workers are equipped with the necessary skills, support, and resources, we can promote a robust, qualified, and diverse workforce in the broadband sector. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office understands that job quality is crucial to meet the sector's needs, retain talent and promote worker satisfaction. Therefore, we remain committed to working closely with employers to address job quality issues in the broadband sector.

- 3. Engaging with Labor Organizations and Community-Based Organizations The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes the importance of balancing worker voices in planning and implementation. To achieve this goal, we will implement the following strategies:
 - I. **Regular Engagement Opportunities**: The Governor's Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council, Workforce Working Group, which includes labor

organizations and workforce stakeholders, will meet monthly to ensure that worker concerns, needs, and aspirations are consistently heard and addressed. By doing so, the state can promote labor-management partnerships and enable workers to have a say in developing and implementing policies and programs that affect their lives.

- II. **Engagement with Community-Based Organizations**: Recognizing the critical role of community-based organizations (CBOs) in promoting workforce development and social equity, we will actively collaborate with them. Given the funding challenges that many CBOs face, we will synergize efforts, reduce overlaps, and ensure that public and private funds are optimally used. This will enable us to promote community involvement and maximize the impact of our programs.
- III. Develop and Promote Sector-Based Partnerships: The Arizona Commerce Authority is committed to partnering with stakeholders across Arizona to bridge workforce gaps while helping employers gain familiarity with BEAD Program requirements, Arizona workforce mandates, and identifying methods to access labor and worker support. We will seek to serve as an intermediary between counties and service providers, promoting workforce training, strengthening relationships, and encouraging collaboration to develop workforce training programs. The Arizona Commerce Authority currently provides a range of rural economic development workshops, small business workshops, and tribal economic development resources on its website to foster the growth and well-being of Arizona's workforce. Through these efforts, the State Broadband Office is striving to develop a more robust and resilient workforce, improving the state's long-term economic viability.

Our goal to create equitable on-ramps into broadband careers is multi-pronged, informed by research, and rooted in collaboration. We remain committed to shaping a future where the broadband sector is not just a space of employment, but also a realm of opportunities, growth, and empowerment. By working closely with labor organizations and community-based organizations, we can ensure that our programs are equitable, just, and inclusive for all.

d. A description of how the Eligible Entity will ensure that the job opportunities created by the BEAD Program and other broadband funding programs are available to a diverse pool of workers.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will create an accessible, sustainable, and adaptable workforce development framework by integrating the lessons from extensive studies. The broadband sector has immense potential, and we are committed to making it a beacon of inclusive growth and ensuring that our initiatives, such as the BEAD Program, are available to a wide array of workers from diverse backgrounds. To achieve this, we will implement the following strategies:

- Diversifying Apprenticeship Programs The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office aims to create an accessible, sustainable, and adaptable workforce development framework by integrating the lessons from extensive studies.
 - I. **Broadband Workforce Ecosystem**: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will encourage subgrantees to create a broad-based workforce ecosystem for broadband employment to provide an inclusive and diverse

workforce. The ecosystem will facilitate high-quality training and education and enhance the opportunities for workers to acquire skills in the broadband sector.

- II. **Equal Opportunities**: We will ensure equal opportunities for all workers, irrespective of their geographic location, race, ethnicity, gender, or economic status. We will require partners to create tailored training programs and expand access to broadband careers to underserved communities.
- III. Skill Building: We will focus on skill building by encouraging BEAD subgrantees to create personalized learning and training opportunities designed to cater to individual workers' needs. This training will include essential technical and interpersonal skills to make the workforce adaptable to the ever-changing demands of the broadband sector.
- IV. Partnership with Community-Based Organizations: We recognize the critical role that community-based organizations play in workforce development. To promote inclusive growth, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will encourage subgrantees to partner with community-based organizations to create an ecosystem that benefits all workers and stakeholders in the broadband sector.
- 2. Supporting Systems-Involved Youth for Long-Term Success The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will create a truly inclusive broadband sector. With initiatives like BEAD and the Digital Equity Capacity Building Grant Program, we will create accessible and beneficial opportunities for all, especially marginalized communities.
 - I. **Incentivized Job Training**: We will encourage BEAD subgrantees to offer paid training initiatives that provide youth with skill acquisition and economic stability by intertwining education with paid job training.
 - II. **Facilitate Transition Services**: We will encourage BEAD subgrantees to partner with organizations that provide transitional services that offer post-secondary bridge programs. This will ensure that systems-involved youth can comfortably navigate education, training, or employment in the broadband sector.
 - III. **Encourage Multi-Stakeholder Partnerships**: We will encourage BEAD subgrantees to foster collaborations between juvenile justice, child welfare, and education agencies to create a cohesive support structure for youth. This will make broadband opportunities more accessible.
 - IV. Expand Data Collection: We will encourage BEAD subgrantees to invest in comprehensive data collection and analysis inspired by successful models to ensure that our strategies remain informed, relevant, and effective.

2.8.2 Objectives for a Skilled and Credentialed Workforce

Describe the information that will be required of prospective subgrantees to demonstrate a plan for ensuring that the project workforce will be an appropriately skilled and credentialed workforce. These plans should include the following:

- a. The ways in which the prospective subgrantee will ensure the use of an appropriately skilled workforce, e.g., through Registered Apprenticeships or other joint labor-management training programs that serve all workers;
- b. The steps that will be taken to ensure that all members of the project workforce will have appropriate credentials, e.g., appropriate and relevant pre-existing occupational training, certification, and licensure;
- c. Whether the workforce is unionized;
- d. Whether the workforce will be directly employed or whether work will be performed by a subcontracted workforce; and
- e. The entities that the proposed subgrantee plans to contract and subcontract with in carrying out the proposed work.

If the project workforce or any subgrantee's, contractor's, or subcontractor's workforce is not unionized, the subgrantee must also provide with respect to the non-union workforce:

- a. The job titles and size of the workforce (FTE positions, including for contractors and subcontractors) required to carry out the proposed work over the course of the project and the entity that will employ each portion of the workforce;
- b. For each job title required to carry out the proposed work (including contractors and subcontractors), a description of:
 - I. Safety training, certification, and/or licensure requirements (e.g., OSHA 10, OSHA 30, confined space, traffic control, or other training as relevant depending on title and work), including whether there is a robust in-house training program with established requirements tied to certifications, titles; and
 - *II. ii.* Information on the professional certifications and/or in-house training in place to ensure that deployment is done at a high standard.

The success of any broadband deployment project hinges significantly on the competence and skill set of its workforce. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes this and has established application scoring criteria that reflects the state's objective to ensure that a highly skilled and credentialed workforce supports every project. These measures will support the reliability, efficiency, and safety of every initiative funded under the BEAD Program.

In the following section, we have delved deeper into the specifics of these requirements to shed light on how the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will ensure that individuals contributing to BEAD projects are highly skilled and working in a safe environment. We exemplify high standards in training our workforce and work environment safety, and we expect our subgrantees to maintain the highest standards in worker training and workplace protection.

Arizona's requirements for subgrantee workforce competence and safety standards will encompass the following:

1. Skill & Credential Assurance:

I. Ensuring an Appropriately Skilled Workforce: Subgrantees will be required to fulfill stringent criteria to ensure that the workforce supporting every BEAD project is highly skilled.

- II. Registered Apprenticeships: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require subgrantees to participate in Registered Apprenticeships. These apprenticeships offer hands-on training for key roles and provide learning opportunities from industry professionals in real-world scenarios.
- III. Joint Labor-Management Training Programs: Subgrantees will be encouraged to participate in joint labor-management training programs.

2. Ensuring Appropriate Credentials:

- I. Document Verification: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require subgrantees to submit documentation verifying the credentials of their workforce. These credentials could include certifications from recognized institutions or licensure from accredited bodies. We will also explore the possibility of creating a 'credential passport' that verifies a worker's educational qualifications, certifications, licenses, and other pertinent credentials. This could encompass technical qualifications like IT certifications, soft skills certifications such as conflict resolution training, essential health and safety training, and other industry-specific credentials like fiber optic technician certifications.
- II. Regular Audits: In regularly conducted audits, we will ensure that the workforce's skills and credentials are up-to-date, and ongoing training and recertification are undertaken as needed. These audits will ensure subgrantees fulfill the requirements set by the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office and maintain the highest standards of quality and safety.

3. Unionization Status:

Subgrantees will be required to specify whether their workforce, or any part thereof, is unionized during the application process. This will assist in understanding the potential for collective bargaining and other labor considerations during the project. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to ensuring that subgrantees adhere to labor laws and regulations and that any collective bargaining agreements or other labor considerations are taken into account during the project.

4. Employment Nature:

Subgrantees will be required to declare whether the workforce for the project will be directly employed or subcontracted. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will strongly encourage a certain percentage of new hires from subgrantees to come from the local workforce. This will help ensure that the benefits of BEAD are directly experienced within the communities we serve, including opportunities for local workers and the potential for economic growth. By promoting local hiring, we can create a more sustainable and equitable broadband industry.

5. Contractual & Sub-contractual Entities:

To ensure transparency and accountability, subgrantees will be required to provide detailed information about all entities they plan to contract or subcontract with during the proposed work. This will enable us to understand all players involved in a project and ensure that all

parties involved adhere to labor laws and regulations, uphold quality and safety standards, and fulfill the requirements set by the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office.

6. Job Titles & Workforce Size:

Subgrantees will be required to provide a clear breakdown of job roles and the corresponding full-time equivalent (FTE) positions required for the project. This requirement includes roles within any contractor or subcontractor that the subgrantee employs. For example, if a subgrantee plans to hire ten broadband technicians and five network engineers, each role and its corresponding FTE must be specified. By ensuring transparency regarding job roles and workforce size, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office aims to ensure that subgrantees have the necessary personnel to complete the project successfully and efficiently.

7. Safety Training & Certification:

For every job title provided, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require subgrantees and affiliated subcontractors to provide a detailed list of all required safety training, certifications, or licensures. In particular, OSHA 10 and OSHA 30.

In Arizona, safety training is essential to ensure that workers are equipped to handle hazardous conditions in the workplace. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) provides two levels of safety training, OSHA 10 and OSHA 30, to help employers and employees comply with safety regulations and maintain a safe work environment. The OSHA 10 training program is designed for entry-level workers and covers basic safety principles, such as hazard recognition, fall protection, and personal protective equipment (PPE). On the other hand, the OSHA 30 program provides more advanced safety training and covers topics such as electrical safety, industrial hygiene, and construction standards. Many organizations, including the Arizona Builders Alliance, offer OSHA certified safety training programs to ensure workers are adequately trained to protect themselves from hazards in the workplace.

Furthermore, subgrantees will be required to specify if they have a robust in-house training program. If so, they must provide details on how the program is linked to specific certifications and job titles. By ensuring that subgrantees have a comprehensive safety training and certification plan, we aim to minimize incidents and create a safe work environment for all participants.

8. Professional Certifications & In-House Training:

Subgrantees will be required to enumerate the professional certifications held by their workforce. For instance, a broadband deployment specialist might have a Fiber Optic Association (FOA) certification. Additionally, subgrantees will need to provide details of inhouse training programs designed to enhance quality and deployment standards. This could include specific courses on emerging broadband technologies or quality assurance processes. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is dedicated to ensuring that every project undertaken is of the highest caliber, has a skilled, credentialed workforce, and is equipped to handle the job demands in a safe work environment.

In summary, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office believes that these stringent criteria will ensure that individuals contributing to BEAD projects are in a safe work environment, highly skilled, and contribute towards efficient and reliable project execution. By



enforcing these mandatory instructions, we will uphold the highest standards of safety, efficiency, and efficacy when carrying out BEAD projects.

2.9 MBE/ WBE/ Labor Surplus Firms Inclusion (Requirement 13)

2.9.1 Data Tracking Methods for small business, DBE and WBE

Describe the process, strategy, and the data tracking method(s) the Eligible Entity will implement to ensure that minority businesses, women-owned business enterprises (WBEs), and labor surplus area firms are recruited, used, and retained when possible.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes the importance of creating opportunities for Minority Business Enterprises (MBEs), Women's Business Enterprises (WBEs), and Labor Surplus Firms (collectively "MWBE") to participate in BEAD Program deployment projects. Inclusion of perspectives from MWBEs is crucial to ensure diversity, gain unique insights, and broaden the program's economic impact. To maximize the recruitment, utilization, and retention of MWBEs, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will implement the strategies, processes, and data-tracking methods outlined below during BEAD Program implementation.

The following phases will guide our efforts to support MWBE suppliers by understanding the skills required for various broadband deployment phases. The focus on proactive engagement, data collection, analysis, program development, and ongoing evaluation will ensure alignment of workforce initiatives with the evolving needs of the broadband industry.

Phase 1: Research and Assessment

To support MWBE suppliers during Arizona's broadband deployment, the State Broadband Office will include the following strategies in the state industry specific workforce plan:

- Identify Target MWBE Employers: Analyze existing data, reports, and initial surveys to identify industries and sectors where MWBE suppliers play a significant role in broadband deployment as well as areas where MWBEs are under-represented.
- *Skills Gap Analysis:* Conduct a rigorous analysis of skills gaps in MWBE sectors. Identify specific skills and competencies required for each phase of broadband deployment.
- Engage MWBE Stakeholders: Utilize the Governor's Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council Workforce Working Group to collaborate closely with MWBE business associations, advocacy groups, and chambers of commerce to understand their unique skill requirements and challenges. Conduct interviews and surveys to gather insights from industry stakeholders and directly from MWBEs.
- Procurement Assessment: Engage the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office's contracting and procurement expertise, supporting supplier diversity through early planning and advanced notice. Assess procurement practices to identify challenges faced by MBEs and WBEs in different phases of broadband deployment.

Phase 2: Data Collection and Surveys

To support MWBE workforce development during Arizona's broadband deployment, the State Broadband Office, with support from the Arizona Commerce Authority and the Office of Economic Opportunity, will implement the following strategies:

- *Employer Surveys:* Develop and distribute surveys to both MWBE and non-MWBE businesses engaged in broadband deployment. Gather detailed information on their staffing needs, skill shortages, and anticipated future needs across all deployment phases.
- Workforce Needs Assessment: Collaborate with industry associations and chambers of commerce to conduct in-depth assessments of workforce needs within MWBE sectors at various deployment phases. This assessment may involve focus groups and in-depth interviews with business owners for better insights.

Phase 3: Skill Mapping and Analysis

To establish effective MWBE workforce development programs during Arizona's broadband deployment, the State Broadband Office will implement the following strategies in coordination with the Arizona Commerce Authority and the Office of Economic Opportunity:

- *Data Analysis:* Compile and analyze data collected from surveys and assessments to identify common skills, technical competencies, and soft skills required by MWBE suppliers during each broadband deployment phase and map out skill profiles using the data gathered.
- Industry Trends: Regularly monitor industry trends and stay current on technological advancements to predict future skill demands accurately. This approach allows the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office to design future-oriented and adaptable programs that remain relevant during the broadband deployment lifecycle.

Phase 4: Program Development and Implementation

To support MWBE workforce development during Arizona's broadband deployment, the State Broadband Office will encourage subgrantees to implement the following strategies:

- *Curriculum Design:* Collaborate with educational institutions, training providers, and industry experts to develop curriculum and training programs that align with the specific skill needs identified for each broadband deployment phase. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will encourage subgrantees to prioritize creating flexible, accessible, and responsive programs that can adapt to changing demands.
- Apprenticeship Programs: Facilitate the development of apprenticeship programs that cater to the unique needs of MWBE suppliers in each deployment phase. Encourage subgrantees to partner with industry associations and businesses to provide hands-on training and real-world experience to apprentices. This area will include support from the State Apprenticeship Office, Arizona Apprenticeship Advisory Committee, Workforce Arizona Council, Arizona@Work, the Arizona Department of Economic Security, and Office of Economic Opportunity.

Phase 5: Outreach and Partnerships

To support MWBE workforce development and diversity in Arizona's broadband deployment, we will implement the following strategies:

- Stakeholder Engagement: Encourage subgrantees to engage with MWBE stakeholders, including businesses, associations, and local communities, to communicate available training programs and apprenticeships' benefits. Emphasize the relevance of these programs to different broadband deployment phases.
- Partnerships: The Arizona Commerce Authority is committed to fostering the success of businesses by offering robust support through capacity-building programs, technical assistance, and mentorship. This comprehensive approach aims to empower businesses for success on the project. Furthermore, a feedback loop will be established, encouraging subcontractors to provide regular input to pinpoint areas in need of improvement and to facilitate necessary strategy adjustments. This collaborative process ensures continuous enhancement and adaptability within the broadband deployment project.

Phase 6: Monitoring and Evaluation

To support MWBE workforce development during Arizona's broadband deployment, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will implement the following strategies:

- Performance Metrics: Require subgrantees to establish key performance indicators (KPIs) to measure the success of training programs, apprenticeships, and workforce initiatives during each broadband deployment phase. Monitor indicators such as the number of program participants, employment rates, and employer satisfaction, focusing specifically on MWBE suppliers.
- *Feedback Loops:* Require subgrantees to regularly gather feedback from MWBE suppliers and program participants to identify areas that require adjustments or improvements. Use this feedback to ensure that programs remain aligned with the evolving skill requirements of broadband deployment.

Phase 7: Scaling and Adaptation

To support MWBE workforce development during Arizona's broadband deployment, we will implement the following strategies:

- Scaling Up: Utilize Digital Equity Capacity Building grant to scale up programs and initiatives as necessary to reach a broader audience of MWBE suppliers, catering to different skill requirements across phases of broadband deployment. Explore opportunities for regional expansion.
- *Adaptation:* Remain flexible and encourage MWBEs to adapt programs to changing industry needs during each broadband deployment phase.

Phase 8: Reporting and Documentation

To support MWBE workforce development during Arizona's broadband deployment, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will implement the following strategies:

 Documentation: Require subgrantees to maintain comprehensive records that document program implementation, outcomes, and lessons learned during each broadband deployment phase. Regularly report progress to relevant stakeholders and funding agencies to showcase the impact on MWBE suppliers.



Through this initiative, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will be wellprepared to identify the specific skills required by MWBE suppliers in Arizona's various broadband deployment phases. This approach will promote economic growth and inclusivity within the state, ensuring that workforce initiatives can meet the unique needs of MWBE suppliers throughout the broadband deployment lifecycle. Regular reporting to relevant stakeholders and funding agencies will help document program implementation, outcomes, and lessons learned, demonstrating the success of these initiatives in supporting MWBE suppliers and fostering economic growth throughout Arizona.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office intends to leverage connections with existing programs, initiatives, and organizations within Arizona to ensure broad awareness of the opportunities provided through the workforce development initiatives. Some of these may include:

- Supplier Diversity: We will promote diversity, equity, and inclusion in state contracting for businesses owned by minorities, women, veterans, service-disabled veterans, those with a disability, and LGBTQ+ individuals, as well as small businesses. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will encourage awardees to strengthen and increase opportunities for MBEs, WBEs, Service-Disabled Veteran Business Enterprises, Veteran Business Enterprises, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Business Enterprises, and Disability-Owned Business Enterprises.
- Arizona Women's Business Enterprise Council: This organization provides opportunities for women entrepreneurs and women in business to increase professional success, personal growth, and financial independence through creating a network of women business enterprises and corporations through cortication, education, and targeted networking events.
- Small Business Services (SBS): The program, administered by the Arizona Commerce Authority, provides information on business licensing and statewide resources for every stage of business development, and serve as an advocate by developing policies and programs addressing the needs of small businesses. Small Business Services works closely with small business owners, entrepreneurs, government officials, community leaders and business emphasis on supporting Arizona's small, minority-, women-owned and disadvantaged business enterprises.
- Building for Growth (BFG): A national, online, tuition-free executive education program that
 primarily helps black, indigenous, people of color (BIPOC) and WBE construction contractors
 build capacity and develop sustainable growth strategies that can increase their businesses'
 revenues and profits.
- Small and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program: ADOT works to inform municipalities, regional authorities, consultants, contractors, and sub-contractors about the Small and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program and the utilization of MBE and WBE on infrastructure projects, especially those financed through the state and/or federal funding programs.

Collaborating with these partners will support the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office's efforts to promote awareness and uptake of the broadband workforce development initiatives. We will also adhere to Arizona's regulations and laws by ensuring that the appropriate goals for MBE and WBE are met on broadband infrastructure projects and ensuring equal opportunity in participating in the implementation of BEAD Program in Arizona.

Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will be well-prepared to identify the specific skills required by MWBE suppliers in Arizona's various phases of broadband deployment. A strategic and comprehensive approach to evaluating the skill landscape within the state, with special attention given to MWBE suppliers, will be critical to the success of the BEAD Program.

2.9.2 Certification for Affirmative Action

Certify that the Eligible Entity will take all necessary affirmative steps to ensure minority businesses, women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are used when possible, including the following outlined on pages 88 – 89 of the BEAD NOFO:

- a. Placing qualified small and minority businesses and women's business enterprises on solicitation lists;
- b. Assuring that small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises are solicited whenever they are potential sources;
- c. Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or quantities to permit maximum participation by small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises;
- d. Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirement permits, which encourage participation by small and minority businesses, and women's business enterprises;
- e. Using the services and assistance, as appropriate, of such organizations as the Small Business Administration and the Minority Business Development Agency of the Department of Commerce; and
- f. Requiring subgrantees to take the affirmative steps listed above as it relates to subcontractors.

As described in the detailed action plan above, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office certifies that it will take all necessary affirmative steps provided in the BEAD NOFO and as described in 2 CRF 200 Part 321 to ensure MBE, WBE, and labor surplus area firms are used when possible. The action plan outlines strategies that will address these affirmative steps, including outreach to and engagement with community organizations that support MWBE suppliers, revisiting the skills assessment to ensure alignment with evolving business needs, and establishing performance metrics to track the success of training and workforce development initiatives. By adopting these affirmative steps and remaining committed to their implementation, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will work to ensure that MWBE suppliers play a meaningful role in the broadband deployment efforts across Arizona.

- a. To place qualified small and MWBE businesses on solicitation lists, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will collaborate with MWBE stakeholders, such as businesses, associations, and local communities, during the outreach and partnerships phase. We will identify qualified MWBEs to integrate into solicitation lists to promote diversity and inclusion in the procurement process.
- b. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to involving small and MWBEs in the solicitation process. We will share contract bidding opportunities with MWBEs and assess the qualifications of MWBEs relative to established purchasing and contractual standards. Additionally, we will leverage compiled and analyzed data to identify opportunities for MWBE participation in the solicitation process when feasible.

- c. To enable maximum participation by small and MWBEs, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will use compiled and analyzed data to divide total requirements into smaller tasks or quantities when economically feasible. This approach leverages common skills and competencies across various phases of the deployment and enables diverse businesses to compete within their areas of expertise.
- d. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will consider establishing delivery schedules, where feasible, to encourage small and MWBE participation in the solicitation process. We will assess bids or proposals based on delivery or performance time, where appropriate. Additionally, we will monitor and evaluate training programs, apprenticeships, and workforce initiatives to establish and monitor delivery schedules through key performance indicators.
- e. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will collaborate with MWBE business associations, chambers of commerce, and advocacy groups to gather insights from industry stakeholders. We are also planning to leverage the support services of state agencies and organizations where appropriate to promote MWBE participation.
- f. We will mandate that subgrantees take affirmative steps to promote diversity and inclusion in their procurement processes. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require subgrantees to follow an affirmative approach that aligns with Arizona's commitment to contracting opportunities for qualified diverse-owned businesses. We will establish terms requiring subgrantees to create a plan of action demonstrating their commitment to supplier inclusion and equitable procurement practices, such as a formal commitment letter and an outreach plan.

2.10 Cost and Barrier Reduction (Requirement 14)

2.10.1 Steps for Reducing Costs and Barriers

Identify steps that the Eligible Entity will take to reduce costs and barriers to deployment. Responses may include but not be limited to the following:

- a. Promoting the use of existing infrastructure;
- b. Promoting and adopting dig-once policies;
- c. Streamlining permitting processes;
- d. Streamlining cost-effective access to poles, conduits, easements; and
- e. Streamlining rights of way, including the imposition of reasonable access requirements.

The Arizona Commerce Authority has made significant progress in identifying key strategies for reducing costs and overcoming barriers to broadband deployment during prior broadband initiatives. Addressing these issues of cost and deployment barriers remains a top priority. Factors like Arizona's difficult terrain, wide spans between population centers, harsh weather conditions, high percentage of federally managed land, Tribal Land, and environmentally sensitive areas have contributed to increased broadband infrastructure deployment costs. The State Broadband Office has taken actions aimed at reducing barriers to efficient deployment and effective cost management. These efforts include streamlining permitting processes, leveraging new broadband technologies, and coordinating closely with ISPs, local communities, and stakeholders to ensure the cost-effective and rapid deployment of broadband infrastructure in underserved areas across Arizona.

Promoting Use of Existing Infrastructure

In February 2022, the Arizona Commerce Authority released the Arizona Broadband Statewide Middle-Mile Strategic Plan, which creates a middle-mile infrastructure on an open access nondiscriminatory basis. We are working with ADOT as its implementation partner for this strategic plan. The first phase of this network, consisting of 200 miles of open access network on Interstate 17 and Interstate 19, has reached its completion milestone and will be operational soon. The State Broadband Office will continue to implement other key corridors as outlined in the strategic plan, promoting the development of reliable broadband infrastructure across the state. The investment in middle-mile networks will establish points of presence in all primary population centers along the interstate and select intrastate routes, reducing the costs for last-mile broadband projects by providing the necessary backbone. The Arizona Broadband Statewide Middle-Mile Strategic Plan has already seen significant public and private investment in middle-mile networks.

Promoting and Adopting Dig-Once Policies

Arizona Revised Statutes Title 28, Article 14 has prioritized the efficient and effective use of taxpayer investments since 2012 by adopting a "dig once"⁴ policy during highway construction. This approach involves installing conduit and other infrastructure during road construction projects to accommodate future broadband deployment, reducing costs and barriers to deployment for ISPs. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has a strong partnership with ADOT and promotes and supports the adoption of dig-once policies.

Under Arizona's 811 Program, digging activities for construction or maintenance projects are coordinated with broadband providers to minimize disruptive excavation. The process requires that before any excavation work begins within public rights-of-way, the project owner must notify the Arizona Blue Stake, a nonprofit organization that operates a notification center in the state. In addition, the State Broadband Office will collaborate with local governments, including counties, cities, and tribal governments, to advocate for the Dig Once policy, streamlining processes, and reducing costs to facilitate broadband deployment. This approach will make it easier for broadband service providers to expand their networks, ultimately promoting efficient and effective use of taxpayer investments while bridging the digital divide and stimulating inclusive economic growth.

Streamlining Permit Process

The cost of broadband deployment can significantly increase when permitting processes lack predictability and timeliness. The State Broadband Office recognizes that streamlining permitting processes is crucial to eliminating unnecessary regulatory costs and facilitating the development of affordable, innovative broadband options for everyone. According to results from the survey of ISPs in Arizona conducted by the State Broadband Office, respondents identified "speed of permitting" as the most significant regulatory barrier that hinders timely and efficient broadband infrastructure deployment. Approximately 79 percent of respondents viewed this as a barrier, and 36 percent considered it an "extreme barrier."

According to the local government survey conducted by the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office, several barriers pose a challenge to broadband infrastructure deployment. Location, inventory, and access to existing physical assets – including national forest land and Tribal areas – were identified as key barriers. Respondents noted that these barriers can hinder or delay broadband infrastructure deployment, particularly in less populated or underserved areas.

The Arizona Commerce Authority has adopted a data-driven approach, identifying essential steps to eliminate barriers and reduce costs. To address these challenges, the State Broadband Office is taking the following steps:

 Utilize the Governor's Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council Infrastructure and Permitting Working Group to develop strong working relationships with state and federal permitting agencies, local and tribal government, and creating resources for subgrantees to aid the process. The objective is to ensure that permitting agencies understand Arizona's

⁴ <u>https://www.azleg.gov/viewdocument/?docName=https://www.azleg.gov/ars/28/07382.htm</u>

vision for broadband infrastructure deployment and digital equity, as well as the timelines of different funding sources, expected permit application volume over the next five years, and resources available through the State Broadband Office.

- Develop a standard operating procedure and checklist for local and tribal governments to facilitate timely determinations on the completeness of permit applications. This will help ensure that essential information is included to avoid delays in the permitting process.
- Collaborating with ISPs, state agencies, and local governments to establish a procedure aimed at reducing the review cycles and enhancing turnaround times. This will help streamline the permitting process and expedite broadband infrastructure deployment.
- Organizing webinars involving both ISPs and permitting entities (state agencies, local governments, and tribal governments) to ensure that ISPs have a clear understanding of the permitting requirements set by the respective permitting entities.
- Facilitating state and local coordination, as indicated by feedback from county and municipal governments, to improve permitting processes, reducing duplication and burden on local government staffing.

Streamlining Cost-effective Access to Poles, Conduits, Easements

Telecommunications service providers usually deploy networks in two ways - either by burying cables in the ground or attaching equipment to utility poles, mainly owned by electric companies. However, deploying cables underground in Arizona can be costly because of the challenging terrain and rocky soil. On the other hand, pole attachments are the more common and economical option, but disputes often arise regarding attachment requirements and fees - leading to unwillingness and delays. As pole attachments are critical for cost-effective broadband expansion, the State of Arizona is taking several steps to streamline the process.

- Electric utility corridors for transmission and distribution are crucial assets for broadband infrastructure deployment, in addition to highway and roadway rights-of-way. In Arizona, there is a publicly owned electric utility alongside several smaller electric cooperatives (Co-Ops), and each entity has an established pole attachment process. The State Broadband Office has established relationships with these entities and is engaging in a procedure to understand the prerequisites for pole attachment. By using fiber optic cables on poles, broadband deployment can be improved, and facilitate efficient grid monitoring and increase operational efficiencies.
- In the urban areas of Arizona, various governmental and quasi-governmental entities such as state and local governments, regional transportation agencies, water, sewer, and other utilities have installed conduits for their operational purposes. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will collaborate with these entities to map existing infrastructure and determine whether and how subgrantees can utilize them for last-mile broadband service deployments.
- In certain instances, subgrantees may need to obtain a permit or easement from private landowners to install broadband infrastructure. In such cases, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will provide guidelines and support to ISPs to aid them through the permitting process to facilitate the deployment of broadband infrastructure.

Streamlining Right of Way

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is collaborating with local governments and state agencies to simplify right-of-way access permits and ensure affordable fees. ADOT maintains an interactive map of ADOT-owned right-of-way and conduit throughout the state and has created a streamlined process for access to these components at cost-based rates. Additionally, ADOT has a policy that allows the use of the state's right-of-way for broadband infrastructure projects⁵ that meet specific criteria.

ADOT's policy regarding the use of the state's right-of-way supports the deployment of reliable and high-quality broadband services across Arizona, particularly in underserved and rural areas. Broadband infrastructure providers can request access to ADOT's right-of-way for broadband deployment. ADOT's process prioritizes the efficient and effective use of taxpayer investments by implementing the "dig once" approach. This approach ensures the cost-effective deployment of broadband infrastructure across Arizona and reduces the expenses and disruptions associated with future network expansions.

Overcoming Regulatory Constraints

Regulatory constraints are legal and regulatory requirements, permissions, and tax obligations set by government entities that hinder infrastructure deployment. Governor Hobbs and the State Broadband Office will accelerate broadband deployment and reduce regulatory obstacles by promoting the efficient use of existing infrastructure. The newly created Interagency and Community Broadband Advisory Council in Arizona will support broadband deployment planning by convening members from various organizations, including state agencies, local governments, tribal communities, telehealth representation, and institutions of higher education. The CEO and President of the Arizona Commerce Authority serves as the Chairperson of the council, and the State Broadband Director is the Vice Chair. The council meets quarterly, and members analyze and recommend suggestions for Arizona broadband policy in working groups.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to addressing regulatory barriers that may hinder universal broadband access.

⁵ https://azdot.gov/sites/default/files/2019/05/urr-accommodationg-guideline_august-2015.pdf

2.11 Climate Assessment (Requirement 15)

2.11.1 Assessment of Climate Threats and Proposed Mitigation Methods

Describe the Eligible Entity's assessment of climate threats and proposed mitigation methods. If an Eligible Entity chooses to reference reports conducted within the past five years to meet this requirement, it may attach this report and must provide a crosswalk narrative, with reference to page numbers, to demonstrate that the report meets the five requirements below. If the report does not specifically address broadband infrastructure, provide additional narrative to address how the report relates to broadband infrastructure. At a minimum, this response must clearly do each of the following, as outlined on pages 62 – 63 of the BEAD NOFO:

Arizona, the sixth-largest state by area in the US, has a diverse geography resulting in a variety of localized climate environments. The south boasts some of the country's hottest and driest deserts, while the northeast's higher terrain of the Colorado Plateau has a cooler climate, producing cold winters and temperate summers. The mountain ranges dividing the state from the northwest to the southeast experience heavier precipitation and extreme temperature variations.

According to the NOAA State Climate Summary for Arizona ⁶, temperatures in Arizona have risen about 2.5°F (1.4°C)⁷ since the beginning of the 20th century. Predictions show that Arizona's climate will continue to warm, leading to more intense wildfires, ongoing drought, and more extreme storms.

Deployments of BEAD fiber broadband infrastructure must consider the impact of climate change. Hardening fiber cables, conduits, and other infrastructure to deal with severe weather challenges and having an emergency response plan in place are primary aspects of risk-aware deployment. However, implementing these practices may incur additional costs in rural, low-density areas where ISPs may find it difficult to deploy commercially viable networks. Nevertheless, deploying fiber networks in rural areas will be crucial for safeguarding communities during emergencies and natural disasters.

The Arizona Governor's Office of Resilience plays a significant role in enhancing the state's resilience to natural and man-made disasters by coordinating and implementing strategies that improve the state's preparedness, response, and recovery capabilities. Discussing "best practices" with prospective subgrantees and the broader broadband community is essential throughout the application, selection, and award processes. To achieve its priority of bringing reliable high-speed broadband to all unserved locations across the state, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has engaged the provider community through statewide working groups, community meetings, webinars, and surveys, and will continue to work together to identify climate threats and develop mitigation methods.

⁶ NOAA STATE CLIMATE SUMMARIES 2022, ARIZONA

⁷ <u>https://digitalcommons.unmc.edu/coph_slce/225/</u>

a. Identify the geographic areas that should be subject to an initial hazard screening for current and projected future weather and climate-related risks and the time scales for performing such screenings;

Extreme weather events can have a significant impact on broadband networks, particularly in Arizona. Wildfires, flooding, and heavy snow/freezing ice storms and monsoons are some of the most concerning events in this area. These events can cause extensive damage to fiber networks, whether they are underground or aerially constructed.

Arizona's topography is a significant factor influencing its climate, as the state is divided into three distinct zones, as shown on the adjacent map courtesy of the Arizona Department of Water Resources. The change in elevation across the state varies, ranging from a low point of 72' Above Sea Level (ASL) in the southwest corner, to a high point of 12,637 ASL on Humphreys Peak in the north central region near Flagstaff.

Figure 3: Arizona's Topography



The Basin and Range zone located in southern Arizona is renowned for its desert climate with extremely hot summers and mild winters. On the other hand, the Transition zone comprises various relief and climatic conditions that can differ widely over small areas. Most of Arizona's humid area falls into this zone, including the high southern edge of the Colorado Plateau. The Transition zone boasts the largest ponderosa pine tree stand in the world.

The Colorado Plateau features mountain ranges coupled with extensive, deep canyons, including the Grand Canyon. This zone experiences more moderate temperatures during summers and significant snowfall during winters.

Climate threats across the state of Arizona include wildfires, thunderstorms with high winds and lightning, as well as isolated flooding. However, in central and northern Arizona, the primary threats include snow/ice storms, wildfires, and isolated flooding.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will require applicants to submit climate resiliency plans that outline how their proposed networks will be able to withstand extreme weather events caused by climate change. The plans should address technology platforms, specific design features, retrofitting considerations, and restorative processes applicable to the project area. During potential subgrantee negotiations, proper mitigation practices will be an integral part of network architecture. These assurances will be maintained in subgrantee award agreements to prevent any deviations from these agreed-upon standards.

b. Characterize which projected weather and climate hazards may be most important to account for and respond to in these areas and over the relevant time horizons;

Wildfires, flooding, as well as severe snow and ice storms, all demand resilient network topologies and the implementation of regional and statewide mitigation approaches that will sustain broadband networks operationally and maintain the life-saving communication services they offer. The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office recognizes the pressing need to review potential project area networks slated for deployment with BEAD funding, while considering the following climate hazards that are likely to pose the most critical threat to broadband networks.

 Wildfires – Climate change is evidenced by the fact that the Western United States experiences three times more wildfires per year than in the 1970s. Additionally, Arizona's history reveals that the ten largest fires all happened since 2002, pointing to the increasing severity and frequency of wildfires being caused by climate change. Burn scars left by wildfires are a significant problem causing mudslides during the rainy season and pose a threat to broadband networks.

During a two-day roundtable discussion in 2021, hosted by the Center for Climate and Energy Solutions, 90 Arizona stakeholders identified a set of key policy recommendations that aim to reduce greenhouse gas emissions while promoting equity and economic development in the state. One of the key takeaways regarding the impact of climate change determined from this discussion was the following:

"Of all western states, Arizona is already facing the impacts of a changing climate, including extreme heat, drought, and wildfires. Arizona is projected to experience the greatest increase in high wildfire potential days by 2050, with the second-largest population living in the wildland-urban interface following California.⁸"

⁸ Christina Cilento, Feb 2022, <u>INVESTING IN ARIZONA'S FUTURE: DRIVING EQUITABLE, LOW-CARBON ECONOMIC</u> <u>GROWTH</u>



Figure 4: Wildfire Likelihood

Source: U.S. Department of Agriculture's Forest Service

As per the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Forest Service, during the preceding three years (2020-2022)⁹ Arizona has experienced 5,737 wildfires, which burned 1,627,270 acres of land.

 Flooding – Flooding of major rivers and tributaries in Arizona may occur during any season, but it most frequently happens during the spring and autumn months that are associated with the highest rainfall.

The Arizona Flood Warning System (AFWS)¹⁰ includes local, state, and federal entities that work together to devise statewide strategies for the management and dissemination of real-time hydro-meteorological data and products to assist emergency managers, floodplain managers, weather forecasters, and the public. The AFWS was authorized in 1979, and its role was expanded after severe statewide flooding in 1993. Better communication between government entities was established, allowing for more precise flood prediction.

In recent years, Arizona has experienced above-average rainfall, as is evident in the map below for 2021. After decades of record drought and wildfires, soil permeability has decreased. When poor soil permeability is coupled with widespread heavy rains, flooding becomes commonplace, as riverbeds, which are usually dry for months, have become overrun with fast-flowing water. Besides causing damage to broadband networks, flooding can also cut off access to utilities, emergency services, and transportation near the affected areas.

⁹ Arizona State Wildfire Information, <u>Arizona Department of Forestry and Fire Management</u>

¹⁰ Arizona Flood Warning System



Figure 5: Percent of Normal July Precipitation in the Southwest U.S.

- Snow/Ice The northern half of Arizona is vulnerable to frequent ice storms due to the region's exposure to cold air masses. When the rain falls through this cold air layer, it freezes upon coming into contact with exposed surfaces. The ice buildup on trees and utility infrastructure has the potential to damage the infrastructure significantly. Additionally, ice buildup on roadways is a frequent cause of accidents that can lead to the destruction of infrastructure.
- c. Characterize any weather and climate risks to new infrastructure deployed using BEAD Program funds for the 20 years following deployment;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has identified the potential weather and climate risks to new infrastructure deployments under the BEAD Program. The agency is considering these risks for at least 20 years following the deployment of such infrastructure. By doing this, potential weather and climate hazards will be effectively factored in the development of mitigation plans for all projects. The outcome of identifying such risks is the creation of more resilient broadband infrastructure elements that are better equipped to withstand extreme weather events, such as wildfires, flooding, and snow/ice storms.

As mentioned earlier, the statewide physical climate risks that can pose a threat to broadband infrastructure include:

 Wildfires – Wildfires can pose a significant threat to broadband networks, as they can quickly engulf wide swaths of aerial infrastructure and above-ground equipment cabinets, leading to lengthy network outages. Ground-cabinets containing broadband network equipment can also be destroyed in wildfires. Moreover, wildfires significantly increase the risk of flooding, mudflows, and landslides, which can further exacerbate the issues caused by the fire and its resulting damage to the broadband network infrastructure.

- 2. Extreme Heat Extreme heat in Arizona during the summer months can cause equipment failures, power demand increases, and reduce network performance, affecting the state's broadband infrastructure. The impact of high temperatures on fiber-optic cables, power outages, and air conditioning systems strain, highlight the necessity to address this issue to ensure an uninterrupted internet service, especially during hot summer times.
- 3. Flooding Flooding can occur anytime throughout the year in Arizona, but it is primarily associated with the spring and autumn months when rainfall is generally higher. In addition to causing immediate damage to broadband network infrastructure, substantial flooding can also degrade fiber optic lines over time, negatively impacting broadband signals. Rushing floodwaters can also erode infrastructure from its foundations, leading to severed broadband networks. In these ways, flooding can pose considerable risks to broadband network infrastructure and negatively impact signal quality and reliability.
- 4. Snow and Ice Storms The northern half of Arizona is highly susceptible to winter storm systems, and it frequently experiences ice storms. Snow and ice buildup can cause extensive network destruction, primarily through overburdened trees falling on aerial networks and damaging aerial utility infrastructure. Additionally, hazardous road conditions caused by snow and ice can lead to vehicle crashes into utility poles and roadside network cabinets, further damaging the network infrastructure. In both cases, the result can be a significant disruption or even failure of network services, impacting the connectivity and reliability of broadband services.

In each of the instances outlined above, there is an impact not only on the broadband network but also on the electrical grid's capacity to remain in service. Climate-related events can damage both broadband and electrical infrastructure, leading to significant disruptions, power outages, and other consequences that can significantly impact communities.

One significant concern is the ability to replace and restore network functionality following a severe climate-related event. Access to affected network infrastructure can become challenging due to standing water, downed electrical lines, and limited transportation infrastructure, while material and labor resources are often in acute shortage and high demand. These challenges can make it difficult and time-consuming to restore network functionality, leading to prolonged disruptions in broadband services and other related services.

Specific Risks to Broadband Infrastructure

The projected increased risks due to climate change, the following hazards could pose a risk to new infrastructure deployed using BEAD funds:

- Increased precipitation:
 - Increased risk of flooding of low-lying infrastructure, access-holes and underground facilities.¹¹
 - Increased erosion or flood damage to transport and backbone structures which may

¹¹ Horrocks, L, Beckford, J, Hodgson, N, Downing, C, Davey, R and O'Sullivan, A. (2010) Adapting the ICT Sector to the Impacts of Climate Change – Final Report, Defra contract number RMP5604. London: Defra from <u>Adapting the ICT Sector to the Impacts of Climate Change</u>

expose cables / trunk routes.

- Reduced quality of wireless service with higher rainfall rates.
- Increased flood risk to assets located in flood plains or urban environments (increase in flash floods), e.g., data centers, exchanges.
- Increasing difficulty to repair faults and restore service with increasing volume of adverse weather-related problems.

• Extreme events:

- Increases in storm frequency or intensity increase the risk of damage to above-ground transmission infrastructure (masts, antennae, switch boxes, aerials, overhead wires, and cables), which are often final access connections to homes and businesses and may negatively impact telecommunications service delivery.
- An increase in storm frequency could lead to more lightning strikes, which can damage transmitters and overhead cables, causing power outages.
- Severe winds may knock off branches from trees or displace unfastened infrastructure causing outages and general damage.

• Wider range of temperatures:

- Increases in temperature and higher frequency, duration, and intensity of heat waves create an additional burden on keeping equipment cool in exchanges and base stations, resulting in increased failure rates.
- Increases in mean temperature may increase the operating temperature of network equipment, leading to malfunction or premature failure if it surpasses design limits.
- Increases in temperature can stress telecommunications equipment and infrastructure, reducing life span.

d. Identify how the proposed plan will avoid and/or mitigate weather and climate risks identified; and

To address the extreme climate-related risks identified above, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will screen the resiliency plans of potential subgrantees to ensure that applicants incorporate climate-resilient features into network architecture design that may include some of the following considerations:

- 1. Technology platform and infrastructure siting: Assessing the risks posed by extreme weather events and how technology platform and infrastructure siting impacts the ability to withstand these events.
- 2. Emergency restoration plans: Ensuring that emergency restoration plans are in place that can quickly repair damaged infrastructure following extreme weather events. These restoration plans should particularly focus on the restoration of essential network functions, including voice services and emergency communication systems.
- Uninterruptible Power Supplies (UPS): Incorporating UPS devices as an essential component to ensure essential backup power during weather-related disruptions. This will help maintain network connectivity during power outages caused by extreme weather events.

- 4. Emergency inventory of critical components: Developing a minimum emergency inventory of critical components to guarantee timely restoration of network functionality during weather-related disruptions.
- 5. Emergency response plans and communication strategies: Developing emergency response plans and communication strategies to ensure timely and effective responses to extreme weather events. This will require coordination with power utilities, transportation authorities, public safety agencies, and affected community leaders to ensure efficient restoration of network functionality.

Mitigation Measures for BEAD Program Infrastructure

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will encourage subgrantees to propose hardened and resilient designs that will withstand damage and deterioration from climate threats. Additionally, subgrantees can develop design and construction elements to harden or provide redundancy to critical components such as power and electrical elements that may be susceptible to water infiltration or damage. To promote the best infrastructure, some of the mitigation measures described below will be strongly encouraged for subgrantees to include, while others will be required through scoring.

Resilient Design: In areas with identified elevated risk, subgrantees are encouraged to deploy resilient infrastructure that is less vulnerable to disaster damage. Examples of this strategy include elevating structures, employing wet and dry flood-proofing to improve flood damage resistance, deploying buried infrastructure, using wind bracing to improve structural wind resistance, and adding lightning protection to towers. Ongoing inspections of infrastructure before expected periods of harsher weather are encouraged to determine any necessary additions or restructuring. To further promote resilient infrastructure design, the State Broadband Office will incentivize its subgrantees to create resilient designs to ensure the longevity and quality of service by including resiliency in its scoring criteria. Applicants will be scored on their plans of including network or power source redundancies, plans of retrofitting or hardening, and their use of buried fiber cables (especially in areas of identified elevated risk). Additionally, the State Broadband Office will encourage all subgrantee applicants to apply the following infrastructure resiliency and climate readiness measures:

- I. Use of established plans and processes to deal with extreme weather-related risks: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will encourage its subgrantees to utilize the established climate hazard identifications and processes to prepare for and actively deal with extreme weather-related events during deployment. The State Broadband Office also encourages subgrantees to include how this plan and processes may be included in their description of risks and mitigation efforts in their subgrant applications. Subgrantees may also describe how they plan to use their own existing plans and processes related to addressing climate and weather-related risks for broadband infrastructure.
- II. The speed of restoration of service in the case of an outage: Prospective subgrantees should include planned speeds of restoring service in case of an outage in their planned network design resiliency. Additionally, performance metrics related to speed of restoration will be defined in subgrant agreements. Broadband connection

may be imperative during these times for contacting emergency services and reaching other necessary resources.

- III. System Capacity, Redundancy, and Back-Up Features: Subgrantees are encouraged to build and maintain critical infrastructure in areas of elevated risk that includes redundancy and additional hardening/resiliency. The design of broadband infrastructure should include back-up power options for vital operations and should be able to accommodate the full extremes of weather, temperatures, and other climate hazards. Subgrantees should also plan for including additional in-home or onsite back-up power resources.
- IV. Retrofitting and Hardening: The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is committed to advocating for broadband infrastructure that is resilient and sustainable, especially given Arizona's susceptibility to a number of intense and damaging weather and extreme weather events. As such, the State Broadband Office will include in its scoring criteria a requirement for subgrantees to include in their network design how they will retrofit and harden new and existing infrastructure to meet or exceed industry standards.
- V. Choosing the appropriate technology platform: Given that extreme weather events that may impact above ground infrastructure, it is imperative that subgrantees consider which technology platform is best to withstand the identified climate threats. Appropriate technology platforms may include buried underground infrastructure as it is resilient to risks such as tornadoes, intense storms, severe winds, and the wearing and damaging impact of extreme heat. As part of subgrantee analysis of their proposed project area, subgrantees should, using their expertise, determine the most suitable technology platform for their infrastructure. This decision should be based on the climate risks of the region and justify reliance on alternative siting of facilities. Further, this choice should be included in subgrantees detailed approach to resilient design.

e. Describe plans for periodically repeating this process over the life of the Program to ensure that evolving risks are understood, characterized, and addressed, and that the most up-to-date tools and information resources are utilized.

To address evolving risks from climate-related hazards, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will develop and periodically repeat a screening process over the life of the BEAD Program. This screening process will ensure that the identified climate-related hazards are regularly reassessed and communicated to subgrantees. By doing so, the ongoing development and implementation of broadband infrastructure projects will remain relevant and resilient to changing climate conditions.

To ensure the screening process remains effective and relevant, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will coordinate with the Governor's Office of Resiliency and communicate with relevant state and federal agencies. The State Broadband Office will continue to utilize available climate resources and tools like FEMA's National Risk Index and NOAA's Disaster and Risk Tool to research and evaluate risk in the state. This effort will provide confidence that the agency's planning process remains up-to-date and is addressing potential climate threats effectively. By doing so, the Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office can continue to promote the development of climate-resilient broadband



infrastructure throughout Arizona, contributing to greater connectivity, sustainability, and safety for the state's residents and communities.

2.11.1.1 Supporting Documentation for Climate Assessment

Optional Attachment: As an optional attachment, submit any relevant reports conducted within the past five years that may be relevant for this requirement and will be referenced in the text narrative above.

The following resources were used in evaluating and composing the Climate Resiliency narrative:

- NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information, State Climate Summaries, Arizona, <u>https://statesummaries.ncics.org/chapter/az/</u>
- NOAA, Western Drought 2021 Spotlight: Arizona, <u>https://www.climate.gov/news-features/event-tracker/western-drought-2021-spotlight-arizona</u>
- Arizona State Climate Office, Climate of Arizona, https://azclimate.asu.edu/climate/
- Arizona Emergency Information Network (AzEIN), https://ein.az.gov/
- Arizona Department of Water Resources, https://www.azwater.gov/gis
- Arizona Flood Warning System (AFWS), https://afws.org/

2.12 Low-Cost Broadband Service Option (Requirement 16)

2.12.1 Required Subgrantee Low-Cost Broadband Service Option

Describe the low-cost broadband service option(s) that must be offered by subgrantees as selected by the Eligible Entity, including why the outlined option(s) best services the needs of residents within the Eligible Entity's jurisdiction. At a minimum, this response must include a definition of low-cost broadband service option that clearly addresses the following, as outlined on page 67 of the BEAD NOFO:

- a. All recurring charges to the subscriber, as well as any non-recurring costs or fees to the subscriber (e.g., service initiation costs);
- b. The plan's basic service characteristics (download and upload speeds, latency, any limits on usage or availability, and any material network management practices);
- c. Whether a subscriber may use any Affordable Connectivity Benefit subsidy toward the plan's rate; and
- d. Any provisions regarding the subscriber's ability to upgrade to any new low-cost service plans offering more advantageous technical specifications.

Affordability is a central tenet of Arizona's broadband deployment and digital adoption goals and strategies, acknowledging that building new last-mile infrastructure is ineffective if Arizonans cannot afford monthly internet service costs.

Subgrantee Requirements:

- Subgrantees must participate in the Affordable Connectivity Program or any successor broadband subsidy programs.
- Subgrantees receiving BEAD funds must offer at least one low-cost broadband service option for all BEAD funded projects; subgrantees are strongly encouraged to provide this option for the entirety of the subgrantee's service territory.
- Potential subgrantees are required to provide a marketing plan as part of their application that incorporates mechanisms to improve knowledge of the availability of the low-cost broadband service option and to raise awareness of subsidy programs such as ACP; this marketing plan will be appended to BEAD subgrantee agreement.
- Subgrantees much provides broadband consumer labels aligned to the FCC requirements outlining the introductory rates, speeds, data allowances, and other critical broadband service information in an understandable format to allow consumers to comparison shop for broadband services.
- Subgrantees will be required to participate in the Lifeline Program as well. Subgrantees must permit the ACP and Lifeline subsidy to be combined and utilized for the same service. For instance, a consumer can combine their \$30 ACP benefit and their \$9.25 Lifeline benefit to have \$39.25 applied toward their service. However, the ACP will remain the primary and priority benefit guiding the low-cost service option.

Low-Cost Broadband Service Options Definition

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office proposes the following definition for low-cost broadband service option:

Pricing Commitment:

The price of the low-cost broadband service option pricing was designed to result in a net zero cost to ACP eligible subscribers after the subsidy is applied.

- o Pricing on the low-cost broadband service option shall be
 - \$30 per month or less, inclusive of all taxes, fees, and charges if the subscriber does not reside on Tribal Lands, with no additional non-recurring costs or fees to the consumer.
 - \$75 per month or less, inclusive of all taxes, fees, and charges if the subscriber resides on Tribal Lands, with no additional non-recurring costs or fees to the consumer.
- The pricing can be increased if there is an increase in the broadband service subsidy under ACP or success programs. However, the price of the low-cost service plan must always result in a net zero cost to ACP subscribers after the subsidy is applied. For example, if the ACP subsidy or a successor or subsequent broadband subsidy program provides a benefit of \$40, the low-cost broadband service plan can be increased to \$40 a month since the net cost to the eligible customer will still be \$0.
- In the event the ACP is not renewed and there is no successor or subsequent broadband subsidy program, subgrantees are permitted to increase the price of the low-cost plan, year-over-year, based on inflation. The inflation index will be defined in the BEAD subgrantee agreement.
- Service Characteristics:
 - Consistently and reliably provides download speeds of at least 100 Mbps and upload speeds of at least 20 Mbps;
 - Provides typical latency measurements of no more than 100 milliseconds;
 - Not subject to data caps, surcharges, or usage-based throttling, and is subject only to the same acceptable use policies to which subscribers to all other broadband internet access service plans offered to home subscribers by the participating subgrantee must adhere; and
 - Service installed within 10 calendar days of request for service once the network is operational.

Eligibility for Using Subgrantee Requirements

 Allows the end user to apply the Affordable Connectivity Program benefit and Lifeline subsidy to the service price. Inform prospective consumers of the existence of the ACP and Lifeline program benefits and how to enroll and apply for the subsidies.

Ability to Upgrade

 In the event the provider later offers a low-cost plan with higher speeds downstream and/or upstream, permit eligible subscribers that are subscribed to a low-cost broadband service option to upgrade to the new low-cost offering at no cost.

2.12.2 Certification for Subgrantee Participation in ACP

Certify that all subgrantees will be required to participate in the Affordable Connectivity Program or any successor program.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office confirms its commitment to follow BEAD Program requirements about mandatory subgrantee participation in the Affordable Connectivity Program or any future programs. Under the BEAD Program, all subgrantees are required to participate in the Affordable Connectivity Program or any future programs, allowing eligible subscribers to apply for the subsidy to the proposed service option.

2.13 Middle-Class Affordability Plans (Requirement 20)

2.13.1 Plan for Middle-Class Affordability of High-Quality Broadband

Describe a middle-class affordability plan that details how high-quality broadband services will be made available to all middle-class families in the BEAD-funded network's service area at reasonable prices. This response must clearly provide a reasonable explanation of how high-quality broadband services will be made available to all middle-class families in the BEAD-funded network's service area at reasonable prices.

Middle-class Affordable Service Option

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office defines a middle-class affordable service option that meets, at a minimum, the following criteria:

- For priority projects, the service must consistently and reliably provide high speeds of at least 1 Gpbs symmetrical, with typical latency measurements of no more than 100 milliseconds.
- For non-priority projects, the service must consistently and reliably provide high download speeds of at least 100 Mbps and upload speeds of at least 20 Mbps, with typical latency measurements of no more than 100 milliseconds.
- The service should not have data caps, surcharges, or usage-based throttling restrictions, and the same acceptable use policies applicable to other broadband internet access service plans offered to home subscribers must apply.
- If a provider later offers a new middle-class affordable option plan with higher speeds downstream and/or upstream, eligible subscribers that are subscribed to a middle-class service option can upgrade to the new middle-class affordable offering at no additional cost.
- Broadband consumer labels that outline the introductory rates, speeds, data allowances, and other critical broadband service information should be provided in an understandable format to allow consumers to comparison-shop for broadband services.
- Compliance with Arizona Consumer Protection Act (A.R.S. § 44-1521-25) and all other applicable state and federal laws is mandatory.

Subgrantee Requirements

The State Broadband Office will require all subgrantees utilizing funds to deploy broadband infrastructure must provide a middle-class service option over the useful life of the network assets. Subgrantees must inform prospective customers of this option by making the plan information publicly available and easily accessible. While the State Broadband Office encourages the provision of the middle-class service option to all eligible prospective customers across the subgrantee's service territory, it is mandatory for this service option to be available at locations within the awarded project areas under the BEAD Program. The key affordability challenge in Arizona, therefore, is to increase participation rates in the ACP and Lifeline program to make broadband affordable to all Arizonans.
Affordability Pricing Standard

The State Broadband Office reviewed the FCC defined benchmark of 2 percent of monthly household disposable income¹², Pew Charitable Trusts (Pew) affordability data by geographic region¹³ and BroadbandNow research¹⁴ that provides broadband pricing data from various sources. The average monthly internet bill in Arizona is about \$76.23¹⁵ inclusive of taxes, fees and charges.

Based on this review, the State Broadband Office proposes the affordability pricing standard at approximately 1 percent of median household income (\$73,450 in 2022¹⁶) in the state for the priority projects and less than 1 percent of median household income for the non-priority projects.

- Total package costs of \$75 per month or less, inclusive of all taxes, fees, and charges for 1 Gbps symmetrical service for priority projects; and
- Total package costs of \$55 per month or less, inclusive of all taxes, fees, and charges for 100/20 Mbps service for non-priority projects.

Affordability Scoring Criteria

The State Broadband Office will leverage the scoring rubric to incentivize proposals that meet or exceed the affordability pricing standard for middle-class affordable service option. Proposals for middle-class plans with pricing less than the standard will score the most points according to the tables below and provide varying point values associated with pricing and service location. No points will be awarded for middle-class affordable service options priced above the state's monthly affordability standard.

Scoring	Priority Projects Points	
>\$75.00	0	
\$75.00	50	
\$65.00 - \$74.99	65	
\$55.00 - \$64.99	80	

Table 19: Middle-Class Broadband Plan Scoring Criteria for Priority Projects

Additionally, applicants that provide a marketing plan as part of their application that incorporates mechanisms to improve knowledge of the availability of the low-cost broadband service option and to raise awareness of subsidy programs such as ACP will receive up to 10 points.

¹² <u>https://docs.fcc.gov/public/attachments/FCC-16-38A1.pdf</u>

¹³ https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/articles/2023/08/30/is-broadband-affordable-for-middle-class-families

¹⁴ https://broadbandnow.com/research/data

¹⁵ <u>https://www.americantv.com/how-much-is-internet-per-month-in-arizona.php</u>

¹⁶ Median household income Arizona U.S. 2022 | Statista



Table 20: Middle-Class Broadband Plan Scoring Criteria for Non-Priority Projects

Scoring	Non-Priority Projects Points	
>\$55.00	0	
\$55.00	50	
\$45.00 - \$54.99	65	
\$35.00 - \$44.99	80	

Additionally, applicants that provide a marketing plan as part of their application that incorporates mechanisms to improve knowledge of the availability of the low-cost broadband service option and to raise awareness of subsidy programs such as ACP will receive up to 10 points.

Monitoring Affordability

The pricing commitments in proposals of subgrantees will be incorporated as binding commitments in the BEAD subgrantee agreement. The State Broadband Office will continue to monitor pricing offered by the subgrantees for compliance with the requirements outlined in this section. In the event a subgrantee is found non-compliant, the subgrantee will be subject to claw back provisions with prolonged non-compliance will lead to subgrantee default.

2.14 Use of 20 Percent of Funding (Requirement 17)

2.14.1 Planned Use of 20 Percent of Funding

Describe the Eligible Entity's planned use of any funds being requested, which must address the following:

a. If the Eligible Entity does not wish to request funds during the Initial Proposal round, it must indicate no funding requested and provide the rationale for not requesting funds.

Not Applicable.

b. If the Eligible Entity is requesting less than or equal to 20 percent of funding allocation during the Initial Proposal round, it must detail the amount of funding requested for use upon approval of the Initial Proposal, the intended use of funds, and how the proposed use of funds achieves the statutory objective of serving all unserved and underserved locations.

Not Applicable.

c. If the Eligible Entity is requesting more than 20 percent (up to 100 percent) of funding allocation during the Initial Proposal round, it must detail the amount of funding requested for use upon approval of the Initial Proposal, the intended use of funds, how the proposed use of funds achieves the statutory objective of serving all unserved and underserved locations, and provide rationale for requesting funds greater than 20 percent of the funding allocation.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office requests 100 percent of Arizona's BEAD fund allocation of \$993,112,231.37. The State Broadband Office is planning to apply the BEAD funding for deployment activities, administrative costs, and programmatic expenses. We intend to perform a BEAD compliant subgrantee selection process, as stated in Section 2.4, which will guide the deployment activities for utilizing the BEAD funding.

Table 21: BEAD Deployment Budget

#	Category	Budget Allocation	Budget Percentage
1	Deployment Costs	[\$943,456,619.80]	[95.00%]
2	Programmatic Expenses	[\$29,793,366.94]	[3.00%]
3	Administrative Expenses	[\$19,862,244.63]	[2.00%]
4	Non-Deployment Expenses	[\$0.00]	[0.00%]

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office believes that it is in the best interest of Arizonans to have immediate access to the full allocation as it will provide greater certainty for potential subgrantees. By having access to the full allocation of funds, cost savings can be achieved by avoiding delays and providing for implementation of broadband infrastructure projects. This is particularly important in closing the digital divide in Arizona. Therefore, the State Broadband Office is requesting the full allocation, as it will enable the state to deliver on BEAD's statutory objectives while ensuring the successful deployment of broadband infrastructure projects in an efficient and timely manner.

Deployment Cost

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is seeking an allocation of [95 percent] of the total BEAD funds to support implementation and deployment activities, in accordance with the NTIA guidance for "Eligible Entity Deployment Activities". Examples of activities that will be supported by the deployment cost allocation include the following:

- Construction and deployment of broadband infrastructure projects in unserved areas, underserved areas, and eligible CAIs identified in the project areas.
- Design, engineering, and installation of equipment and systems needed to deliver broadband services in the identified unserved and underserved areas.
- Conducting environmental and historical preservation compliance reviews for the broadband infrastructure projects.
- Conducting feasibility studies to determine the cost and effectiveness of deploying broadband infrastructure projects in the identified unserved and underserved areas.
- Monitoring progress and ensuring compliance with all applicable state and federal regulations.
- Performing testing and acceptance of broadband infrastructure projects.
- Project management and supervision of broadband infrastructure project construction.
- Integrating broadband networks into existing systems.

The State Broadband Office believes that this allocation is necessary to ensure efficient implementation and deployment of broadband infrastructure projects, enabling the state to accomplish the objectives of the BEAD Program.

Programmatic Expenses

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office is seeking an allocation of [3 percent] of the total BEAD funds to support programmatic activities. Examples of activities that will be supported by the programmatic expenses include the following:

- Development, management, and implementation of the subgrantee selection process, including pre-registration, selection, challenge, rebuttal, and adjudicative processes.
- Deduplication procedures (pre- and post-challenge process).
- Development and refinement of cost models for the Extremely High Cost (EHC) threshold and BEAD minimal outlay calculations.
- Grant development, administration, management, reporting, monitoring, and compliance specific to BEAD funds.
- Monitoring subgrantee performance through grant agreements and enforceable commitments.
- Local coordination focused on infrastructure planning with local, regional, and Sovereign Tribal Nation entities.

- Data collection to support mapping, analysis, and program development.
- Mapping including funding areas, public-facing maps, and dashboards.
- Efficient disbursement of funds and fiscal management processes.

Administrative Expenses

The State Broadband Office recognizes that accomplishing the objectives of the BEAD Program will require significant administrative resources to achieve universal broadband coverage in Arizona. As such, we are requesting [2 percent] to support additional administrative resources to ensure the successful implementation of the BEAD Program. Additional administrative resources are needed to process, evaluate, and accomplish the rigorous timelines of the BEAD Program. These administrative resources will comprise the Arizona Commerce Authority employees and third-party personnel required to supervise and oversee the selection process, deployment, and reporting of subgrantee awards through the following activities:

- Staffing requirements
- Project management and administration
- Reporting necessities and coordination with other federal, state, and local programs.
- Agency coordination
- Procurement and management of third-party resources
- Travel necessary for BEAD activities
- Implementation and monitoring of enforceable commitment agreements for pre-BEAD grant awards to support deduplication.

2.14.2 Initial Proposal Funding Request

Enter the amount of the Initial Proposal Funding Request. If not requesting initial funds, enter '\$0.00.'

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office requests 100 percent of Arizona's BEAD fund allocation of \$993,112,231.37.

2.14.3 Certification to Adherence of BEAD Requirements

Certify that the Eligible Entity will adhere to BEAD Program requirements regarding Initial Proposal funds usage. If the Eligible Entity is not requesting funds in the Initial Proposal round and will not submit the Initial Funding Request, note "Not applicable."

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office certifies that it will adhere to BEAD Program requirements regarding Initial Proposal funds usage.

2.15 Eligible Entity Regulatory Approach (Requirement 18)

2.15.1 Waiver of Laws for Eligible Entities

- a. Disclose whether the Eligible Entity will waive all laws of the Eligible Entity concerning broadband, utility services, or similar subjects, whether they predate or postdate enactment of the Infrastructure Act that either (a) preclude certain public sector providers from participation in the subgrant competition or (b) impose specific requirements on public sector entities, such as limitations on the sources of financing, the required imputation of costs not actually incurred by the public sector entity, or restrictions on the service a public sector entity can offer.
- b. If the Eligible Entity will not waive all such laws for BEAD Program project selection purposes, identify those that it will not waive (using the Excel attachment) and their date of enactment and describe how they will be applied in connection with the competition for subgrants. If there are no applicable laws, note such.

The Arizona Commerce Authority states, to best of its knowledge, that there are no known laws in the State of Arizona regarding broadband, utility services, or related topics that have been enacted before or after the Infrastructure Act's enactment, which: (a) prevent certain public-sector providers from entering the subgrant competition, or (b) put particular criteria on public-sector organizations, including restrictions on sources of financing, the obligatory imputation of expenditures that are not effectively sustained by the public-sector organization, or limits on the kind of service that a public-sector organization can give.

The State Broadband Office will monitor the Arizona state legislature for legislation related to broadband service and government-owned networks on a regular basis through the program deployment period.

2.15.1.1 Supporting Documentation for Applicable Laws

Optional Attachment: As a required attachment only if the Eligible Entity will not waive laws for BEAD Program project selection purposes, provide a list of the laws that the Eligible Entity will not waive for BEAD Program project selection purposes, using the Eligible Entity Regulatory Approach template provided

Note Applicable.

2.16 Certification of Compliance with BEAD Requirements (Requirement 19)

2.16.1 Certification for Intent to Comply with BEAD Program

Certify the Eligible Entity's intent to comply with all applicable requirements of the BEAD Program, including the reporting requirements.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office certifies that it intends to comply with all applicable requirements of the BEAD Program, including the reporting requirements.

2.16.2 Certification for Intent to Comply with BEAD Program

Describe subgrantee accountability procedures, including how the Eligible Entity will, at a minimum, employ the following practices outlined on page 51 of the BEAD NOFO:

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office has significant experience in designing and managing grant programs and related subgrantee accountability procedures.

a. Distribution of funding to subgrantees for, at a minimum, all deployment projects on a reimbursable basis (which would allow the Eligible Entity to withhold funds if the subgrantee fails to take the actions the funds are meant to subsidize);

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will distribute project funding to subgrantees on a reimbursable basis; however, fixed cost awards to allow subgrantee the option to benefit from proposed waivers will be reviewed and a final determination will be made prior to the Initial Proposal submission to NTIA. The cost reimbursement method will enable the State Broadband Office to withhold funds if a subgrantee fails to adhere to the program's requirements and BEAD subgrantee agreement. Before processing any payment reimbursement requests, the subgrantee's reported progress, such as the number of connected locations based on predefined metrics, will be verified. The final payment will only be provided after verifying 100 percent deployment of eligible locations within the project deployment timeline defined in the BEAD subgrantee grant agreement. The project team will conduct financial and programmatic progress evaluations, identifying any discrepancies and recommending corrective measures to ensure subgrantees comply with program requirements.

b. The inclusion of clawback provisions (i.e., provisions allowing recoupment of funds previously disbursed) in agreements between the Eligible Entity and any subgrantee;

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will implement clawback provisions in all BEAD subgrantee agreements to recover distributed funds if subgrantees fail to comply with Section 60102 of the Infrastructure Act or the BEAD NOFO requirements. The clawback provisions will cover circumstances such as sub non-compliance, not meeting predefined performance metrics in the grant agreement, failing to meet statutory obligations, noncompliance with the low-cost broadband service option requirement, not complying with the middle-class broadband service affordability plan, and not fulfilling any binding commitments made as part of the subgrantee agreement.

The BEAD subgrantee agreements will also include cure provisions, step-in rights, and termination rights for the State Broadband Office in case of continued non-performance leading to subrecipient default. These measures will allow the State Broadband Office to intervene if subgrantees fail to meet their obligations and permit the State Broadband Office to take appropriate steps to remedy the situation, including reprogramming the funds, withholding payments, and ending the agreement.

c. Timely subgrantee reporting mandates; and

The State Broadband Office will require periodic financial, progress and compliance reporting from subgrantees to monitor project progress effectively. These reports will include detailed information on project finances, key performance metrics, critical construction and operational milestones, and other compliance reporting. Some examples of the subgrantee reporting requirements are:

- Financial statements of the subrecipient on a periodic basis;
- Location identifications (including the Broadband Serviceable Location Fabric established under 47 U.S.C. 642(b)(1)(B)) that constitute the service locations that will be served by the broadband infrastructure to be constructed and the status of each project;
- New locations served within each project area at the relevant reporting intervals, and service taken (if applicable);
- Category of location such as residential, commercial, or a community anchor institution;
- Types and locations of facilities that have been constructed and installed;
- Peak and off-peak actual speeds of the broadband service being offered;
- Maximum advertised speed of the broadband service being offered;
- Pricing including non-promotional prices, including any associated fees, charged for different tiers of broadband service being offered;
- All interconnection agreements that were requested, and their current status;
- Network information in appropriate formats required for asset mapping
- Reporting of the number and amount of contracts and subcontracts awarded by the subgrantee disaggregated by recipients of each such contract or subcontracts that are MBEs or WBEs;
- Evidence of payment of prevailing wages including certified payroll records; and
- Comply with any other reasonable reporting requirements determined by the State Broadband Office to meet the reporting requirements and certify that the information in the report is accurate.

To provide the State Broadband Office with transparency into the project and programmatic performance, reporting mandates will be included as part of the BEAD subgrantee

agreements. These reports will enable the State Broadband Office to track funding usage and monitor the progress of subgrantee projects against pre-defined metrics. Leveraging programmatic dashboarding, the State Broadband Office will track summarized information and data, making it easier to track and report project and programmatic performance. By implementing these reporting mandates and a dashboarding system, the State Broadband Office will gain a clear view of how projects are advancing, use the data to inform decision-making, and ensure compliance with the BEAD subgrantee agreements.

d. Robust subgrantee monitoring practices.

The State Broadband Office has developed a comprehensive monitoring process that includes several key activities aimed at ensuring subgrantees comply with all applicable program requirements. These key activities under the monitoring plan include:

- **Develop guidelines, checklists, and training for subgrantees**: Develop detailed guidelines on program administration, requirements of subgrantee and required reporting throughout the project lifecycle; provided onboarding training and checklists to inform and track subgrantee performance and compliance
- **Technical assistance**: Provide technical assistance to subgrantees on federal and state grant compliance, engineering and network feasibility, financial feasibility, and technical troubleshooting.
- Upfront and on-going risk assessments:
 - Financial solvency review Perform a comprehensive financial solvency assessment of the prospective applicants both upfront and periodically to assess the potential risk level of the applicant; To that end, all prospective applicants will be required to submit a questionnaire and audited financial statements upfront and periodically. The review process will be documented and scored to establish the level of risk for the applicant.
 - **Project financial review** Periodically financial assessment of the project will be conducted to track performance and compliance.
 - Risk based monitoring regime Continued risk assessments will be used to determine the frequency and scope of subgrantee monitoring. Subgrantees will be categorized by low, medium, and high risk, and the monitoring and compliance strategy will be adjusted accordingly. Additional monitoring procedures may comprise desk reviews of staffing changes, evaluating new policies and procedures, technical on-site visits to confirm project completion and evaluate progress.
- **Payment processing** Develop the necessary forms, processes, procedures and submission requirements related to reimbursement requests submitted by subrecipients to help ensure compliance with program requirements including the following key activities:
 - Review of eligible expenses All reimbursement requests will undergo a detailed review of eligibility under the program requirements and the BEAD subgrantee agreement.

- Review of supporting documentation Subrecipients will be required to provide proper documentation, evidence, and vendor invoices to support reimbursement of relevant project eligible costs expenses.
- Funding match monitoring Reimbursement requests submitted by subrecipients will be verified to ensure that the funding match requirements per the subgrantee applications and the BEAD subgrantee agreements are satisfied.
- Ongoing project monitoring and project close-out process:
 - Hold subgrantees accountable for reporting and providing all documentation related to project performance and financial obligations are furnished in a timely manner.
 - As part of the project closeout phase, the State Broadband Office will verify that the final invoice is marked "final" and audit all technical / financial reports to ensure that the subrecipient delivered all project deliverables and fulfilled project obligations. All necessary documentation will be preserved in agreement with record retention requirements.
 - Continue to monitor both project and programmatic performance and verify that proper closeout procedures are adhered to.

2.16.3 Certification for Subgrantee Civil Rights and Non-Discrimination

Certify that the Eligible Entity will account for and satisfy authorities relating to civil rights and nondiscrimination in the selection of subgrantees.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office certifies that it will account for and satisfy authorities relating to civil rights and nondiscrimination in the selection of subgrantees. The State Broadband Office intends to include in subgrantee contracts language certifying intent to comply with applicable statutes and regulations prohibiting discrimination as defined in the BEAD NOFO:

- 1. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.), and the Department of Commerce's implementing regulations, 15 CFR Part 8, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin under programs or activities receiving federal financial assistance.
- 2. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. 794), and Department of Commerce implementing regulations published at 15 C.F.R. Part 8b, which prohibit discrimination based on handicap under any program or activity receiving or benefiting from federal assistance.
- **3.** Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1990 (20 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq.) which prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex under federally assisted education programs or activities.
- 4. The Age Discrimination Act of 1990, as amended (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.), and Department of Commerce implementing regulations at 15 CFR Part 20, prohibits discrimination on the basis of age in programs or activities receiving federal financial assistance.
- 5. Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.), prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability under programs, activities, and services

provided or made available by state and local governments or instrumentalities or agencies thereto.

6. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e., which provides that it is an unlawful employment practice for an employer to discharge any individual or otherwise to discriminate against an individual with respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. Note in this regard that Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-1(a), expressly exempts from the prohibition against discrimination based on religion "a religious corporation, association, educational institution, or society with respect to the employment of individuals of a particular religion to perform work connected with the carrying on by such corporation, association, educational institution, or society of its activities."

2.16.4 Certification for Management of Cybersecurity and Supply Chain Risk

Certify that the Eligible Entity will ensure subgrantee compliance with the cybersecurity and supply chain risk management requirements on pages 70 - 71 of the BEAD NOFO to require prospective subgrantees to attest that:

Cybersecurity

- The prospective subgrantee has a cybersecurity risk management plan (the plan) in place that is either:

 (a) operational, if the prospective subgrantee is providing service prior to the award of the grant; or (b) ready to be operationalized upon providing service, if the prospective subgrantee is not yet providing service prior to the grant award;
- 2. The plan reflects the latest version of the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Framework for Improving Critical Infrastructure Cybersecurity (currently Version 1.1) and the standards and controls set forth in Executive Order 14028 and specifies the security and privacy controls being implemented;
- 3. The plan will be reevaluated and updated on a periodic basis and as events warrant; and
- 4. The plan will be submitted to the Eligible Entity prior to the allocation of funds. If the subgrantee makes any substantive changes to the plan, a new version will be submitted to the Eligible Entity within 30 days.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will mandate that subgrantees certify their compliance with cybersecurity and supply chain risk management requirements. Additionally, to comply with this requirement, subgrantees will be required to develop a cybersecurity risk management plan and have it in place before the grant is awarded if they are already providing service to the area. In the case of prospective subgrantees who are not yet providing service, they must demonstrate readiness to operationalize the cybersecurity risk management plan upon providing service after the grant is awarded.

- The cybersecurity risk management plan must be based on the latest available version of the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Framework for Improving Critical Infrastructure Cybersecurity, which is currently Version 1.1.
- The plan must also adhere to the standards and controls outlined in Executive Order 14028 and must specify the particular security and privacy controls being implemented.

- The cybersecurity risk management plan will be subject to periodic reevaluation and updating, as well as changes in response to significant events.
- The subgrantee must submit the plan to the State Broadband Office before receiving funds. In the event of any material modifications to the plan, the subgrantee will submit a new version to the State Broadband Office for review within 30 calendar days.

Supply Chain Risk Management (SCRM)

- 1. The prospective subgrantee has a SCRM plan in place that is either: (a) operational, if the prospective subgrantee is already providing service at the time of the grant; or (b) ready to be operationalized, if the prospective subgrantee is not yet providing service at the time of grant award;
- The plan is based upon the key practices discussed in the NIST publication NISTIR 8276, Key Practices in Cyber Supply Chain Risk Management: Observations from Industry and related SCRM guidance from NIST, including NIST 800-161, Cybersecurity Supply Chain Risk Management Practices for Systems and Organizations and specifies the supply chain risk management controls being implemented;
- 3. The plan will be reevaluated and updated on a periodic basis and as events warrant; and
- 4. The plan will be submitted to the Eligible Entity prior to the allocation of funds. If the subgrantee makes any substantive changes to the plan, a new version will be submitted to the Eligible Entity within 30 days. The Eligible Entity must provide a subgrantee's plan to NTIA upon NTIA's request.

The Arizona Commerce Authority State Broadband Office will mandate that subgrantees develop and submit a Supply Chain Risk Management (SCRM) plan. Similar to the cybersecurity risk management plan, the SCRM plan must already exist if the subgrantee is providing services to the area; otherwise, subgrantees must demonstrate readiness to operationalize the plan upon providing service when the grant is awarded. The Arizona Commerce Authority has developed a strategy for stakeholders who wish to maximize their purchasing power or mitigate delays or access to favorable pricing and services for broadband deployment, by coordinating procurement. This strategy could help identify existing, or recommend new, processes, procedures or entities. This strategy is intended to be provided as a public service, and participation in any subsequent recommendations from the resulting strategy would be entirely voluntary for public and private stakeholders of the State Broadband Office.

The purpose of the SCRM plan is to manage supply chain risks associated with the subgrantee's network infrastructure and equipment. Like the cybersecurity risk management plan, the SCRM plan will be subject to periodic assessments and updates in response to significant events.

The SCRM plans will be:

- Based on the best practices outlined in NIST publication NISTIR 8276, Key Practices in Cyber Supply Chain Risk Management: Observations from Industry. Additionally, the SCRM plan will also reference relevant guidance from NIST, such as NIST 800-161, Cybersecurity Supply Chain Risk Management Practices for Systems and Organizations and will specify the supply chain risk management controls being implemented.
- Subject to periodic evaluation and updating as needed for supply chain risk management purposes and appropriately revised in response to significant events.

• Submitted to the State Broadband Office before receiving funds. If changes are made to the plan, subgrantees must submit a new version to the State Broadband Office within 30 calendar days.

In accordance with the BEAD Initial Proposal Volume II guidance, any subgrantee that relies in whole or in part on network facilities owned or operated by a third party (e.g., purchases wholesale carriage on such facilities), must obtain cybersecurity and supply chain risk management processes and procedures from that network provider and provide the results in their application.

Failure to comply with any of the reporting requirements, monitoring requirements, civil rights requirements, cybersecurity, supply chain management, or any other requirements set by the NTIA or the State Broadband Office may result in penalties in accordance with 2 C.F.R. 200.339 such as:

- Imposition of additional award conditions
- Payment suspension
- Award suspension
- Grant termination
- Recoupment of funds
- Potential debarment of organizations and/or personnel

2.17 Volume II Public Comment

2.17.1 Public Comment Period Process

Describe the public comment period and provide a high-level summary of the comments received during the Volume II public comment period and how they were addressed by the Eligible Entity. The response must demonstrate:

- c. The public comment period was no less than 30 days; and
- d. Outreach and engagement activities were conducted to encourage feedback during the public comment period.

TBD

2.17.2 Supplemental Materials to the Volume II Submission

Optional Attachment: As an optional attachment, submit supplemental materials to the Volume II submission and provide references to the relevant requirements. Note that only content submitted via text boxes, certifications, and file uploads in sections aligned to Initial Proposal requirements in the NTIA Grants Portal will be reviewed, and supplemental materials submitted here are for reference only.

TBD

